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As the integrated one-stop LED energy management
services provider, we are committed to providing
reliable, efficient and energy-saving LED backlights, LED
lighting products as well as comprehensive lighting energy
management solutions for sizeable business corporations and
public utilities
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CORPORATE PROFILE
NG M)y

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (“Wai Chi Holdings” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to
as the “Group”) was established in Hong Kong over 30 years ago.
The Group is one of China’s top manufacturers of high-quality Light-
Emitting Diode (“LED”) backlight and LED lighting products, with
its operations covering research and development (“R&D”), design,
manufacturing, sales, etc. It was recognised as the world’s largest
manufacturer of LED backlights for automobile onboard displays,
in terms of product shipment. It also offers comprehensive lighting
energy management solutions for sizeable business corporations
and public utilities. The Group recently expanded its business into
sourcing semiconductor memory chips to capture the growing
demand and help facilitate the development of the industry.

Since its listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 18 November 2014 (stock
code: 1305), the Group has been dedicated to upgrading its brand
value and becoming one of the leading producers in China’s high-end
LED backlights and lighting products.

Throughout the years, the Group has been monitoring the industry
trends closely and innovating technologies actively, achieving
significant R&D results. The Group has successfully developed over
1,000 new LED backlight products and over 100 new LED lighting
products in Hong Kong, China, Taiwan and Japan, among which
over 200 patents were registered in the PRC.

The Group has comprehensive production facilities in Shenzhen and
Huizhou in the Guangdong province. The Group’s products can be
categorized into 2 main groups under LED backlight products and
LED lighting business. LED backlight products are classified into
3 types, including: (1) automobile on-board displays; (2) television
displays; and (3) other industrial equipment displays. LED lighting
business is divided into 2 types, including commercial lighting and
public lighting.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LTFEH

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chen Chung Po
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

6th Floor, Liven House
63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
17th Floor, Windsor House
311 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Guantao & Chow (as to Hong Kong law)

STOCK CODE
01305

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.waichiholdings.com
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

CTBC Bank Co., Ltd

Hong Kong Branch

28th Floor, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

Citibank NL.A.

3 Garden Road
Central

Hong Kong

Cayman Islands principal share registrar and
transfer office

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17th Floor

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREE

\/\/e uphold pragmatic and
prudent business management,
emphasise the flexible use of resources,
and always be at our optimal condition

to respond to market changes and
explore opportunities

ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@&/\ SRMEZEEE R

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”), its
subsidiaries, and the board of directors of the Company (“Directors”
or the “Board”), | am pleased to present the audited annual results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

The LED industry has continued to evolve dynamically in 2024,
propelled by advancements in artificial intelligence (“Al”) and the
increasing demand for high-performance display solutions. The global
automotive sector remained a major driver, with electric vehicle (“EV”)
adoption accelerating due to policy incentives and shifting consumer
preferences towards sustainable transportation. This surge in demand
has led to a notable increase in automotive display panel shipments,
reaching approximately 1,100 million units in the first half of 2024,
reflecting an 11% year-over-year growth, according to industry
reports from Sigmaintell.
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As car manufacturers continue to prioritise cutting-edge technology,
LED displays are becoming integral to enhancing in-car experiences.
High-resolution heads-up displays (HUDs) and digital rearview mirrors
are now standard in modern vehicles, while ceiling-mounted screens
help to create the premium back-seat passenger experience. This
transformation has spurred a robust expansion in the LED display
industry, both in sales volume and technological advancements.
Mini LED technology, in particular, has gained significant traction as
cost-effectiveness improves. Companies such as Xiaomi and Hongai
have integrated Mini LED backlight displays into their high-end
vehicle models, highlighting the growing adoption of this technology.
Simultaneously, major panel manufacturers, including BOE and TCL,
have increased investments in Mini LED, recognising its potential in
automotive displays.

Despite the industry’s growth, several challenges remain. Competition
has intensified, leading to margin pressures for manufacturers. Global
economic fluctuations and tariffs have added uncertainty, affecting
international trade and supply chain stability. Additionally, the volatility
in raw material prices and rising labour costs have introduced
complexities in operational planning. To maintain a competitive edge
and sustain profitability, industry players must remain agile and focus
on innovation.

2024 Annual Report | £ #

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®E

BEERBERIEEFEEL T 8K W
LEDBE TR EZR K AIRAENER T K
RE)—IR - mD PRI FE 28 (HUD) & B
BRBEENEKNABRRAENZERE - M
BEHBEXRBNEDREEEENRERE
BR - cREEEH DB RITEREEN
i 3 25 75 T /9 58 SO o L H Z Mini LED
BT BEEXARGENIES  DESEZED
- NARRAEEAFE #EMn LEDE X
BETRBEAZEmWmER  REBZENN
JEFBZE N B FAER  REHKTCLE
FEMREE R NI KE Mini LEDK IR & -
RUEEREERTIEN -

BETERAMER BNEFES THE -
FME - BREEMEENEES - 2K
BRBEBERENTHEEE  FERRES
KRN E < tboh - R BHER KB
RBEBHRA LT REEREHREMIE -
RRBBEFEZRFERNEE

FBARTEE ML BTN AIH -

SE L -




CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Amid these challenges, China continues to reinforce its dominant
position in the automotive display supply chain. With advanced
production capabilities and cost efficiencies, the country remains an
indispensable player in the global automotive module industry. As
manufacturers push for more immersive and high-performance vehicle
displays, the market is expected to expand further. Companies that
successfully navigate near-term obstacles will be well-positioned to
capitalise on long-term growth opportunities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Against this backdrop, the Group achieved remarkable growth
in 2024. Our total revenue increased by approximately 19.5% to
approximately HK$2,372,277,000, compared to approximately
HK$1,985,768,000 in 2023. The Group’s LED backlighting business
continued to thrive, recording a 18.2% increase in revenue to
approximately HK$1,958,443,000. Automotive backlight sales, our
primary growth driver, surged by approximately 22.6%, reinforcing
our market leadership position as the top supplier in this category.

Despite market challenges, our stringent cost-control measures and
improved production efficiencies allowed us to maintain a steady
gross profit margin of 14.6%. Gross profit from LED backlight and
LED lighting products reached to approximately HK$337,516,000,
reflecting a 27.9% year-over-year increase. The gross profit margin
from our core business lines reached 16.2%.

The LED lighting segment, however, experienced a mild sales
increase of 4.4% to approximately HK$125,757,000. This increase
was primarily resulting from the revenue from lighting initiatives within
the public school system of the PRC.

While the semiconductor memory chip business recorded a 37.9%
revenue increase to approximately HK$288,077,000, it ultimately
reported a loss due to challenging market conditions and price
pressures. As a non-core segment, the Group will continue to monitor
its performance while maintaining a strategic focus on backlighting
and lighting lines, which are the foundation of our long-term growth
strategy.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about the
development of the LED industry. The global economic environment
may remain volatile in the short term, with challenges such as
inflationary pressures, supply chain disruptions, and trade policy
shifts. However, the long-term demand for LED backlighting and
automotive display solutions remains strong.

The automotive industry is moving towards a more streamlined
and modular future, with increased industry consolidation in display
manufacturing. While this presents challenges, it also creates
opportunities for well-established companies with strong brand
recognition. Long-term success will require scaling up operations
to remain competitive. The Group continuously reviews its strategic
direction to reinforce its competitiveness and resilience, positioning
itself for substantial future achievements, further strengthening its
position as the world’s leading automotive backlight supplier.

To solidify our competitive edge, we plan to expand our production
capacity to accommodate growing order volumes, as our current
facilities are reaching full utilisation. In addition, we aim to enhance
our value-added services by extending our production line, enabling
us to offer more comprehensive solutions to our clients.

Furthermore, cost control remains a key focus. The Group is
actively exploring possibilities of strategic investments in die-casting
resources to optimise production costs and improve overall efficiency.
This initiative will allow us to manage core material expenses more
effectively while ensuring product quality remains at the highest
standard.

The Group’s lighting services segment faced challenges in 2024. As
a result, the commercial lighting business experienced a contraction.
Moving forward, we are reassessing our market strategy to better
align with industry trends. The Group will continue its international
expansion strategy, exploring opportunities for branded operations in
Europe while also seeking collaborations with leading home appliance
brands in China to drive new growth.

2024 Annual Report | F 3§
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ERHE

Despite near-term industry fluctuations, we are confident in our ability BERHATEHBRES BRMEELE
to navigate market challenges and capture new growth opportunities. BENEEMISE  IDIEFAIERES - R
With a strong commitment to innovation, operational excellence, FEHBIRT - = E SR B 9 OR B BR TE A
and strategic expansion, we believe that Wai Chi Holdings is well- o RPIEEEEERDE®GRE £
positioned for sustained success in the evolving LED landscape. BEHLEDAR B R ARSI

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere gratitude AANERREFS  ROBHSABRR %
to our shareholders, business partners, and employees for their BEARBEINS NI HHEEER - EHRME
unwavering support and dedication. As we embark on another EX—BARBFEN—F 2B RPDARE
promising year, we remain steadfast in our mission to drive ETBHEBREMNED  HBaRFEER
sustainable growth and create long-term value for all stakeholders. RTEROHEBIERAEE-

Mr. Chen Chung Po PREEE o

Executive Director and Chairman HITEERLE

31 March 2025 202593 A31H

1 0 Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | {252 RER A F



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEZWLE S

INDUSTRY REVIEW

The global LED backlight market continued its steady expansion in
2024, driven by increasing adoption across a range of applications,
including televisions, IT equipment, and automotive displays. As
an upstream supplier of LED backlight products, the Group’s
performance is closely tied to trends in these industries, where
evolving consumer preferences and technological advancements are
shaping market demand.

In recent years, the Group has placed significant emphasis on LED
backlight panels for cars, especially new energy vehicles (NEVs),
making this sector particularly relevant to its business. The NEV
industry has not only garnered significant consumer interest in the
domestic market but has also become a symbol of China’s presence
in the international trade arena. According to China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers (‘4 Bl /58 T 2 1% € "), the penetration
rate of NEVs reached 40.9% in 2024, a year-on-year increase of 9.3
percentage points. Furthermore, NEVs have become a cornerstone
of China’s exports, with a total of 5.859 million units exported in
2024, marking a substantial 19.3% year-on-year increase. As total
production and sales of NEVs in China surpassed 12.8 million units,
demand for automotive LED backlight panels remained robust.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLE S Hh

Within the automotive sector, demand for high-quality displays has
grown as manufacturers integrate advanced smart cockpit technology
into their vehicles. Modern smart cockpits, equipped with Al-powered
interfaces, interactive control systems, and seamless connectivity,
have redefined in-vehicle experiences. Companies such as Huawei,
Geely, NIO, Li Auto, and Changan have introduced their own
proprietary cockpit solutions, accelerating the adoption of large, high-
resolution displays. This push for digitalisation and enhanced human-
machine interaction has led to a notable upsurge in the demand for
larger screens, creating new growth opportunities for LED backlight
manufacturers.

However, the industry is not without challenges. Intensifying
competition among NEV manufacturers has led to continuous
price reductions, squeezing profit margins across the supply chain.
Component suppliers face increasing pressure to reduce costs
while maintaining high-quality production standards. Despite these
obstacles, the Group’s strong market position and economies of
scale allow it to remain resilient, securing stable order volumes
while reinforcing its competitive edge. As the industry evolves,
display technologies are becoming more modular and standardised,
making large-scale manufacturing an increasingly crucial success
factor. Companies that can balance innovation with cost efficiency
will be best positioned to thrive in this dynamic environment. In the
semiconductor industry, in which the Group is also involved, overall
profit margins have been under pressure due to high inventory levels
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and intense competition, despite strong global demand throughout
2024. Global trade tensions and unfavourable currency fluctuations
have further compounded challenges for market players. According to
Wind Information's analysis of the annual results of 82 semiconductor
companies listed on the A-share market, 46 reported losses over
the past year. Additionally, SEMI forecasts a slight decline of 2.5% in
global semiconductor silicon wafer shipments in 2024 compared to
the previous year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system implemented
by the Group continues to contribute to its cost control through
timely monitoring of its operation process to promote information
exchange between functions, storing and managing operational data.
[t has enhanced financial and work efficiency with a higher level of
automation during the manufacturing process. The Group is also
exploring vendor-managed inventory systems to facilitate smooth
transactions with its customers and further improve its operating
system.

The total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$2,372,277,000, representing an increase of 19.5%
compared to approximately HK$1,985,768,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023. Considering the core business segments, being
LED backlight and LED lighting products, the Group’s core revenue
was approximately HK$2,084,200,000 representing an increase of
17.3% as compared to approximately HK$1,776,801,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Revenue from the sales of LED backlight
products was approximately HK$1,958,443,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,656,359,000), representing an increase of 18.2%. Revenue
from the sales of LED lighting products was approximately
HK$125,757,000 (2023: approximately HK$120,442,000),
representing a mild increase of 4.4% resulting from the revenue from
lighting initiatives within the public school system of the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLE S Hh

LED Backlight Business

The Group mainly focuses on the production of three types of LED
backlight products, which are: 1) automobile onboard displays; 2)

LED B R EK
AEETBE TN EE"HEIEDEKED
M NEHRERE QEEBETRR: RIYHE

television displays; and 3) other industrial equipment displays. For the i THREBE R B ZE2024F12 A31H
year ended 31 December 2024, revenue derived from LED backlight IEFE IEDEXERTREEHBE RS
products in automobile onboard displays, television displays and ERETHENTERBEBRRSHA D FIL

industrial equipment displays were approximately HK$1,827,836,000,
HK$28,030,000 and HK$102,577,000, respectively.

Under a booming demand, backlights for automobile onboard displays
have been the core growth driver of the Group, recording a 22.6%
increase in sales for the year ended 31 December 2024, following
continuous and rapid expansion in the past few years. It continued to
be the largest contributor to the Group’s LED backlight business during
the year under review, representing approximately 93.3% of total LED
backlight product sales (2023: approximately 90.0%).

The demand for LED backlights for television saw a slight increase in
2024. As a result, the Group’s LED backlight for television displays
recorded a 13.2% increase in sales, amounting to approximately
HK$28,030,000 (2023: approximately HK$24,759,000). Equipment
display backlight products recorded a decrease of 26.8% in revenue
from HK$140,193,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
HK$102,577,000 for the year under review.

LED Backlight Revenue Breakdown

#1,827,836,000,% JT * 28,030,000 % 7t &
102,577,000 7T °

FHEBEMERT BHEREEX—EEAN
EENZLERES N RBEYHFHERR
Wik B E2024F 12 A31 B I FE &
ERERB2%NMIER HRNOBEFEESE
ABAEBENIEDE X EBKIELZANER (&
LED & 3t = $5 5 A8 88 49 93.3% (2023 F : 49
90.0%) °

R2024F - BARLEDE ) B SKE R L FF -
Eit AEBERBERBLEDE KW HE
FEIE IN13.2% © %7 /A& 28,030,0007% JT (2023
F 1 #924,759,000870) - REFERE B K
EmHOWAHREE2023F12A31H IEFE
#140,193,000 % T > 26.8% % [B] B8 F [Z /)
102,577,000 7T °

for the year ended 31 December

LED & St Ut A BA 4R HZEZ12A31HLEE
2024 2023
2024 £fF 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 %
THExT FHET %
Automobile Displays BEH AR 1,827,836 93.3 1,491,407 90.0
Televisions Ep) 28,030 1.4 24,759 1.5
Equipment Displays RN 102,577 5.3 140,193 8.5
1,958,443 100.0 1,656,359 100.0
Lighting Service Business RIARE X

The Group’s LED lighting business is classified into two categories,
namely public lighting and commercial lighting. The Group
provides various services including products, lighting solutions
design, installation, and maintenance etc. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the total revenue from lighting services
amounted to approximately HK$125,757,000 (2023: approximately
HK$120,442,000).
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Revenues from public and commercial lighting were approximately
HK$25,515,000 and HK$100,242,000, respectively (2023:
approximately HK$1,826,000 and HK$118,616,000). The notable
rise in the public lighting service was largely driven by lighting
initiatives within the public school system of the PRC. Nevertheless,
with the completion of these projects, the Group does not anticipate
a sustained pattern of accelerated expansion in this sector. The
decline in sales within the commercial lighting sector stemmed from a
reduction in orders from the Group’s primary market in Europe.

LED Lighting Revenue Breakdown
LED FREA UR A BA 4R

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLER S Hh

AR K ARARKA D R4 A25515000
T &% 100,242,0008 7T (2023 4F : 49
1,826,00078 7T & 118,616,00078 L) - A AR
AREMNEZERDETEANFTRALER
ABEANRBRPTE T - EEW - BEE
ZEHEEMNTEK  AEEEBLHER TSR
EMRER - BHHARBEESNHEEE IR
AR AREBREONE E BTSRRI DFTE -

for the year ended 31 December

BEZE12H31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 %
T FHETT %
Public Lighting NEECES 25,515 20.3 1,826 1.5
Commercial Lighting 7% FA FE A 100,242 79.7 118,616 98.5
125,757 100.0 120,442 100.0

Semiconductor Memory Chip Business

During the year under review, the revenue generated by the
semiconductor memory chip business amounted to approximately
HK$288,077,000, representing an increase of 37.9% (2023:
approximately HK$208,967,000). Although semiconductor trade has
rebounded during the year under review, the industry-wide elevated
inventory levels and price declines driven by market competition
have squeezed profit margins in the sector. Similar to many other
industry participants, the Group has incurred losses in this segment
despite experiencing revenue growths. In response, a comprehensive
reassessment of the segment’s asset values was conducted.
The semiconductor industry is highly volatile, characterised by
rapid technological advancements and short product life cycles.
Companies within this sector often face heightened risks of customer
defaults, inventory can quickly become obsolete. Following the
reassessment, the Group made additional provision for impairment on
trade receivables and inventory to ensure its financial position remains
accurately represented. Moving forward, due to the competitive
and uncertain nature of the international semiconductor chip trade,
the Group will continue to consider this sector as a non-core
business, utilising its existing facilities and capabilities to generate a
supplementary revenue stream without allocating additional resources
in the near term.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLE S Hh

QUALITY CONTROL

At the Company, a high level of quality control has proven to garner
customer loyalty. The Group has established stringent quality
control procedures to ensure the quality of its products. From the
very beginning of designing a product to each stage throughout the
manufacturing process, until the product is completed and stored,
the Group’s quality control staff ensures excellence in every aspect.
There is a set of established procedures in selecting and approving
new suppliers and raw materials, and thorough testing of product
samples is carried out before mass production of the products. The
Group owns a series of advanced production and testing equipment
for improving quality control.

The Group has been awarded various certifications, including ISO
9001:2008 and ISO 14001:2004 for quality and environmental
management systems, which serve as an important assurance of
product quality and reliability.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

As today’s consumers look for intelligence, diversity, and integration
in many tech-related products, market research is vital to understand
the ever-evolving needs and preferences of customers. Highly
valuing R&D capabilities, the Group has become an agile and sharp
industry player for its efforts in this field. R&D not only keeps the
Group relevant in market trends, and retains customer loyalty, but
also enables the Group to identify niche markets that offer profitable
opportunities ahead of peers.

The Group’s R&D centre is located in our production plant in Huizhou.
The Group engages in various R&D activities, including (i) concurrent
development of new product designs with our customers; (ii)
improvement of product quality, efficiency and functionality of existing
products; (iii) in-project calibration and optimization of the production
processes and capability of the equipment; (iv) introduction and
promotion of the use of new production technologies and new
production materials; and (v) assessment of the future prospect and
development trend of the LED industry. The Group has achieved a
number of technological advancements and breakthroughs over the
years, and, as of 31 December 2024, the Group held 288 patents
registered in the PRC. Looking forward, the Group seeks to expand
its R&D centre and talent base, striving to be always prepared for
emerging opportunities so as to capture optimal business deals.
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PROSPECTS

In 2025, the Group remains committed to strengthening its position
as a leading supplier of car-mounted LED backlights despite ongoing
global trade uncertainties. Recent tariff increases on Chinese electric
vehicles, including the European Union’s raise from 10% to 45.3%
in October 2024 and the United States’ imposition of a 100% tariff
in September 2024, have added challenges to the industry. The
additional tariffs the Trump administration continues to announce
further underscores the rising tide of trade protectionism. These
developments will impact the competitiveness of Chinese EV exports
and introduce uncertainties to the supply chain.

Nevertheless, industry leaders remain confident in the global
competitiveness of China’s intelligent electric vehicles. While export
costs may rise, the demand for advanced automotive technologies,
including high-quality display systems, continues to grow. As a
major supplier of LED backlight products for domestic automotive
brands, the Group is focused on reinforcing its partnerships with
key manufacturers to secure stable sales channels. Given the
evolving global supply chain, European and Japanese automakers
are increasingly sourcing components from China, presenting new
opportunities for expansion.

To navigate these market changes, the Group will make timely
adjustments to its production strategy, ensuring flexibility to adapt
to shifting demand patterns. Simultaneously, it is actively seeking to
expand its customer base and diversify its sales channels to mitigate
risks associated with international trade policies.

Operational efficiency also remains a key priority. For certain
processes such as die-casting that were previously outsourced
to other factories, the Group is actively seeking to integrate these
processes into its own manufacturing operations. This strategic move
aims to enhance cost control, streamline production, and improve
profit margins. In an increasingly competitive landscape, continuous
process optimisation and technological innovation will be crucial in
maintaining a leadership position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLE S Hh

Regardless of external challenges, the Group always adheres to
providing customers with first-class products and services. As a
seasoned player in the LED backlight industry, with its extensive
industry experience, large-scale production capabilities, and
adaptability to market trends and product diversification, the
Group is well-positioned to strengthen its market leadership as
smaller competitors being phased out. By staying at the forefront
of innovation and operational excellence, the Group will continue to
capitalise on emerging opportunities and drive sustainable growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the sources of revenue
for the Group were the sales of LED backlights, LED lighting services,
and the sourcing of semiconductor products. The sales of the Group’s
LED backlight products were approximately HK$1,958,443,000
(2023: HK$1,656,359,000), representing an increase of approximately
18.2%, which was mainly attributable to the continuous increase in
sales of automobile onboard display LED backlight products. The
revenue from the Group’s LED lighting services was approximately
HK$125,757,000 (2023: HK$120,442,000), representing a mild
increase of approximately 4.4%. The segment of the semiconductor
product sourcing business recorded sales of approximately
HK$288,077,000 (2023: HK$208,967,000), representing an increase
of 37.9%. Overall revenue was HK$2,372,277,000, increasing by
19.5% from the amount of HK$1,985,768,000 for the previous year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2024, gross profit from the
sales of LED backlight products and LED lighting services was
approximately HK$337,516,000, representing an increase of 27.9%
from approximately HK$263,915,000 in 2023. Gross profit margin
for these two segments increased by 1.3 percentage points from
14.9% in 2023 to 16.2% in 2024. Gross profit and gross profit margin
from the sourcing of semiconductor products were HK$8,590,000
and 3.0% (2023: HK$4,686,000 and 2.2%) respectively. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s overall gross profit was
approximately HK$346,106,000, representing an increase of 28.9%
from approximately HK$268,601,000 in 2023. Overall gross profit
margin was 14.6% in 2024, representing a slight increase of 1.1
percentage points from 13.5% in 2023.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Labour costs, sales commissions and transportation costs were the
Group’s major selling and distribution expenses. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses
were approximately HK$42,805,000 which has increased by 13.0%
compared to approximately HK$37,880,000 for the year 2023.

Administrative Expenses and Research and
Development Expenses

Administrative expenses refer to the general expenses incurred in
offices and factories. The Group focuses on effective management
by means of resource consolidation in the Shenzhen and Huizhou
factories. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
administrative expenses and research and development expenses
were approximately HK$216,030,000 which has increased by 12.0%
compared to approximately HK$192,845,000 for the year 2023.

Other Income

During the year ended 31 December 2024, other income was
approximately HK$77,313,000, representing an increase of 6.6% in
comparison with approximately HK$72,543,000 for the year 2023,
mainly due to the increase in interest income arising from bank
savings.

Bank Balances and Cash

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances
and cash amounted to approximately HK$328,878,000, representing
a decrease of 7.9% from approximately HK$357,208,000 in 2023.

Pledged Deposit

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s pledged
deposit amounted to approximately HK$516,846,000 (2023:
approximately HK$283,709,000). Having only one property in PRC
as collateral limited the Group’s options for corporate loans needed
for business expansion at times, thus, as a norm under the current
macroeconomic policies, the Group was provided with an alternative
of savings pledged loans. The Group is currently consolidating its
assets and savings hoping to simplify and improve the situation in the
coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLE S Hh

Taxation

Taxation comprised current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Two of the Group’s subsidiaries, Wai Chi Opto
Technology (Shenzhen) Limited (“Shenzhen Wai Chi”) and Huizhou
Wai Chi Electronics Company Limited, are qualified as “High-Tech
Enterprises” in the PRC and granted certain tax benefits, including a
preferential enterprise income tax rate of 15% instead of the statutory
rate of 25%. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
tax expenses were approximately HK$7,577,000 (2023: Tax credit of
approximately HK$2,164,000).

Inventories

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s inventories were approximately
HK$254,828,000, representing a decrease of 4.1% as compared to
approximately HK$265,803,000 as at 31 December 2023.

Trade Receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$980,962,000, which increased by
11.4% as compared to approximately HK$880,858,000 as at 31
December 2023. This was attributable to the increase in sales of LED
backlight products.

Trade Payables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade payables amounted to
approximately HK$570,854,000, which increase mildly by 5.8% as
compared to approximately HK$539,744,000 as at 31 December
2023.
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DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
EE  SBREEARRER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chung Po, aged 47, was appointed as executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of our Company on 16 August 2013
and appointed as Chairman of our Company on 28 January 2022.
He is responsible for the day-to-day management of our Group
including administration, procurement, production as well as financial
management. Mr. Chen received his Bachelor of Arts in Business
Studies degree from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
2000. He has more than 10 years of working experience in banking
and finance fields. After graduation, he joined Bank of China (Hong
Kong) as a credit analyst and was gradually promoted to Branch
Manager from 2000 to 2006. From 2006 to 2010, he worked with
the Sun Hung Kai Group of companies serving as the Vice President
of Sales Division in Wealth Management when he resigned in 2011,
From 2011 to 2012, he was licensed to carry on Type 2 regulated
activity. Prior to joining our Group, he was the sales director in GF
Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited from 2011 to 2013.
Mr. Chen is the husband of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, son-in-law of Ms. Luk
Fong, and brother-in-law of Mr. Yiu Kwan Lok.

Ms. Luk Fong, aged 62, was appointed as executive Director of the
Company on 22 March 2022. Prior to the appointment as executive
Director, Ms. Luk has been the assistant head of backlight overseas
business department of Shenzhen Wai Chi since March 2003. Ms.
Luk joined the Group in 1984 as she served as marketing and sales
representative of Wai Chi Electronics Co. from then until 1991 and
was then appointed as director from June 1991 to February 2003.
Ms. Luk graduated from Jiangsu Wuxi Fifth High School in 1981. Ms.
Luk is the mother of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu and Mr. Yiu Kwan Lok and the
mother-in-law of Mr. Chen Chung Po.
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DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
EF SREEREARRRER

Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, aged 40, was appointed as executive Director
of our Company on 16 August 2013. She is also the Sales and
Marketing Manager of Wai Chi Opto Technology Limited since
2009. Ms. Yiu joined us in 2008 and served as Sales and Marketing
Executive initially. She is responsible for the sales and marketing of
our LED lighting division and she is also in charge of the research and
development department of our LED lighting division. Ms. Yiu received
her Bachelor’s degree of Applied Science in Electrical Engineering
from The University of British Columbia in May 2008 and her Master
of Lighting degree from the Queensland University of Technology in
May 2012. Ms. Yiu was admitted as Engineer by the Corporation of
Seven Wardens Inc. in 2008. She also held the Directorship of Hong
Kong Critical Component Manufacturing Association from 2009 to
2012 and the Directorship of Hong Kong Opto Mechatronics Industry
Association from 2012 to 2018. Ms. Yiu is the elder daughter of Ms.
Luk Fong, wife of Mr. Chen Chung Po and sister of Mr. Yiu Kwan
Lok.

Mr. Chen Wei Wu, aged 61, was appointed as executive Director
of our Company on 11 March 2014. He is the Financial Controller
of Shenzhen Wai Chi since 2010. He is responsible for the financial
management and day-to-day financial operation in the PRC region.
He has 30 years of experience in commercial and finance fields.
From 1984 to 1992, Mr. Chen served as Accounting Officer in Jinan
Chemicals Factory at Hengyang City of Hunan. From 1992 to 1997,
he served as Financial Controller in Shenzhen Zhonggiao Group at
Shenzhen. From 1997 to 2001, he served as Vice General Manager
and Chief Financial Controller in Shenzhen Shennan Merchants
Group. From 2001 to 20086, he served as the Assistant to the
General Manager and head of the Capital Department in Shenzhen
Saigedasheng Joint-stock Company Limited. From 2006 to 2008,
he served as the General Manager of the Audit Planning Department
in GD Hengfeng Investment Group Co., Ltd. From 2008 to 2010,
he served as the General Manager of Group Finance Division in
Shenzhen Shangtianran Investment Company Limited.
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DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

Mr. Chen studied and graduated from the correspondence course
in industrial accountancy and received the professional certificate
in industrial accountancy from the Hunan College of Finance and
Economics (merged with Hunan University in April 2020) in July
1987. In October 1994, Mr. Chen was conferred by the Ministry of
Finance in the PRC the qualification of an accountant specializing
in corporate accounting. In April 2011, Mr. Chen was admitted as
Senior International Finance Manager by the International Financial
Management Association. In December 2017, Mr. Chen was admitted
as Senior Accountant by the Human Resources and Social Security
Department of Guangdong Province and Mr. Chen was admitted
as International Certified Public Accountant by the International
Association of Accounting Professionals in August 2020. In June
2012, Mr. Chen obtained his Master of Business Administration
degree from the Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
In November 2014, Mr. Chen obtained his Doctor of Business
Administration degree from the Victoria University of Switzerland.

Ms. Yong Jian Hui, aged 48, was appointed as executive Director
of our Company on 11 March 2014. She joined our Company
since 2003. She is currently the General Manager of the backlight
department and is responsible for the overall affairs of the backlight
operation, including the planning and coordination of sales, research
and development, procurement and specific operational affairs of
the production system. She has more than 10 years of working
experience in sales and marketing of backlight products. Prior to
her joining our Company, Ms. Yong served as the head of Sales
Department at Wah Mei Electronics (Shenzhen) Company Limited
from 2000 to 2002. Ms. Yong graduated from the Hunan Radio & TV
University of Financial Accounting Profession in 1999 and obtained
her Master of Business Administration degree from the Southwest
Jiaotong University in June 2012.

2024 Annual Report | F 3§

EF ESREERARRRER

PR %% A2 70 R B A B B (2020 4F 4 A B8
MASAM MEIESANMABERE ©
1987 F7TAEET NS ITESTEEUR-
R1994F 10 A - BT AT BRI ERS
FTEIER  BELESE - R2011F4 8 -
PRAELEFEFEEEHER A BEREEE
BT 7SS IBR0 - W 201712 AEERA A D
BRMEGRERERS RS TMERS LR
2020 F8 A EHE EXEESFTAI A MK
EESHAMAETERILE - R201296 7 -
MAERTHEMEBEIAEREIHERE
TEM - N2014F 11 A BREERIE T %
FEARBREIEmEERBLSBM-

WEMEL T 4855 M2014F 3R 1M BAESR
FAARBRITES - FH2003F MALR
Bl WEREMESKXECRIDERAAE
HEEIALEIE  BELEENNERER
BEHEE R RBULEERGHAE
BEBEBERZREANAE - BHREHERDH
ERMBHEENEEEBR10F TIELER - N
AR RER - LT 2000F F 2002 FHEE
EZXEFORYI)ERRAANBEESEE - &
ZER199F B HEEEERAEZHT I
HEREZERF  WR2012F6 ARESAER
MASNIEEEBELTEM -

23




DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
EF SREEREARRRER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, aged 61, was appointed as independent
non-executive Director (“INED”) of our Company on 11 March 2014.

Mr. Au Yeung obtained a Professional Diploma in Accountancy in The
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in 1987. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Au Yeung had worked for a number of years for
Price Waterhouse (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers), had
acted as a financial manager of a listed company and a major private
company respectively in Hong Kong. He has been a certified public
accountant since 1994 and has over thirty years’ experience in
auditing, finance and administration. He is now the director of Reanda
HK CPA LTD.

Mr. Au Yeung was appointed on 12 August 2016 and is currently
acting as an independent non-executive director of Man Shing Global
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8309, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange).
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DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

Mr. Yu Zhenyu, aged 42, was appointed as INED of our Company
on 3 April 2023.

Mr. Yu obtained his master’s degree in Accounting and Finance with
Management Studies from University of Hertfordshire in 2006. From
2006 to 2012, Mr. Yu worked as Audit Manager with two international
accounting firms, providing financial compliance and audit services
to a number of large corporations and financial institutes. From
2012 to 2017, Mr. Yu served as Director of Treasury and Finance
Department in China Orient Asset Management (International) Holding
Limited, being responsible for capital and financial management in
Mainland China. From 2017 to 2018, Mr. Yu joined Tianli Holdings
Group Limited (Stock Code: 117.HK) as Executive Director and
Chief Financial Officer, being responsible for financial management,
investment and financing, operation administration of off-shore
private equity funds, and capital management, as well as Hua Rong
Bo Run International Investment Holdings Limited as Assistant Chief
Executive Officer, being responsible for structured finance, funding
management, administration and human resources. From 2018 to
2019, Mr. Yu served as Managing Director for Capital Operation
and General Manager of Finance in Flying Financial Service Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8030.HK). He was responsible for fund-
raising, debt issuance, capital operation, corporate budgeting,
financial management, and tax management. From 2019 to 2022,
Mr. Yu served with BRC Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiary, Sichuan Languang Development Co., Ltd. (Stock Number:
600466.SH), as Vice General Manager of Overseas Business Unit,
being responsible for cross-border investments and financing.

In 2022, Mr. Yu, being a Responsible Officer to carry out Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong), is responsible for providing securities
analysis report and acting as portfolio manager for private placement
funds. In June 2023, Mr. Yu was appointed as Vice President of
China Brilliant Global Limited (Stock Code: 8026.HK), responsible
for the capital operation, investment and financing and the operation
of properties related to the Artificial Intelligence of Things (“AloT”).
Since January 2025, Mr. Yu act as the Director of the Low Altitude
Economy Association of Hong Kong, China.
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Mr. Yu is a fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, a Chartered Global Management Accountant, a
member of the Institute of Public Accountants Australia and a
forensic certified public accountant international (being a member
of the Forensic Certified Public Accountants Association). Mr. Yu is
a licensed Responsible Officer having been granted license to carry
out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities by the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong. Mr. Yu has substantial experience in asset management,
capital operation, financing and financial management.

Mr. Ho Chi Wai, aged 50, was appointed as INED of our Company
on 11 March 2014.

Mr. Ho is currently a partner of SRF Partners & Co., CPAs. He
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Lingnan
University in November 1997 and a Master’s degree in Finance from
Jinan University in December 2012. He is currently a practicing
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a practicing chartered tax adviser and fellow
member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow member
of the Association of International Accountants.

Mr. Ho has over 27 years of experience in audit assurance and
business consulting. Prior to his own practice in 2012, Mr. Ho worked
as an Audit Senior in a local accounting firm from 1997 to 2000. From
2000 to 2010, Mr. Ho was the audit manager in a sizable accounting
firm and from 2010 to 2011 he became the Principal of the group to
which the said accountancy firm belonged.

Mr. Ho acted as an independent non-executive director of Capital
Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8239, a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, formerly known as Ming Kei Holdings
Limited) from June 2012 to October 2013. Mr. Ho was appointed on
13 May 2018 and is currently acting as an independent non-executive
director of Affluent Foundation Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1757,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr.
Ho was also appointed on 23 June 2018 and is currently acting as
an independent non-executive director of Hyfusin Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8512, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange).
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DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Kwan Lok, aged 31, joined our Company in February
2022 and is currently the General Manager of Shenzhen Wai Chi
and Huizhou Wai Chi. Mr. Yiu is responsible for supervising the daily
operation of LED backlight and lighting production lines. Mr. Yiu
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Arts (Honors) from the University of
Toronto, Canada in June 2016 with double major in Political Science
and History. Before joining our Company, Mr. Yiu worked in Diageo
(Shanghai) Limited and his last position was Assistant Brand Manager.
He is responsible for the brand promotion and management in the
relevant regions in the PRC. Mr. Yiu is the youngest son of Ms. Luk
Fong, brother of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu and the brother-in-law of Mr. Chen
Chung Po.

Mr. Luo Zeng Chang, aged 43, joined our Company since 2003 and
is currently the General Manager of our Project Design Department
of Shenzhen Wai Chi. Mr. Luo is responsible for supervising the
designs of our products. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Luo was
a research development engineer with a small to medium-sized LED
backlight module manufacturing company from 2002 to 2003. Mr.
Luo was then employed as a senior technician at Shenzhen Wai Chi
in 2003 and was the leader of our Design Project Department from
2004 to 2007. He was then appointed as the Vice General Manager
of our Design Project Department at Shenzhen Wai Chi in 2008. Mr.
Luo obtained a graduation certificate specializing in Mechatronics
from Jiaying University in July 2001.
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, aged 43, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of our Company on 11 March 2014 and appointed
as the Company Secretary of our Company on 12 November 2015.

Mr. Cheung is responsible for our financial management other than
the PRC region. Mr. Cheung has over 9 years of experience in audit
assurance. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as audit
trainee in Eric Ng & Co. from June 2003 to July 2004 and as audit
manager in Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July 2004 to March
2014. Mr. Cheung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with an honors degree in Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy
in November 2003. He is currently a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a chartered tax
adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of GT Gold Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8299, a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange, formerly known as Grand T G Gold
Holdings Limited) on 27 August 2018. Mr. Cheung was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Ye Xing Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1941, a company listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) on 17 February 2020.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is
domiciled in Hong Kong and has its principal place of business at
6th Floor, Liven House, Nos. 61-63 King Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 40 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2024.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
(the “Reporting Period”) are set out in the Consolidated Financial
Statements on pages 91 to 226 of this annual report. The Directors
do not recommend the payment of a dividend and resolve not to
declare any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) to be held on 28 May 2025
(Wednesday), the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 23 May 2025 (Friday) to 28 May 2025 (Wednesday), both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer
forms must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2025 (Thursday). The record date for the
entitlement to attend the AGM will be on 22 May 2025 (Thursday).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 95 to 97 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders is approximately HK$334,850,000
(2023: approximately HK$334,850,000), representing the balance of
share premium account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the Company Law of Cayman Islands.

BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 27 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio of the Group, based on
total borrowings (including bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities) to the equity (including all capital and reserves) of the
Company, was 43.1% (2023: 32.2%).
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 3,519 employees. The
Group recognised the importance of maintaining good relationship
with its employees and retaining competent staff to ensure operational
efficiency and effectiveness. In the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group had not encountered any significant problems with its
employees, and there had not been any dispute between the Group
and its employees that might have caused any disruption to the
Group’s business or operation. The Group has had no difficulty
in recruiting and retaining experienced staff. The remuneration of
each employee of the Group is determined on the basis of his or
her performance and responsibility. The Group provides training to
employees.

The total staff costs incurred by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 was approximately HK$377,598,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the percentage of public float
as prescribed in the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the
Reporting Period and at any time before and up to the date of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to and including the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chung Po (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Luk Fong

Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu

Mr. Chen Wei Wu

Ms. Yong Jian Hui

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah
Mr. Ho Chi Wai
Mr. Yu Zhenyu

In accordance with article 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s articles of
association, each of Mr. Chen Wei Wu and Ms. Yong Jian Hui, both
of whom were appointed as executive directors on 11 March 2014
will retire as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and
they, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election thereat.

In accordance with article 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah and Mr. Ho Chi Wai, both of
whom were appointed as independent non-executive directors on 11
March 2014 and Mr Yu Zhenyu, who was appointed as non-executive
director on 3 April 2023, will retire as Directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, and they, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set
out on pages 21 to 28 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for three years from 16 August
2022, and each of the service agreements may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written notice.

Ms. Luk Fong has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for three years from 22 March 2025, the service agreement
may be terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ written notice.

Each of Mr. Chen Wei Wu and Ms. Yong Jian Hui has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for three years from 11 March
2023, and each of the service agreements may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written notice.

Each of Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah and Mr. Ho Chi Wai has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two
years commencing from 11 March 2024 and each of the letters of
appointment may be terminated by either party by giving not less
than two months’ written notice.

Mr. Yu Zhenyu has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from 3 April 2023 and
the letter of appointment may be terminated by either party by giving
not less than two months’ written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a contract of
service with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (except for statutory compensation).

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are determined by the Remuneration Committee with reference
to their relevant qualifications, experience, competence and the
prevailing market conditions. None of the Directors waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration of the Group as at the date of

this annual report are set out in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2024 or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children (under 18 years of age), or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement whose objectives are to enable a Director of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to and
including the date of this annual report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sub-section headed “Connected
Transaction” below and “Related Party Transactions and Balances”
in Note 39 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a
controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024
or at any time during the year.
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EFEOREE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S ESENRTETBAEREE LT
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN NEMBBEENRG - tHERS
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND REHFZESIRRR
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of M2024F12H31H  ARAIEFERITHAR
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, HR AR REAEBREE (ERAESFRBHE
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated o ((BFEREBEMRG ) EXVE) &% -
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and RGO REEES - BEHEARQ 77/5 RARE
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be HFREBEBROEB2GELAMFESTCMA
kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise S ZBIRIE ET AR BT8R CFTEt LT AE
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the FRITEFRSHNZESTR ([BEFE]) B
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers ITHMEARRNG] R e S X B T -
(“Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:
Approximate
Total percentage
Number Interestsin  of the issued
of shares Number of shares and share capital of
Number underlying  share options classof the Company
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest of shares unvested  outstanding shares (%)
R ERRT
REBH HRITEZ BRAE CRITRAN
EBfA By ERtE RA%AE RiA%A BREHE RER BHFRL(®%)
(Note 4) (Note 5) (Note 6)
(MizE4) (Fiz5) (hizE6)
Ms. Luk Fong (Note 1) Beneficial owner 128,120,000 - - 128,120,000 (1) 58.31%
B st (izE1) EZBAA
Mr. Chen Chung Po (Note 2) Beneficial owner - 800,000 800,000 1,600,000 (L) 0.73%
PRIBL LA (f7E2) EZBAA (Note 7)
(MizE7)
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu (Note 3) Beneficial owner - 200,000 400,000 600,000 (L) 0.27%
pEmTL (F5E3) ERBEA (Note 7)
(FitE7)
Ms. Yong Jian Hui Beneficial owner - 400,000 400,000 800,000 (L) 0.36%
ERBLL EaffEA (Note 7)
(£ 7)
Mr. Chen Wei Wu Beneficial owner - 200,000 200,000 400,000 (L) 0.18%
RERLE EZEAA (Note 7)
(MizE7)
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Notes:

1.

Ms. Luk Fong holds 100% of the issued share capital of Rexell Technology
Company Limited, which is the controlling shareholder holding approximately
58.31% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Chen Chung Po, as the spouse of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu by virtue
of the SFO. The total number of shares held by Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms.
Yiu Kwan Yu represents approximately 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, as the spouse of Mr. Chen Chung Po, is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Chen Chung Po by virtue
of the SFO. The total number of shares held by Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms.
Yiu Kwan Yu represents approximately 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

The Share Award Scheme was adopted pursuant to a shareholders’
resolution passed on 19 December 2022, whereby the Company granted a
total of 1,600,000 shares to 4 Directors (namely, Mr. Chen Chung Po, Ms.
Yiu Kwan Yu, Ms. Yong Jian Hui and Mr. Chen Wei Wu).

The Company adopted the share option scheme on 27 October 2014 (the
“2014 Share Options Scheme”), under which the Directors may grant
options to eligible persons to subscribe for the Company’s shares. Under the
2014 Share Option Scheme, a total of 1,800,000 share options were granted
to 4 Directors (namely, Mr. Chen Chung Po, Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, Ms. Yong Jian
Hui and Mr. Chen Wei Wu). The 4 Directors will be entitled to subscribe for
1,800,000 shares upon full exercise of all the share options in accordance
with the relevant rules of the Share Option Scheme. The 2014 Share Option
Scheme was terminated and new rules of the share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) were approved and adopted at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 19 December 2022.

The letter “L” denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company or the relevant associated corporation.

The total number of shares in which the 4 Directors (namely, Mr. Chen
Chung Po, Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, Ms. Yong Jian Hui and Mr. Chen Wei Wu) are
interested consist of the shares granted to them under the Share Award
Scheme and the shares that they will be entitled to subscribe for upon full
exercise of the share options granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which
they had taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PARTIES IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as the directors and chief executive
officer of the Company were aware, the following persons and
corporations (excluding the directors and chief executive officer of
the Company) had interests or short positions in any of the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or
who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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FERREEMALIRADTR
B RHERARGPFNES KRR

R2024F 12 A31H AR A EFE MITH
BEFTE - LA REE (KARESRT
BB ELASN) R A B D sk BB (D P A
BEFSHRBEKMNEXVIE2XIH B
&SR BB AN S 2NN &) N B 22 BT B 4 2 0%
B REZBHFRIBEKRAEI(HEAERETR
AGFEMECMASENEEAR  E
B EERA RN P HER 5%k A R

Nz
= o

T
of the Company.
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest shares held capital
BRITREAZ
REREE 51 #xstE FrishRia 88 BHEHGE
Rexell Technology Company Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 128,120,000 58.31%
HEBEARA R (FEE1) En#B A
Ms. Luk Fong (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 128,120,000 58.31%
B 75 2e =+ (B EE2) WL B S
Notes: ihg=s

1. Rexell Technology Company Limited directly holds 128,120,000 shares
representing approximately 58.31% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

2. Ms. Luk Fong is the legal and beneficial owner of all the issued shares of
Rexell Technology Company Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested
in all the shares of the Company held by Rexell Technology Company Limited
under the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company, a director
of the Company may be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the director shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of his or her duty as a director of the Company,
to the extent permitted by law. Such permitted indemnity provision
has been in force since the adoption of the Amended and Restated
Articles of Association and is currently in force at the time of approval
of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the Company
of its/her compliance with the terms and undertakings of the deed
of non-competition provided to the Company under the Deed of
Non-competition (as defined in the Company’s prospectus dated
4 November 2014). The INEDs of the Company have reviewed
the status of compliance and confirmed that all the terms and
undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied
with by the controlling shareholders.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 228 of this
annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has had
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, which are exempt from the connected transaction
requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Details of the
significant transactions with related parties are set out in Note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the share option scheme (the “2014 Share
Option Scheme”) on 27 October 2014, under which the Directors
may grant options to eligible persons to subscribe for the Company’s
shares, subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein.
The 2014 Share Option Scheme was terminated and new rules
of the share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") were
approved and adopted at the extraordinary general meeting held on
19 December 2022 (the “Effective Date”) and shall be valid and
effective for a period commencing on the Effective Date and expiring
at 5:00 p.m. on the business day (“Business Day”) preceding the
tenth anniversary of the Effective Date.

The purposes and objectives of the Share Option Scheme are
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to the Group by granting Share Options to them
as incentives or rewards thereto in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group. The eligible
participants include any executive, employee, director (including non-
executive director and independent non-executive director) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, a maximum of 18,692,500

shares (representing 8.5% of the issued shares thereby) were
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme.
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EFTHREE

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme (the “Share AArIEREE ((BIRERTE) HEFEB L
Option Scheme”) and details of movements in the share options HE2024F 12 A1 H IEFEBERE 818
under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December TEREZNFABHNGE M EREWE
2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements 32T -

and summarized as below:

Number of option shares
EhiEga
Amount of
ordinary
shares
tobe
Outstanding obtained
Qutstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled at31 Dateof after Exercise
Name/type of atiJanuary  duringthe  during the during  duringthe  December shareoption  Vesting Share option option price per
Participants 204 year year the year year 2024 qgranted period exercise period exercised share
Bh#
Hoong HouE Effed
181A 1A% BhE Eh# TERL
SaLTHZAEE  HRTE  ERRE  FAGE  FARM  EREE HAGE RERE BRY s LERYR  SROEE
(Note 1)
(Hit1)
Dictor - M. Chen 800,000 - - - - 800000 28ne2022  Bune 202t 28.June 202310 800,000 HiS1 4902
Chung Po WNE6ABA 27June 2003 27 Jung 2032 1497 e
EE-REdnt ANE6ABAZ  ANE6ANAZ
ABE6ATH NREBAA
Director - Ms. Yiu 400000 - - - - 400000 82022 28June 20210 28June 202310 400000 HK$1 4z
Kivan Yu ANEGABA  27June 2023 27 June 2082 149A T2
E2-fERNT ANEGABAE  ANBEGABAZ
ABE6ATH 0R0E6A2TA
Director - Ms. Yong 400000 - - - - 400000 282022 28June 20210 28 June 20230 400000 HK$1 4
Jan Hui ANE6ALA 27 June 2023 27 June 2032 1498 2
EE-FRfgL ANFGABAE  ABFHABAZ
ABE6A27H 0R0E6A27A
Director - Mr. Chen 200000 - - - - 200000 28June2022  28June 20210 28 June 202310 200000 HKB1 4gnee2
Wei Wy ANE6ALA 27 June 2023 27 June 2032 14978 2
E-Rednt ANFGABAZE  ABEEABAZ

20356A27R A%056A2TR
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EEEHRES
Number of option shares
EhiEga
Amount of
ordinary
shares
tobe
Outstanding obtained
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled at31 Dateof after Exercise
Name/type of atiJanuary  duringthe  during the during  duringthe  December shareoption  Vesting Share option option price per
Participants 204 year year the year year 2024 granted period exercise period exercised share
Bh#
Hhoong oo Effed
181A 128%8 BR# ki TERL
SEATHAIRN  HAGE  EARE  ERTE  FAKN  FARE  HAGE RuRE BRY s LERYR  SROEE
(Note 1)
(Wit1)
Other 19 grantegs 2,710,000 - - (40000 - 2570000 28June2022  2BJuine 2022t 28June 202310 2,570,000 HK$1 4z
E1945A 0056A28H 27 June 2023 27 June 2032 1497 22
ANEGABAE  ANEGABAZ
ABE6ATA WE6AA
Other 3 grantees 90,000 - - (60,000) - 30000 11.July 2023 11Juy 202310 11July 2024 to 30,000 HKB1 4z
EHSEEEA ABETANA 10 July 2024 10July 2083 149 0
ABETRIIBE  META1AE
0457 A10R 0BETA10A
Total
& 4,600,000 - - (200000 - 4400000 4400000
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1.

42

Representing approximately 2.0% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2024.

{EARDNBIR2024E 12 A31 B 2 B BT AL
2.0% °

The basis of determining the exercise price of Share Options granted is at 2. ErXoBRLBRETEECEEEEZELATI
least the highest of: (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (i) the closing price FEEMNESE (ROOEE: (IRHVRELA
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on H(EALER)EBMIAMBEMERMR 2K
the date of offer, which shall be a Business Day; and (iii) the average closing ME: Ri)ROREEZZNA P AEZEEB
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets EHMXAMEBARERMB 2 FHKTE : (W
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of offer; or (where HR)RIEERETETEARCEBER B
applicable) such price as from time to time adjusted pursuant to the Share ZR A (202266 A28 R) AR (D 2 W (&
Option Scheme. The Closing price of the Shares immediately before the grant BERIGN1.498 7T °
date (28 June 2022) is HK$1.49 per Share.
The closing price of the Shares immediately before the grant date (11 July 3. ZEFEHE (202347 A118) RN Z%H
2023) is HK$1.42 per share. BREREKRMN1.42ET -
The estimated fair value of the Share Options granted on the Grant Date 4. REHAHPERLEREZAFAALEBELD
of approximately HK$3,816,000 comprises a fair value of (i) approximately 3,816,000 7T - IHH H m—E&F B ETEER X5
HK$1,458,344 for the 1,800,000 Share Options granted to 4 Directors, and (i) & ()R 4HESE T 1,800,00017 B E 2
approximately HK$2,357,656 for the 2,910,000 Share Options granted to the NI EHX)1,458,344 7 7T+ I (i) ) H fth 24 B F SR
other 24 Grantees (being Employees of the Company), as calculated using A (BARQREE) % 2,910,000 B E 2 A
the Black-Scholes pricing model. The relevant fair value of the Share Options AEXI2,357,65678 T © A1 SR EEH L ERE
granted to each Director is shown below: ZIEEAREIRET
Fair Value of the
Share Options
Amount of shares granted (HK$)
options granted (Approximately)
BIRHBREAAE
Director 2= ERHERERE (&) (#4)
Mr. Chen Chung Po PREEGE o 800,000 648,153
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu hER L+ 400,000 324,076
Ms. Yong Jian Hui EEBLLT 400,000 324,076
Mr. Chen Wei Wu PREEE o & 200,000 162,039
The number of Share Options available for grant with respect to the scheme 5. MR2022FMBEFEY - iRIE2014 F AT 2
mandate under the 2014 Share Option Scheme at the beginning of the ZET BRI L 2 B AR BB /A& 20,000,000
financial year 2022 was 20,000,000 Share Options. D EEARE o
Since the 2014 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 19 December 6. HR2014FFERE B X 2022F 12 19 B #

2022 (the “termination”), the number of Share Options available for grant
with respect to the scheme mandate under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
immediately before the termination was 15,290,000 Share Options.

IE (T#81E]) - SRR BE R IEAT - IR IR 2014 F 18
RS TR RETRITE 2 ERESE A
15,290,000 17 fE A% 4 ©
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Share Award Scheme was adopted by the Company on 19
December 2022 (the “Adoption Date”) and shall be valid and
effective for a term of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date.
The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to
through the Shares awarded or provisionally awarded (the “Award(s)”
or “Award Share(s)”) (a) recognise the contribution and/or future
contributions of certain employees (the “Selected Employees”) to
the growth and development of the Group and give incentives thereto
in order to retain them for the continual operation and development of
the Group; and (b) attract suitable personnel for further development
of the Group.

The Selected Employees participating in the Share Award Scheme
include any employee (including without limitation any director) of the
Company or of any subsidiary (including any person who is granted
Award(s) under the Share Award Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment contract with the Company or any subsidiary) whom
the Board may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion select for
participation in the Share Award Scheme.

During the period from the Adoption Date and up to the date of this
Annual Report, 2,900,000 Awarded Shares had been granted under
the Share Award Scheme. Subject to the terms and conditions of
the Share Award Scheme and the requirements of the Listing Rules,
the Board may, from time to time at their absolute discretion, select
any Selected Employee to participate in the Share Award Scheme
as a Selected Employee, determine the number of Awarded Shares
to be awarded and inform in writing the trustee and the Selected
Employee(s) of such number of Awarded Shares and the vesting
period and conditions (if any) accordingly; and such Award Shares
can be satisfied by (i) new Shares to be allotted and issued to the
trustee upon its application for the same without exceeding the
scheme limit specified in the Share Award Scheme; or (i) Shares
purchased by the trustee in the open market at its reasonable
discretion and in good faith.
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A detailed summary of the terms of the Share Award Scheme are set
out in the Company’s circular dated 1 December 2022.

Bt BN B IR F AR EH N ARF R
HR2022F 12 A1 HEYEK ©

Number of Shares
underlying the share

Grantee Date of grant awards granted Vesting period
2R B RES

EAEBEA = A RzB38E SREH

Conditional Grantees:

BREEEREA:

Mr. Chen Chung Po 9 February 2023 800,000 9 February 2023 to
8 February 2024

PR $2 5L 5 A4 2023F2 A9H 2023F2H9H=E
20242 A 8H

Ms. Yong Jian Hui 9 February 2023 400,000 9 February 2023 to
8 February 2024

EREEBLZ L 20232 A9H 20232 A9RA%E
20242 H8H

Other Grantees:

HfREBA

Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu 23 December 2022 200,000 23 December 2022 to
22 December 2023

B+ 2022412 A 23 H 2022F 12 4230 %
2023 12 A22H

Mr. Chen Wei Wu 23 December 2022 200,000 23 December 2022 to
22 December 2023

BRAZE &4 2022412 23 8 2022 12 A23BZE
2023412 22 H

Other 8 Selected Employees 23 December 2022 1,300,000 23 December 2022 to
22 December 2023

Hih 8RB TEE 2022412 A23 B 2022F 12 A23BZE
202312 f22H

Total

ast 2,900,000
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Details and movements of award shares that were granted under the
Share Award Scheme are as follows:

The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on
which the Awards Shares were granted (23 December 2022) is
HK$1.6 per Share.

The fair value of the Awards Shares is determined in accordance
with HKFRS 2 by reference to the cost of purchase of the
Awarded Shares, or the fair value at grant date. The estimated
fair value of the Awards Shares granted on the date of grant
is approximately HK$4,640,000, comprising an estimated
fair value of (i) approximately HK$2,560,000 for the grant to 4
Directors of 1,600,000 Awarded Shares, and (i) approximately
HK$2,080,000 for the grant to the other 8 Selected Employees
of the Company of 1,300,000 Awarded Shares, both grant
of Awarded Shares being at the closing price of HK$1.60 per
Share on the date of grant as quoted on the Stock Exchange.
The relevant fair value of the Awarded Shares granted to each
Director is shown below:
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Fair Value of

the Awarded

Shares granted

Amount of share (HK$)

awards granted (approximately)

BEHER

SR ER BiaanE

Director ) gy =] (i8T) (#4)
Mr. Chen Chung Po FREERE SR 800,000 1,280,000
Ms. Yong Jian Hui EEB L 400,000 640,000
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu hEm Lt 200,000 320,000
Mr. Chen Wei Wu PRAZE o &= 200,000 320,000
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As at the date of the 2024 Annual Report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the 2022 Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme was 18,692,500 Shares which
represents 8.5% of the issued Shares.

The number of options and awards available for grant under the
scheme mandate at the beginning of the financial year ended 31
December 2024 was a total of 18,692,500 Shares.

The number of options and awards available for grant under
the scheme mandate at the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2024 was a total of 18,692,500 Shares.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of the
Share Options and the Awards granted under all the Share
Schemes of the Company during the financial year ended 31
December 2024 divided by the weighted average number of
Shares in issue for the financial year ended 31 December 2023
was 8.5%.

R2024 FF R A Y - R IE 2022 F B8 %
HEETEI R B R 8 AT BT 2 B D
48 E 518,692,500 - 1 E TR MD 2
8.5% °

REE2024F12 A1 BILFBFEY -
RE AT B A A 4% 2 BB AR I 22
218 A4 118,692,500 AX A% 15 -

REZE2024F 12 AT BIEFBHFER -
RIEFTEIRE R H R 2 g 12 E)
BB A4 118,692,500 Ax A% {7 °

HZE2024F 12 A3 HILH B FERIE
KNABFIAERMETEH < AR & 52
BhP] RE B 1T 2 RR 17D 8 B BR AE, = 2023 F
12 31 B BUFEE B BT 2 Nt
T8 E8.5% o
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the largest supplier
accounted for 11% of the Group’s purchases and the five largest
suppliers accounted for 25% of the Group’s total purchases. The
largest customer accounted for 28% of the Group’s revenue and
the five largest customers accounted for 64% of the Group’s total
revenue.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has an
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to approximately HK$40,000 (2023: approximately HK$120,000).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers all the INEDs to be independent.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased or redeemed any of the listed
shares of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives. Stable dividend payment to shareholders is the
primary objective of the Company. The basic policy is to pay interim
and final dividends in each financial year.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal
rights to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the
interim dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires
the approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may
be distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also
requires the approval of shareholders.

Retained surplus is used to achieve further gains in corporate value.
For this purpose, the Board makes effective use of retained surplus
to strengthen the operating base and fund growth of established
businesses and the development of new businesses. The Board takes
into account the following factors when considering the declaration
and payment of dividends:

° liquidity position of the Company;

e financial results;

e  shareholders’ interests;

e  general business conditions and strategies;

e  capital requirements;

e  contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the
Company, if any;

e  taxation considerations;

e possible effects on the creditworthiness;

e  statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

e any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

e there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its liabilities
or discharge its obligations as and when they become due;

° pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent or
bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the Company
would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

e thereis any other case set forth by any law.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and its management are committed to maintaining
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance is essential
for continual growth and enhancement of shareholder’s value. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has applied the
code provisions stipulated in the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix C1 (the “CG Code”) to the Listing Rules. Code
Provision C.2.1. of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Former Chairman
of the Company, Mr. Yiu Chi To, passed away on 28 January 2022,
currently the role of the chairman of the Company is performed by
Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Chen Chung Po. Besides the above, the
Company has complied with all the other applicable code provisions
of the CG Code. The Company periodically reviews its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development in
corporate governance. The Group’s principal corporate governance
practices and compliance with code provisions are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 51 to 71 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Group is committed to promoting
the long-term, steady and sustainable development of employees,
environmental protection and social responsibilities on a continuous
basis.

The Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 72 to 83
of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

2024 Annual Report | F 3§

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEEREE

TtEES

RARREEEEALEFRIFOHDEER -
EERUE2ERENEHE BMEURBET
MRRA - AR EIEERIFHEEE R E
BREEEREIRAEBRREBEERAEE - ¥
HZE2024F 12831 HILFE  ARABEE
BLEmBRAMECIEHNCEERATAZER
Bl SFRNZE 28 FRIME X EC21KETE E
FBERITHRAHE 2 ACEEMED KT EAE
—ALTET BRAREREFBHREE LA
R20224F 1 A28 HEtt - B BIFRERL St £ R
FrEE AR B EERITBEE Btz
RAREBRAAAEBATAIEN - RAFERE
TEERMMENERTTHENECEE R
B AEENFTECEERTRALETR
ERNFHBHRAFRENETFETIENDLES
ATRE A -

REREEHERML

AEERRERATEH R RETIEES -
REREUNIHSEENRE  BEMA#H
BEE-

BERASERERRERBEZFBENASF
WHET2EGIAMIRE - HEREBEERN -

BEREEE
EZZEECHERERNAKREEE 2024
F12 A1 BILFEMERE MIEWE - FTERMN
MeEstRAKEN WHEZ - AFEER
M mEEEHRITER -

49




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEEREE

AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (“SHINEWING”). We have not
changed auditor in the past three years. A resolution to re-appoint
SHINEWING as our auditor will be submitted for shareholders’
approval at our forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr. Chen Chung Po
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance (“CG”). The Board believes that adherence
to CG practices will definitely be beneficial to the Company’s
shareholders in the long term. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Company has applied the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules in force at that time. Code Provision C.2.1 in
Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Former Chairman of the Company, Mr. Yiu
Chi To, passed away on 28 January 2022, currently the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Chief Executive Officer, Mr.
Chen Chung Po. The Board will keep reviewing the current structure
of the Board from time to time and should suitable candidate with the
requisite knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as
appropriate. Besides the above, the Company has complied with all
the other applicable code provisions of the CG Code. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices with reference
to the latest development in corporate governance.

The Board considers that good CG is central to safeguarding the
interests of the shareholders and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board will continuously review and improve the CG
practices and standards of the Company to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner.

With a view to further improving the Company’s CG practices, the
following actions were taken in 2024:

e  Appointment of INEDs with appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management experience with
regulatory entities to further broaden the collective knowledge,
perspectives and skills of the Board.

° All members of the Audit Committee are INEDs and all of them

have appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
financial management experience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELWE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

e Provision of internal training to the Board through implementing
a continuous professional development programme.

e To adopt Board diversity policy in order to diversify the
composition of the Board so as to recognise and embrace the
benefits of having a diverse Board and to enhance the quality
of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition with
regard to Board diversity, the Board has taken into account
a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board currently has three female directors and thereby has
achieved gender diversity at the Board level. As at 31 December
2024, the percentage of male and female in the Company’s workforce
(including the directors and senior management) is 62% and 38%,
respectively, representing a male-to-female ratio of 1.6 to 1. We will
continue to strive to enhance female representation in the workforce
and achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity according
to business needs and future development. We will also ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff and are committed to
providing career development opportunities for female staff so that
we will have a pipeline of potential successors to our Board in the
future.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis in accordance with code
provision B.1.3 in Part 2 of the CG Code.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Pursuant to specific
enquiry by the Company, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct during the FY2024.
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THE BOARD

The Board is mainly responsible for the overall strategic development
of and is also responsible for monitoring the financial performance,
risk management and the internal controls of the Group. With
a wide range of expertise and a balance of skills, the INEDs
bring independent Judgement on issues of strategic direction,
development, performance and risk management through their
contribution at Board meetings and committee work.

Distinctive Roles of the Board and the Management

The Board has the collective responsibility for leadership and
control of, and for promoting the success of, the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is responsible for
determining the overall strategy and corporate development and
ensuring the business operations are properly monitored. The Board
reserves the right to decide all policy matters of the Group and
material transactions.

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the operations of the Group, in discharging its duties,
certain responsibilities are delegated to:

(i)  the standing Board committees of the Company namely: the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Each
committee’s constitution, powers and duties are clearly defined
by its terms of reference, and the committees are accountable
to the Board;

(i)  the Chief Executive Officer, being delegated with the day-to-day
management of the businesses of the Group, is accountable to
the Board; and

(i)  the senior management team of the Group, being delegated
with the responsibilities to deal with daily operational functions,
is answerable to the Board.

The Board regularly reviews its arrangement for delegation of
authority to ensure that such delegation is appropriate in view of the
Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate reporting
systems are in place.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All of the Directors have entered into service agreements or letters of
appointment and the details of their terms are set out in the Report
of the Directors on pages 29 to 50 of this annual report. At each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. Retiring Directors
are eligible for re-election and re-election of retiring Directors at
the annual general meeting is dealt with by separate resolutions
for each individual Director. Where vacancies arise at the Board,
candidates will be proposed and put forward to the Board by the
Nomination Committee as more fully explained below in the section
on Nomination Committee. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board is composed of five executive
Directors and three INEDs, as shown on page 3 of this annual report.
Biographies of the Company’s Directors are shown on pages 21 to
28 of this annual report.

INEDs ensure the Board accounts for the interests of all shareholders
and considers major issues objectively. The Board has received from
each INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all of the
INEDs to be independent. INEDs represent 37.5% of the full Board.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, there is no financial, business
and family relationship among members of the Board except that Ms.
Luk Fong is the mother of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu and mother-in-law of Mr.
Chen Chung Po and that Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu
are a married couple.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chen Chung Po acts as the Chairman (“Chairman”) and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEOQ”) of the Board.

Induction, Information and ongoing Development

All Directors have been kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may have affected the Group’s businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. In addition, the Group has implemented
a continuing development programme to update the Directors (in
particular INEDs) on the macro-economic conditions and business
environment relevant to the Group’s major operations.

In addition to the above, each newly-appointed Director has received
a tailored induction programme, which covered briefing on the
Company’s overview by the CEO, meeting with the management
and the Company’s external legal adviser on directors’ legal role and
responsibilities. To further maximize the contribution from INEDs,
separate meeting between the Chairman and INEDs was held in
December 2024 to address business and related issues. Written
procedures are also in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense. No request was made by any Director for such independent
professional advice during the FY2024.

During the FY2024, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills in accordance with code provision C.1.4 contained in Part 2 of
the CG Code. Each of the Directors has received a series of training
locally or overseas. Relevant trainings and briefings included, among
others:

e  development of national and global economy;

° national policy outlook;

e  corporate governance;

° regulatory updates; and

e |LED backlight and lighting industry development trend, etc.
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LEETLARE
THE BOARD (continued) EET(4E)

Bl - EARMSBEERE (R

Induction, Information and ongoing Development

(continued)

All Directors have also provided to the Company their records of FIBEESEEHARRARMET 2024 FHHFE
training attended or fulfilment of ongoing development requirements e ERREINISFEREERZRNED
for the FY2024, the information of which has been entered in the 8 ERHEEEEEHENARAREBEENLT
register of directors’ training records maintained and updated by REFNZESFENDEELMA - TERE
the Company from time to time. The following table summarises the HE T IRB ST BB CAAIE R 2024 F B B
compliance status of all Directors of the Company in respect of code BEARRRZBEENETEN

provision C.1.4 during the FY2024:

In compliance
with Code
Provision C.1.4

Name of Directors EEHA BRI CA41F

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chen Chung Po BeR 8 5 5T A v/

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFTRAREE)

Ms. Luk Fong b5+ v

Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu hEBEZ T+ 4

Mr. Chen Wei Wu BRéZE T4 v

Ms. Yong Jian Hui EEIEL T v

Independent non-executive Directors BAFEBITES

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah B [5 R2E O AE v

Mr. Ho Chi Wai Al S B SE A v

Mr. Yu Zhenyu RIRF LA v
Role and Responsibilities of the Board EEgzAGKRIMEE
The Board delegates appropriate aspects of its management and EEeRHEERTRBEEEHEETE
administrative functions to the management. It also gives clear BE SFNBEE R NG TIEMIE
directions as to the powers of the management, in particular, with 51 RE BN E IR B R TE 3R] S Al &
respect to the matters that the management must report back and ERNERESSERAESESTS A
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or ENERE E=ZSrTHETHES2RE
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. The Board RETERE 2B -

determines on a regular basis which functions are reserved to the
Board and which are delegated to the management.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Role and Responsibilities of the Board (continued)

The Board exercises a number of duties and powers which include:
e formulating the Group’s long-term strategy;

e approving major acquisitions, disposals and capital investment;
° reviewing operational and financial performance;

e approving financial results and public announcements;

e reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control;

e authorizing material borrowings;
e setting dividend policy;

e approving appointment of members to the Board and senior
management; and

e  setting the Group’s remuneration policy and human resources
deployment.

To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board has
established four committees, namely the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee, and the risk
management committee.

Board Processes

All Directors have been regularly updated on governance and
regulatory matters. There is an established procedure for Directors
to obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the
Company in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has also
taken out appropriate director and officer liability insurance against
liabilities that may be incurred as a result of potential legal actions that
might be taken against the Directors.
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ERELWE

THE BOARD (continued)

Board Processes (continued)

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to review the overall
strategies and monitor the operations as well as the financial
performance of the Group. The Chairman mainly focuses on Group
strategies and is responsible for chairing and managing the efficient
operation of the Board and ensuring that all key issues are considered
by the Board in a timely manner. Notice of at least 14 days has been
given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and the Directors
can include matters for discussion in the agenda whenever they
consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are despatched
in full to all Directors within a reasonable time before the meeting. and
in any case, at least 3 days before the intended date of the meeting
or such other period as agreed before the meeting. Directors have
to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in any proposals
or transactions to be considered by the Board at Board meetings
and abstain from voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board
meetings are circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time prior to finalisation of the same. Final versions of the minutes are
also circulated to Directors for record within a reasonable time after
the Board meeting is held.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have free access to
Board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate
information in a timely manner, enabling the Board to make informed
decision on matters placed before it. In FY2024, four Board meetings
were held and the attendance details are shown as follows:

EETE (&)

EEEERF (@)

EZeNFATHRE  RITBBRBLE
RAKENEERRMBRAE - TFEETEA
BEAKEZRE YAERARAERERE
Ee MREFSLFEMMEEHEE -
NEZEMATHER E2REFHELR
DHORBEN WRERR/AEXBEFTE
ExA R mEEMABHEEZRE -EFEE
HeznaElMMErETeXHearle
A—BREEREANKETHEES - ERm 0
2PN EZFTE B HAT3 KK S A E
MAEBEMHE EFEARERERESFS
ERLHEFEERZEMNRRAZTARSF
FMEAzEZKAEED (WA YHERE
BONFE) FAEFSSACHERS
CEREARESEMN BREFERTE R
AR ER 8RN BREERTHENE
EEERRTENCEREAARERTE -

EEghEEZEENSRTHARRAWE
REFE - 2REFHERSHNESSHNHRK
EHEER YehBERERHEEMER F2
ESARRESHENBTEELANBRE - R
P4 FHHMFERN BEESLRITTURES
ERE SRLEFBOT :

Board Meetings
attended in FY2024
2024 F BB E

Name of Directors EEHF HEEESSERE
Executive Directors HiTES

Mr. Chen Chung Po PR $2 5L S A 4/4

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTRAEE)

Ms. Luk Fong b5 2+ 4/4
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu hERLZ T+ 4/4
Mr. Chen Wei Wu PRAZE A4 4/4
Ms. Yong Jian Hui e NE 2+ 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors BAEHMITES

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah BRES RZE R & 4/4
Mr. Ho Chi Wai A& B & 4/4
Mr. Yu Zhenyu RIRF A& 4/4
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit committee,
remuneration committee, nomination committee and risk management
committee. Each of them has specific terms of reference, which are
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company and is responsible for reviewing matters relating to specific
areas and for advising the Board on such matters. INEDs play a
significant role in these committees to ensure that independent and
objective views are taken. The list of the chairman and members of
each Board committee is set out on page 3 of this annual report. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

(a) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls.

The Audit Committee comprises all three Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, was appointed as
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the senior management
and external auditors the Group’s significant internal controls
and financial matters (as set out in the Audit Committee’s terms
of reference), including:

° the Group’s interim and annual financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval;

e the Group’s compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements;

e the Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and risk
management;

e formulating the working plan of the internal control audit
department, discussing the review result of internal control
system on a regular basis and reporting to the Board;

e  discussing with the external auditors the nature and scope
of the audit, significant accounting policies and other audit-
related issues;

° connected transactions; and

*  managing and overseeing the external auditors.
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tEELIHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee is entitled to conduct investigations into
any matter within its terms of reference and is authorised to
obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary in
discharging its responsibilities.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the audit scope, process
and effectiveness and independence of the audit conducted
by SHINEWING and has thus recommended the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 to the Board for its approval.

In FY2024, two meetings were held by the Audit Committee with
100% attendance rate of all members of the Audit Committee
during the term of their office. Draft and final versions of
minutes of the meetings were sent to all members of the Audit
Committee for their comment and records, within a reasonable
time after the meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company comprises all
three INEDs. Mr. Ho Chi Wai, was appointed as Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations
to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and structure for
the remuneration of Directors and senior management, and
ensures that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee also reviews and approves (i) compensation
payable to executive Directors and senior management for
any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that such compensation is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and (i) compensation
arrangement(s) relating to dismissal or removal of Director(s) for
misconduct to ensure that such compensation arrangements is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise reasonable
and appropriate.

The Company has delegated the determination of the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and
senior management to the Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

In determining the remuneration of Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors and the suitability of performance-based
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets to determine the policy
for the remuneration of Directors, assess the performance
of executive Directors and approve the terms of executive
Directors’ service contracts. In FY2024, two meetings were held
by the Remuneration Committee with 100% attendance rate of
all members of the Remuneration Committee during their term of
office.

In FY2024, the Remuneration Committee had performed the
following works:

e reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Group;

e discussed and recommended the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management for the Board’s
approval;

e authorised by the Board to approve the allotment and issue
of Shares upon exercise of share options under the Share
Option Scheme;

e considered the grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme and recommend to the Board for approval;
and

° reviewed and discussed the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company comprises all three
Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. Yu Zhenyu, was
appointed as Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the candidates’ qualification and competence, and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors, so
as to ensure that all nominations are fair and reasonable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c)

62

Nomination Committee (continued)

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are:

e to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;

e  to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

e to establish a formal and transparent procedure for the
appointment or reappointment of Directors;

e to make recommendations to the Board for new
appointments or reappointments of executive and non-
executive Directors;

e to evaluate the performance of Directors and determine if
they should be reappointed; and

e to be responsible for significant issues concerning the
nomination of Directors during the year.

Reviewed, assessed and considered all INEDs, in particular, two
INEDs of our Company have served the Board as INED for more
than nine years. The factors considered and the conclusion for
the independence of Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah and Mr. Ho Chi
Wai have been set out in the documents to be presented to the
shareholders for the AGM to be held in May 2025.

The Nomination Committee meets to discuss the procedures
and criteria which should be adopted by them in nominating
candidates for directorship and has agreed that such criteria
should include the candidates’ professional background,
their experience and their past track record with other listed
companies (if any). In FY2024, two meetings were held by
the Nomination Committee with 100% attendance rate of all
members of the Nomination Committee during their term of
office.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c) Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy and the
Nomination Committee considers and makes recommendations
to shareholders for the election of appropriate candidates as
Directors at general meetings or appointment of such Directors
to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which
the Group is engaged;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest in the business;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

6. the number of existing directors and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered as
independent with reference to the Independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any policies
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

9. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(d) Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises three members
which include the Chief Executive Officer (“CEOQ”), Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) and one INED of the Company. The Board
has appointed Mr. Chen Chung Po (Chairman and CEQ), Mr
Cheung Wai Hung (CFO) and Mr. Yu Zhenyu (INED) as members
of the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Chen Chung Po has
also been appointed as the Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
include reviewing the Company’s corporate risk management
framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for
risk assessment and risk management and reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management function.

In FY2024, two meetings with attendance of all Risk
Management Committee members during their term of office
were held.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the external
auditor, SHINEWING, and its affiliated firms, in respect of their audit
and non-audit services for FY2024 are set out below:

ESEETZEE (HA)
(d) AREERSE
ERERES®E =R BMAR - ¥

BRADATREH HHBER—%
BUNNTES - EERCEAMREE
St (ERRITRARE) - RIEH 5 (0
BRE) RARF L B IEHITES)
ARREEEEERE - W hMREE
EHERRERERGER -

J—Lfiﬁfﬂiéﬂaﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁ&f\ﬂﬂﬁﬁ$

NAEEEREREERRE - BTG RE
REEES - BUR MR Rig s B
BRI AL -

R2024FHMBFE EREEZEGR
TTMREH MARREEZEEN

BRNEAEMAYBELRE -

A5 B8 B B <

09 BEONER AR BAT IS kR A R E B B S
R 2024 F B B HIR G BT RIFBA BB E
SRR 1 S BRI T

HK$

BT

Audit service EAT AR 1,200,000
Non-audit services* EET RS 253,500
1,453,500

*

Included in non-audit services were HK$33,500 in relation to services
performed by SHINEWING's affiliated firms.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 in Part
2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing
its duties on an ongoing basis. The main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following aspects:

e I|dentification: Identify occurrence and changes in the nature and
extent of risks; identify business objectives and risks that could
affect the achievement of those objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; assess the Group’s ability
to manage risks.

° Management: Consider the risk response plan, ensure effective
communication with the Board and monitor risks on an ongoing

basis.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2024, no significant risk
was identified.

2024 Annual Report | F 3§

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELWE

[ B B B % (A0 B B 4

AEERAFE CETEEERTE -
MOD2RA - BEIEE MBEMHEREE R
NEEIERS - ERERERERRNRE
EEMEZ EXQAAEREEEERE
WITERABE AREENALEZERSHD
TERENTEEEHAAL

EMEERGR

AEERAEREERS BEEEEBLR
EERBENER ZEASGEREATEIMH

o BB HBBARG LKA T AL
M MBS E BRT TS0 R
ERHEHR -

o M SWRBRETEENEE L
S ERBRAES AR E N AR
TS -

. ERCERRBELSE WREEE
SMENER  THESREAR -

IR 2024 FHETH RS - REREARE

65




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

LEELIRE
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL [ b B IR K A AR EE ¥ (48)
CONTROLS (continued)
Internal Control System MEBEEIE R 4R
The Company has in place an internal control system which is NAINRE —EAMBEZERS  BHEEEE
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the ZEgHRAMBZES ([COSOJ)20131EZE
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The framework FR  RERFEAEBENETEEN AR
enables the Group to achieve effective and efficient operations, MERMBE - RS S RETER
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and FERMERMNER - ZIERBENUTITE

regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

e Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and e RBEE: BASEBEEHEAINEITRME
structures that provide the basis for the Group’s implementation KB —EZR%E - RIETAERE -

of internal control.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying o ERFE: —EEXHMBENBE-
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a RBFB A DT R A EREE B TT
basis for determining how risks should be managed. 7R SE 0 {n) B TR [ B 28 TE AL o

e Control Activities: Development of policies and procedures to o EMEE:RBHREMEFRMNEN B
facilitate risk reduction and effective management. R ERRGEREREENEE -

e Information and Communication: Internal and external . EETE@%L CREEINEER  REE
communication to provide the Group with the information RILETAEEEMENEE °

needed to carry out day-to-day management.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain o EE:FERMERNFME UBEERNITE
whether each component of internal control exists and functions. R EEBEKIT D D FEMET -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s inside information processing
system and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. A series of
appropriate measures have been taken from time to time to prevent
any breach of the Group’s disclosure requirements, which include:

e  The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

° Non-disclosure agreements are in place when the Group
conducts significant negotiations.

e  The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

e  Sending blackout period and securities dealing restrictions
notification to the Directors and relevant employees regularly.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in FY2024, no
significant internal control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is performed
by professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operational effectiveness.

An |IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via the Audit Committee afterwards.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring that a review of the effectiveness
of these systems which covers a period of 6 months since the last
review has been conducted semi-annually. Several areas have been
considered during the Board’s reviews, which include but are not
limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks
since the last review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment; (ii) the scope and
quality of the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems and the work of IA function; (i) the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to the
result of risk and internal control review; (iv) significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and (v) the status
of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews conducted by
IA function and the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
the qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate, and
the training programs and budget provided were sufficient to carry
out such work.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and comply with the requirement of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (‘Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Listing Rules. The auditors are responsible for forming an
independent opinion, based on the audit, on the financial statements
prepared by the Directors and reporting the opinion solely to the
Company’s shareholders. The Independent Auditor’s Report is set out
on pages 84 to 90 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung is the Company Secretary of the Company. All
members of the Board have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The appointment and removal of the Company
Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval. In FY2024, Mr. Cheung
has taken the required number of hours of relevant professional
training.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATION

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level of
transparency in communicating with shareholders and the investment
community at large. Briefings and meetings with institutional investors
and analysts are conducted regularly. The Company is committed to
maintaining an open and effective investor communication policy and
to update investors on relevant information on its business on a timely
manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements.

In order to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications
with the investors and analysts, all corporate communications are
arranged and handled by the CFO of the Company in accordance
with the established practice and procedures.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate communications
of the Company are made available on the Company’s website at
http://www.waichiholdings.com and updated regularly on a timely
basis.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy as disclosed above during the
year ended 31 December 2024, and is satisfied that it is effective for
the Board to understand the views and opinion of the shareholders
through the available channels.

The Board and the management shall ensure shareholders’ right
and all shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. The Company
has announced and published its interim and annual results and
despatched them to the shareholders in a timely manner, which
is well before the time limits set out in the Listing Rules. Separate
resolutions will be proposed at the general meetings on each major
issue, including the re-election of individual Directors, if any.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.
The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important
event in which the Chairman and all Directors will make an effort to
attend. External auditors shall also be invited to attend the Company’s
annual general meeting and are also available to assist the Directors
in addressing queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of
the audit and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report. All
shareholders will be given prior notice on a timely basis together with
a detailed agenda. The Board, according to the Listing Rules, will
conduct voting at the forthcoming AGM by poll. The results of the
Company will be declared at the meeting, and announced timely on
the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Any shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or more
of the Company’s total issued share capital shall be entitled to
request the Board in writing to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Upon receiving such request, the Board shall issue a
notice of extraordinary general meeting within 21 days and hold an
extraordinary general meeting within two months from the receipt
of such request. If within 21 days of the receipt of such request the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the shareholder(s)
proposing to convene an extraordinary general meeting in writing may
himself/herself (themselves) convene an extraordinary general meeting
in the same manner.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to make proposals or
move resolutions at the general meetings under the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman
Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a
resolution may, however, convene a general meeting in accordance
with the preceding paragraph.

Procedures for shareholders to put enquires to the
Board

Shareholders must prove to the Board that they really own the equity
interests of the Company (e.g. by providing shareholding documents
etc.). The Company suggests shareholders should submit their
enquiries in writing (including by email, facsimile and mail) and provide
sufficient contact details so that the Company can process their
enquiries in a proper and timely manner.

Shareholders may contact the Company via the following means:

Address: 6/F, Liven House, 63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: barry.cheung@waichi.com

Tel No.: (852) 3760 2805

Fax No.: (852) 2341 8144
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

e  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Constitutional documents

Rights of the shareholders are also provided under the articles
of association of the Company. The articles of association of the
Company which was adopted on 27 October 2014 and amended by
shareholder approval in the AGM held on 25 May 2023 was drafted
in line with provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which
came into effect on 3 March 2014, the Listing Rules and current
corporate practices. An up-to-date consolidated version of the
articles of association of the Company is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BR dEREIHE

72

OVERVIEW

Over the years, Wai Chi Holdings has committed to adhering to
the philosophy of environment-friendly management, caring for
the needs of staff, enhancing the product quality and performing
social responsibilities. This environmental, social and governance
report will give an overview of each of the Group members in
Hong Kong, Shenzhen, and Huizhou for the year ended 31
December 2024 through various aspects including environmental
management, working environment, supply chain management,
product responsibility and community engagement.

This report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Group has complied with all “comply
or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and
followed the four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, in the preparation of the ESG Report.

Commitment to environment friendly operations is one of the
Group’s core philosophies. The Group’s internal operational
guidelines firmly comply with the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China and other applicable
international standards to facilitate environmental protection,
pollution prevention and efficiency of resource use.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that understanding the views of its
stakeholders lays a solid foundation for the long-term growth
and success of the Group. It develops multiple channels to
a broad spectrum of stakeholders in order to provide them
with the opportunity to express their views on its sustainability
performance and future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust
and respect, the Group is committed to maintaining enduring
communication channels, both formally and informally, with
stakeholders, to better shape its business strategies that
respond to the needs and expectations of stakeholders,
anticipate risks and strengthen key relationships. The Group
has identified employees, business partners, shareholders,
suppliers, government and the community at large as its key
stakeholder groups. The information collected through different
communication processes serves as an underlying basis for the
structure of this Report.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability
of the Group. The Group fully appreciates the need to build
both online and offline communication channels and provides
stakeholders with timely reports on strategic planning and
performance of the Group in order to establish a continuing
communication mechanism with the stakeholders. In addition,
the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.

Relevant stakeholder groups include the shareholders,
government and regulatory bodies, employees, customers,
suppliers and society and the public. The Group discusses with
the stakeholders through various channels for their expectations
and relevant feedback as below:

2.

B - ERELEE

HhESH(E)
BOESREREENTHERRTE
ERLAE - AEERPERBLRE
THEBEBOLEN W REEHD
R BRI BB R R A RS -
RS E R RACEBEE - k) -
B R B ORI R - AR
REELBERFARBNEZNE -

HEASHEBRBERERR BNLEE
e -EE TP HEBUAREER
NR-AREEBLRRBEEFNE
mE I MAARAREE - BT

Stakeholders Expectations Communication and Feedback
KeaE HiEE BEEEE
Shareholders e Financial results e Annual General Meeting

e Corporate transparency e Annual and interim reports

e Sound risk control e Announcements and website update
PR o HIMSEAE s BRERKRE

o BEFEHE
o TEREBRIEH

Government and regulatory °

bodies e Relevant conferences
BT R EEE Wt o BEREEER

o SR

Employees e Career development platform
e Salary and benefits
e Safe working environment

e Provision of employee training and
safety awareness enhancement

il
il
[ ]

BEZERYE
o FrekEM
s REMIERE

s REBREEINERLZE2ER
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Compliance with laws and regulations

o FHRLFHEHE
o RERMEER

e Company’s filings and announcements
e \Work conference and discussion
e HERKASE

o TEEi M

e Staff meetings and activities
e Staff training
e Staff handbook

e BTEFWAD
o EEFII
o BT

73




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B - tERELHE

2. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued) 2. BIXESHE(E)

Stakeholders Expectations Communication and Feedback
BaE HiEE BiEEEE
Customers e Protection of customer rights and e Company visits
interests e Product exhibitions

e Customer information security
=P s REFPEF RER LIVANSIP il

s EPFEERE o EmERR
Suppliers e Integrity cooperation e Company visits

e Business ethics and credibility e Regular evaluation on suppliers
HAER o WEAIE LIVNSIE il

e BEBEILEER o EHRRT(LMELIER
Society and the public e Environmental protection e QOperation handbook and guidance

e Social welfare

e Provide job opportunities
HERAR o IRIFIRE

o HEREAH

o RUETIEKE

e Charity and voluntary services
e Company’s website

o BRIEFMANIERE

o EREREIMRY

o NAEIHE

We engaged our management and employees who are usually
in communication with our stakeholders to identify material
ESG issues. Through this approach, we identified areas for
improvement in our daily operations to achieve environmental
and social goals. During the Year, no material ESG issues arose
from our engagement with stakeholders.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group acknowledges our responsibility to protect the
environment. As such, we have integrated environmental
considerations into our business operations, including but
not limited to improving our environmental practices through
minimising pollution, utilising energy efficiently and reducing
waste in our daily operations. In particular, the Group keeps
minimizing the environmental impacts and reducing pollution
from its operations with the following methods:

3.1 Reduce Energy Consumption

o Maintaining room temperature at above 25.5°C;
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3. PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT
(continued)

3.1 Reduce Energy Consumption (continued)

Adopting timers or plug load controllers to turn the
lights on and off before and after office hours;

Switching off electronic products and office equipment
when idle;

Constantly upgrading the facilities and equipment to
increase energy efficiency, and prioritizing the use of
green technologies in business operations;

Procuring energy efficient electrical appliances with
energy efficiency labels to reduce indirect GHG
emission whenever practical;

Placing “Green Message” reminders on office
equipment and workplace to further enhance
employees’ environmental awareness; and

Establishing energy targets and indicators, as well as
the implementation plans.

3.2 Reduce Paper Consumption

Promoting paperless office by using own internal
administration system to reduce the use of paper in all
levels of our management;

Encouraging use of electronic means of
communication such as email, intranet, WeChat and
Zoom, to manage daily process; and

Using duplex printing and reuse single-side printed
papers.
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3. PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT
(continued)

3. RERIE ()

3.3 FKAMH

e Set up water meters at multiple locations to monitor o FERRUKER - BEEAKAMR M
the water consumption, detect and avoid abnormal MREEMBEESFERRN
usage as early as possible;

3.3 Water Consumption

e Inspect pipelines regularly, check and repair the water o THRHKEER BREWEBEK
pipes leakage to avoid wastage; and ERRITEKRAIREBER &

e Turn off the faucets when not in use. o  TEARREEIEI/KEESE -
Environmental Performance RRERE

RIBRRE HERERBEHES

BN ANFEE8ER R ERA A

In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide, our
environmental performance of “Energy and Resources Use”

during the Year are tabulated below: FIRREHRN T XIERETR :
Energy and Resources Use BENFR R B IR (&
Unit 2024 2023
Efi 2024 £ 2023
Electricity kWh 21,209,954 19,835,411
B TR
Unleaded Petrol L 27,066 7,920
i s D NS
Diesel L 27,202 28,686
4o AF
Water m3 180,189 163,999
X AV
Paper KG 14,158 10,938
MR T

During the Year, there were no non-compliance cases
reported in relation to use of resources within the Group.

BERBRNTEREM -
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4. WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND EMPLOYEE 4, TFRIBERETHRE
DEVELOPMENT

4.1 Human Capital and Vocational Training

41 ANHEBEARRBEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has a total of
3,519 employees, the majority of which are between
20 and 40 years old. The Group strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations to prevent child labour and
forced labour. The Group encourages its employees to
improve their motivation, concentration and innovation.
Due to the epidemic situation, we mainly provided online
training totaling more than 500 hours, with a total of
more than 7,000 participants and successfully improved
our employees’ professionalism and proficiency in every
aspect. Pursuant to the requirement of the Listing Rules,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending training courses or reading
relevant material relating to corporate governance and
regulations to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Group endeavors to attract and cultivate highly
skilled technical personnel with various benefits and
packages. Both Shenzhen Wai Chi and Huizhou Wai Chi
Electronics Company Limited have been accredited by
local governments as high-tech enterprises and enjoyed
corresponding tax concessions.

The Group adopts a monthly performance appraisal system
to evaluate employees’ performance with scientific and
comprehensive indicators, the results of which are used
as important references for employees’ salary adjustment,
promotion and annual bonus rating. We encourage
employees to explore their own strengths. Without being
limited by their positions and profession, we respect
employees’ personal career planning, and support them
in trying and taking up challenges in different areas. The
Group opens up horizontal and vertical career paths, and
always puts the talented and competent people as the first
priority.

The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated on the
performance of employees with reference to the market
condition. The Remuneration Committee was established
to ensure formal and transparent procedures for setting
policies on the remuneration for the Directors.
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4. WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND EMPLOYEE 4, THIREBEREBIERE(E)
DEVELOPMENT (continued)

4.1 Human Capital and Vocational Training 41 AHEFRREBEEE ()
(continued)

Staff Composition BIMAR
Employees’ Age and Gender Distribution 1E B F e Rt F 7716
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Age Group F Y4 R 354 (g g
0-15 0-15 0% 0%
16-20 16-20 18% 21%
21-30 21-30 28% 25%
31-40 31-40 31% 30%
41-50 41-50 19% 20%
51-60 51-60 4% 4%
=61/>61 =61/>61 0% 0%
Total st 100% 100%
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
By Gender B RIE S 754 fhtE
Male B 56% 48%
Female g 54% 52%
4.2 Workplace Safety 42 BEEZE
The Group is committed to providing employees a safe SERNAREIRHZERERD
and healthy working environment, abiding by the Labor THERE BT (REARILAM
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s BENRYM(PEARLME L EE
Republic of China on the Protection of Rights and Interests REmREE) R HMEANERE
of Workers, and other applicable laws and regulations. HoEEYWEERSGR AR - S
The Group conducts strict and effective management with Y BEREZETERER RN
respect to personnel, machinery, objects and operating R THHRERLZ2AEH UH
methods in the production sites, carries out Safety Month ERRTHERETEERTR -

activities on a regular basis and announces the inspection
and evaluation results to all employees.
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4. WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND EMPLOYEE
DEVELOPMENT (continued)

4.2 Workplace Safety (continued)

All new employees will be given a Staff Manual to ensure
that they are informed in a timely manner of the Company’s
general information, regulations and corporate culture
etc. We regularly review and update the contents of the
Staff Manual to keep up with the Company’s strategy and
development plan, and announce such contents timely
on the Group’s internal websites immediately after any
changes are made. In addition to making timely payments
for the pension and insurance on a pro-rata basis as
required by law, the Group also regularly purchases
commercial accident insurance for its employees.

There was no official record of any fatal accident, major
work-related fatalities and work injuries, lost working days
due to work injury in the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the data of
the Group’s work-related injuries and fatalities are listed as
below:

B - ERELEE

4. THFRERETERE(F)

4.2

%= 2 ()
MABBTIHZRBTFM  BR
EETRHERAR—RER &
BREREXS - I i
FHETIFMASR AEZRAAF
ERRERAL  TRHEREAR
BEUDT - REK R E TIHRAE
BEAER AR IREZER
RIS BTHABTIHENEE
SMRER -

RMEPAT EBETNERAILS
TESRATEmMBERTIERS -

HE2024F12A31HIEFE &
EEARTETHEERNT

2024 2023 2022
2024 £ 2023 F 2022 F
Number of work-related A TEMmILT A AEK
fatalities AL & 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury B T4 i 18 5L #) TE R £X 0 0 0
4.3 Care for Our Employees 43 BETHEZE

Each subsidiary of the Group sets up a labor union. Funds
are appropriated to such unions on a regular basis for
labor union activities, collection and resolution of staff’'s
suggestions and requests in order to protect interests
of individual employees. Collective birthday celebration
activities are organized regularly for the employees,
featuring delicious meals, entertainment programs and
birthday presents. A special fund for caring donations is
set up by the Group and accrued monthly to help staff in
need, making them feel cared for and developing a sense
of belonging.
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5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

80

5.1 Supplier Relationships

The Group adheres great importance to the collaboration
with suppliers and believes deeply that establishment of
a cooperation relationship with suppliers would enhance
the continuous improvement on the Group’s workflow
and product quality. The Group conducts comprehensive
evaluations of suppliers on a regular basis. In addition
to reviewing factors such as brand and product quality,
suppliers’ environmental and social responsibility
performance is one of our primary considerations when
establishing strategic relationships. In considering building
partnership, we will give priority to companies holding
ISO14001 environmental management system certification.

All information of the suppliers are maintained in the
ERP system. A supplier assessment mechanism is in
place to perform a strict selection of suppliers in respect
of qualification, material quality, intellectual property
qualification and price in order to ensure the suppliers meet
the production standards in terms of raw material quality,
price and production capacity.

5.2 Price Management Mechanism

A reasonable and effective price management mechanism
is set up. A quotation team reviews material prices,
compares and monitors the prices of each kind of materials
and submits timely reminders and a periodic summary, so
as to make the procurement fair and transparent and to
maintain healthy competition.

5 HEEEE
5.1 HEREERR

AEBFTEGREHER 2 HANE
£ BREHEEEEISIEREE -
EWAEETH N EEERERE
Eﬁ'zuug $Elﬂiﬁﬂﬁﬂ;§rﬁk
SETE hREAREIERES
ﬁlﬁﬁl\'E%*“Hﬁl?ﬂ%ﬁw
HEFNRENMGTSEETERRER
MEF-—BHEEZERZ Mg
BB B EEUSO14001 IR IEE 12
RRRBNDREERE KM -

P B B B FHY L ERP R 45t EPiE
& BITHERESES  BHE
BMEE MHmE - %D%F%éfg
RERBEREGE  BREBHER
MHHRE BN EERNES
A FEERE -

5.2 EEEEHKE

BYAEAYMEREERS R
EREEHUMBERETESZ XL
REFPRESEMHNEBRLY
REE1E - B M FFIREE - ERAEAR -
ERBITIERVER RERMERS -
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6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

6.1 Qualification Certificates

We have been granted several qualification certificates,
including ISO 9001:2008, ISO 14001:2004 of Quality
and Environment Management System Certificates, and
ISO/TS 16949:2009 of Quality Control System Certificates.
By stringent and careful implementation of the management
and control systems, the Group maintains an excellent
standard in the industry for the quality and reliability of its
product.

6.2 Product R&D

In response to the rapid technological advancement in the
LED backlight and LED lighting industries, the Group has
been maintaining strong R&D capabilities, upgrading the
skills required in the production processes and actively
improving the production technologies. The Group’s R&D
centre has core competitiveness in the industry, and its
professional and dedicated R&D team has developed on its
own more than 1,000 LED backlight and lighting products,
which have obtained 288 (2023: 272) patents in China
and Hong Kong. Some products have been recognised by
the Science, Industry, Trade and Information Technology
Commission of Shenzhen Municipality as “Independent and
Creative Products of Shenzhen”.

6.3 Quality Control

The Group has fully adopted quality management system,
and every employee involved is responsible for the
product quality. We strive to achieve flawless and smooth
procedures from understanding customers’ needs to
providing after-sales services. The Group has purchased
a series of advanced production and testing equipment
with professional technical engineers, committing to
improving production technology and enhancing output
efficiency and product passing rate. There are strict quality
control processes from procurement, design, production
to storage. Such processes include incoming materials
management, sample reliability testing, quality inspection
during the process, ultimate quality control and quality
assessment experiment for the final products.

Through the quality assessment experiment, the yield rate
was improved and the product return rate was 1.1% in
2024 (2023: below 1%).
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6. EmEE (&)
6.4 ERRIFHEEEHE

6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

6.4 After-sales Service and Information

Maintenance

We undertake the responsibility for each product and
provide customers with warranty and replacement services.
After the expiry of warranty period, we can continue
to provide maintenance services and only charge for
necessary costs. We have been well-received for providing
excellent products and services to our customers. There
are no substantial complaints, returns or reworks arising
from product quality problems during the year.

We strive to protect customer information. All customer
information is maintained in ERP system. Different
management and operation permissions are assigned
to each process and position. The system information is
updated in a timely manner, with layered audit and offsite
backup to ensure the information of every customer can
be properly kept and maintained. The Group is committed
to protecting customers’ data and privacy. Unless the
customer’s consent is obtained, the collected customer
information will not be used for promotional purposes.

7. ANTI-CORRUPTION

7.1 Inspection Mechanism

The Group pursues business ethics and is committed
to operating with integrity. Any form of bribery, fraud,
extortion, corruption and money laundering is strictly
prohibited. The Group has established an inspection
mechanism to regularly scrutinise the implementation of
regulations in each department, and is devoted to reducing
adverse effects on the day-to-day business activities
caused by improper operation and supervision.

Additionally, the Group has implemented an effective
Internal Manual on inside information or price sensitive
information and provided separate channels for the
reporting of any suspected business irregularities, frauds
and corruptions. During the Year, no incident of corruption
was reported within the Group. There was no non-
compliance in relation to corruption or money laundering
related laws and regulations during the Year.
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7. ANTI-CORRUPTION (continued)

7.2 Internal Audit

The Group has established an internal audit department
which is directly accountable to the independent Audit
Committee and monitors and improves all procedures of
each member company in the Group, to keep the operation
system and procedures of the Company consistent with
its operational development and changes. The Group has
established a reporting and complaint mechanism and
opened internal and external channels for whistle-blowing
in order to maintain fairness, equity and high standards of
the operational mechanism.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

We are committed to social responsibility and the contributions
to environmental protection through the development of new
LED energy-saving products. We actively participated in the
government’s street lamps replacement project and popularized
the positive effects on saving resources by replacing the
traditional lamps with LED lamps. We are committed to fostering
a caring and inclusive society through meaningful community
engagement. In the past year, the company participated in the
Chinese New Year Warmth Visit initiative, supporting elderly
residents at Caritas Yuen Long Elderly Community Centre. By
sponsoring essential winter supplies and festive Cantonese
opera performances, Wai Chi Holdings contributed to spreading
warmth and joy during the festive season. This initiative reflects
the Company’s dedication to social responsibility, promoting
well-being and a sense of belonging among the elderly in the
community.

SUMMARY

The Group adheres to the corporate culture of “bring light into
life”, and has been persistent in making contribution to the
development of global lighting industry with superb technology,
reasonable prices and quality services. We strive for excellence
and continuous innovation, aim to create more environmentally
friendly products, commit to the practice of environmental
protection, promote energy conservation and bring about
benefits to customers, shareholders, employees and the whole
society.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIUKBERE

..... o
.0..... SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited BEXRPR(EE)GHNEEABRAT
0.0.0 17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House, g EE LT E3115%
311 Gloucester Road, EERELEASKBITHE

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WAI CHI HOLDINGS COMPANY
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Chi
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
91 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of inventories

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in Note 5.

The key audit matter
FARERSE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ERE

PSR E B
FARBEZEREARMNEXZHEHRSE X
RSN EREANERIFTRRSERN
FH-ZFFERBMERENDEAVBR
RARBTEKEBERLNES TERE MR
AT REEFFRERBILER

FEME
ERRE IR 21 RV 385 BR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMREBELRNARERRER

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately HK$254,828,000. Provision
of inventories impairment of approximately HK$17,200,000
was recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024.

We have identified the valuation of inventories as a key
audit matter because of the involvement of significant
management judgement and estimation in identifying
inventories with net realisable values that are lower than
their carrying amounts, and obsolescence, with reference
to the selling prices and condition of inventories.

R2024F 12 A31 8 » 7 & /M Bk E B 4 & 254,828,000
B HE2024F 12 A1 HILEE - OCHERATFERE
B 5 4917,200,000 58 7T ©

HRESZFENEEMRR BN T2 FEEREER

EENTFERREBRE P REXNEEEH 6 &b
B K EHERR S HBREZFE -
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Our audit procedures were designed to assess management
estimation and judgement on the assessment of net realisable
values of inventories and identification of obsolete items
based on their subsequent usage and sales and selling prices
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and current
market conditions.

We have assessed the net realisable values and utilisation of
inventories subsequent to the end of the reporting period and
discussed with the management about the adequacy of the
allowance and provision made by the management based on
subsequent usage and sales, individual market price, ageing
analysis and current market conditions. We have challenged
the assumptions and critical judgements used by the
management by assessing the reliability of the management’s
past estimates.

BPMNEZREFEERBRECARBERREREHR
BREBUREATR FAEEERFERZ IR FENG
N RIREF G R AT KA -

B’\qﬁlﬁiﬁﬁﬂi{é ZAEHEEENT 2R FELB AT
VL ERERBREERRHEMRR fl%Umiﬁf“Tﬂ
u“ DT RERTIAMEL R ER S TR EE EEE&E?TET.:W’
BB B EE EEJ"LE%.#EI’J—J el BEEEMRA

B R AR K B 5 Il IR R

85




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B MRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of trade receivables

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in Note 3.

The key audit matter
FAREZER

PSR EF % B 1A (1)

B R4 {E
BRI R 22 RN 3 B 5K -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERRERENARERAEER

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables was
approximately HK$980,962,000, net of allowance for impairment losses
of approximately HK$38,829,000.

The Group applies simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to measure
expected credit loss (“ECL”) which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been assessed individually
for trade receivables with significant balances or credit-impaired, or
assessed collectively using a provision matrix for trade receivables
which shared credit risk characteristics. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates for the trade receivables and are
adjusted for forward-looking information and involves a significant degree
of judgement.

We identified the loss allowance for trade receivables as a key
audit matter because of the significance of trade receivables to
the consolidated financial statements and the assessment of loss
allowance for trade receivables is inherently subjective and requires
significant management judgement, which increases the risk of potential
management bias.

R2024F 12 A31 B + 30k BB &5 18 3 5 47 38,829,000 8 T 1% » UL
BR 7K B BR T B /5 #9 980,962,000 7 T ©
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Our audit procedures were designed to assess
the assumptions and estimation adopted by the
Group on the assessment of expected credit
losses model of trade receivables.

We have assessed the reasonableness of
management’s assumptions and estimation
for impairment by examining the information
used by management, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data and
evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE BB R BB R GRS B IS SRR R 4R

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BT (&)

STATEMENTS (continued)

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used o My BERREFMERAgHEENE
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related EUHAREREF AT REEEENEG
disclosures made by the directors of the Company. B

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ e ¥ BRAREFRARBBELEEEGS
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the SEREE MR 4R - WIRBRFTERME
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists ZRE  METEATEHEAEERY B
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt SERBBEKERENELEERRENSZIE
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we HERBEHERTETEEZ - MEM
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to BEFrrE AT EERE  BIRMER
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in ZHMmEPREEIGEVHERET
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are RMERAYREE - ki E BREERETR - Al
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based AIRMOER -BRMOERDERER
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s ZHRI RS BT ESHNEZRE -
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the A RAREBEKBAIEES E5E
Group to cease to continue as a going concern. TREFFEICEHTE o

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the e AV BMENERBEZI SN &
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, BRAR (BREBEESE) AREEHTH
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the WREAAFE2IHEER S REIE -
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Plan and perform group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate e HBVAHTEEEZIIE Ut B&
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities NEBIEBECNTBELERRT
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an CTHENBEZRE (EAY BES£EY
opinion on the Group financial statements. We are responsible BHRERBERZEANER - KMEEES -
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work EERBHNAETEEREZMAITHNE
performed for purpose of the group audit. We remain solely BIE - BMEABMMNEZE L EE
responsible for our audit opinion. B o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B MRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wang Kei

Practising Certificate Number: PO7788

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
HERaER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fff 5 FHT FET
Revenue BXE 7 2,372,277 1,085,768
Cost of sales $HE R (2,026,171) (1,717,167)
Gross profit EX 346,106 268,601
Other income H AUz A 7 77,313 72,543
Other losses, net HibEsiE )55 9 (58,014) (33,676)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HAX (42,805) (37,880)
Administrative expenses TTBRS (130,484) (115,673)
Research and development expenses e (85,546) (77,172
Finance costs BFH P AR 10 (52,036) (37,848)
Profit before tax F 58 A0 F R 54,534 38,895
Income tax expense R8> 11 (7,577) (2,164)
Profit for the year FENB 12 46,957 36,731
Profit for the year attributable to: UTALTEEFEERE :
— Owners of the Company S N/NEIE ZS PN 46,679 36,417
— Non-controlling interests — IR AE RS 278 314
46,957 36,731
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Earnings per share sRER
Basic BN 15 0.212 0.168
Diluted s 15 0.212 0.166
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiRaRAMZEERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

2024 2023

2024 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx T

Profit for the year FERH 46,957 36,731

Other comprehensive (expense) income that BESGTEEH 7 EEHEE

will not be reclassified subsequently to BEMEE (%) K2 :
profit or loss:
Fair value (loss) gain on investment in equity EEAZANEFARLMEE
instrument designated at fair value through hammEz TRERED
other comprehensive income N fE (EE) K (3,693) 5,627

Other comprehensive expense that may be HEGEEH 7 EEEZEL

reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: BME2EAY :
Exchange differences arising on translation of BREBINEGHBRRES

financial statements of foreign operations HIE 5 Z= %8 (18,479) (2,016)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of & — M B 2 B im kR

a subsidiary bE 3 (1 - (4,820)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FEHEHMEAMS (22,172) (1,209)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZERAEHAE 24,785 35,522
Total comprehensive income UTATEEFEE2EIRE

for the year attributable to: M

— Owners of the Company —ARRNAHEEA 24,347 34,951

— Non-controlling interests — IR = 438 571

24,785 35,522
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HaEMERAER

As at 31 December 2024 2024912 A31H

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
Bff 5 FiExT FHET
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BERRE 16 292,557 331,093
Right-of-use assets TREEE 17 57,795 27,435
Investment property B 18 20,000 23,700
Financial assets at fair value through BARER AER
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) ([BAAEAERE]D
ZEMEE 19 7,983 7,809
Financial asset at fair value through other BEAREFAEMET
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") W ([EARERA
Hihzmks!) 2
TREE 20 13,626 17,319
Deferred taxation assets RIETHIEEE 28 10,701 11,927
402,662 419,283
Current assets MBEE
Inventories EE 21 254,828 265,803
Trade receivables JE UK BR 3k 22 980,962 880,858
Bills receivables e 22 170,361 110,769
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTSRIE - e REAM
receivables e U IE 23 79,318 71,785
Amount due from a related party JEU— R E AN T 39 - 7,614
Income tax recoverable Al B P R 1,470 1,694
Derivative financial assets TEEMEE 29 21,166 =
Pledged bank deposits EEPRITER 24 516,846 283,709
Bank balances and cash RITEB LB S 24 328,878 357,208
2,353,829 1,979,440
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade payables FE AT BR 3R 25 570,854 539,744
Bills payables e =& 25 796,634 637,557
Other payables and accruals o FE A A R
TEiIRE A 25 75,797 67,215
Amount due to a related party JET — % BAE A T FUIR 39 1,080 -
Contract liabilities BHAER 26 1,639 993
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E A AR 27 347,604 271,400
Derivative financial liability METmAaRE 29 14,255 =
Income tax payable FET TS HR 13,368 5,372
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 7,147 4,165
1,828,378 1,526,446
Net current assets mEEEFE 525,451 452,994
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTEEE 928,113 872,277
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEeMEKAR

As at 31 December 2024 2024912 A31H

2024 2023
2024 FF 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% T8 T
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Deferred taxation liabilities RIEHIBBAR 28 390 390
Government grants B 4 B 30 497 508
Lease liabilities HEBRE 17 30,665 3,175
31,552 4,073
Net assets BEERE 896,561 868,204
Capital and reserves BERREE
Share capital fig A 31 2,197 2,197
Reserves s 891,174 864,322
Equity attributable to owners of RATRIHEE AEL
the Company M 893,371 866,519
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR A 3,190 1,685
Total equity s 896,561 868,204
The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 226 were FUNE26BEME A M BIREREN2025F 3
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 RA31BERESEGHERKETE WHT
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: REEE -
Mr. Chen Chun Po Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu
PREEFEEAE kEmiZ L
Director Director
EFE EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHRERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ROTRRARE

Share - Shares held
based  forthe Non-
Share Share  Capital compensation shareaward ~ Statutory Translation Revaluaion ~ Merger  Retained controlling
captal  premium  reseve  reseve  scheme  reseve  reseve  reseve  reseve profits Total interests
HEHER
WRARR  EEs
B%  RiFEE i 2RR EERE ERGE At RENE Aif FERER
HKS000  HKS$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
Tén  TEn Tén TRT  TEn  TEm Tén TEn  TEn  TEm
(Note a) (Note b)
(Wita) (Kitb)
At 1 January 2024 HAMUE1A1A 2107 334850 - 5516 (12 met (56,079 139 M5 466027 866519 1685 868,204
Proft for the year FEAE - - - - - - - - - leTe 46T M 4697
Other comprehensie [expense) ncome. EE A2 (B %) i :
forthe year:
-frvaebssoninvestmentn - —EEARDAET AL
equity nstument designated [eRENE ERT
atfar value through other ARBNLERR
comprehensive income - - - - - - - (3,693) - - (3,693) - (3,693)
- exchange dirences arisng -BEBNERERER
on ranglaion of fnancie EEMESEE
statements of foreign
operations o a S c - - (186%) - - - (1863 160 (18479)

Total comprefensive [expense) noome. 2 (B 8

forthe year - - - - - - (18639 (3,693 - 46,679 4347 438 24,785
Forfeure of share options R > = = (329 : > = = - 35 - - -
Recogrifion of eqty-setted RaNEREEIRE

share-hased payment eoenses XTHUEER - - - 11 - - - - - - 115 - 116
Captalingction by anon-conoling. ~ ~ BB AR

interest of a subsidary rote 34 GRS - -0 - - - - - - X I 1 TV
Vested sheres for share awrds AROEBERRG = - - (12) 12 = - - = > - - -
Transler &g = - = = - T - - - e o = =
At 31 December 2024 RN ETR 2107 WMB 2 5 - RS (M) 369 MB  S6AT 883 410 8956t
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeEaERR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

Atrioutable to owners of the Company

LI
Shares held
Share based forthe Non-
Share Share compensation  shareaward  Stetutory  Transhaton  Revaluation Merger  Retained contraling Totdl
coptdl— premium 6SENVE scheme 6SIVe 6SEIVe 6SEIVe TeSeNVe profts Told  interests equty
SRhED
WEOBE 8%
Bx  RiaE BE  ZBh trBE  EXBE  ERBE  AWGE  AENE A HiRER 4R
HKS000  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$00D
TRt  fTEn TR TEn TR TAn TR A TR TR TR TR
(Note g) (Note )
(Fita) (W)
At January 2023 RABEIA1A 2168 3147 1955 - 67,619 (48.980) 1,769 34,561 434,062 825,287 1114 826,401
Proft for he year FEAE - - - - - - - - B4 B4 o %t
Other comprehensive (xpense) ncome.~ EEEH2E (BR) s :
forthe year:
~fairvalue gan on ivestment n -ERERDAE AL
equiynstrument designated AMhaZERIAR
at fairvalue trough other E0rBRE
comprehensive income - - - - - - 5621 - - 561 - 560
- exchange diferences arsng -BEBNERIRRE
on ransaion of nanci EHESEE
statements offoreign
operations - - - - - 21 - - - (2213 287 2016
-rekaseof echenge eseneupon— —INHE-RMBLARE
disposalof asubsicary RERRER - - - - - (¢820) = = = £820) = (4820
Tole comprehensive (eosnse)ome—~ FE2E (B hia 8
forthe e - - - - N I - ET us W B
Issue of shares for hereavard scheme. A 2B EE R 9 - - ) - - - - S - - -
Recogriton f equty-setted TEREENRARA
share-based payment expenses FERR - - 6,261 - - - - - - 6,261 - 6,261
Vsted shares for share awards SRO%BERRG - 2708 1) 17 - - - - - - - -
Tl £ - - - - 3 - - ) - - -
At 31 December 2023 R203E12A31 2197 334,850 5516 (12) 1,161 (56,073) 7392 34,561 46697 866,519 1,685 868,204

96

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | {52 RER A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HFeHEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

Notes:

(@

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are required
to appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses)
as determined in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in
the PRC, to statutory reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital of the relevant subsidiaries. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity owners.

Merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of the
issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation
over the consideration paid for acquiring these subsidiaries.

In 2013, as part of the pre-listing reorganisation, the Company issued 135
ordinary shares of HK$1,000,000 each which, through its subsidiaries, were
used to subscribe for new shares issued and allotted by Wai Chi Group
(HK) Limited and became the holding company of the Group. The difference
between the proceeds from the issuance of shares and the then share capital
and capital reserve subscribed was recognised in the merger reserve.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES TR E
Profit before tax F 54 A A 54,534 38,895
Adjustments for: FHEDATEIA
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- BELREBNE 51,824 49,430
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 4,688 4,718
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - MENMZBEEIE
equipment 4,770 424
Property, plant and equipment written off VI - R K R I aE 24,270 1,200
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEfBARESE - 199
Net impairment losses on trade receivables, FEMAR R H ith B UK IA &2
other receivables and prepayment AN RIEREEIB R 37,613 20,975
Provision of inventories impairment GFERERE 17,200 15,975
Loss on fair value changes of investment property & ¥ 2 A EEFEE 3,700 1,000
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL A /o Ext A Bz 2 &/l
BEZAAEES (174) (176)
Unrealised gain on derivative financial instruments #1744 @t T B 2 R 838 Uk s (7,012) -
Bank interest income RITFBUA (43,967) (29,162)
Finance costs B 75 K AR 52,036 37,848
Equity-settled share-based transactions AR EE AR N T2
5 (210) 6,281
Government grants BT B (24,960) (37,913
Operating cash flows before movements in EEECEPRILE
working capital BenE 174,312 109,694
Increase in inventories FEE (10,921) (8,328)
Increase in trade receivables JFE UK BR ZR A% 0 (146,223) (124,772)
(Increase) decrease in bills receivables FE U 45 (3E0) /A (63,352) 23,271
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, deposits and ~ TE{NFUE ~ 24 & H fth fE U
other receivables SRIE (2 00) 8 (16,042) 20,578
Increase in trade payables JE < BR FRAE A0 41,108 151,657
Increase (decrease) in bills payables FE T AR IE 0 O 4) 175,240 (289,377)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities ABHERFEMNORD) 677 (9,743)
Increase (decrease) in other payables and accruals £ b & 1~ 7038 & T 12 & F 1 hn
GRL) 9,291 (4,498)
Cash generated from (used in) operations LEmELA(FTA)RE 164,090 (131,518)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB ST (1,869) (4,419)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING rEEHAEELE(PAA)ESE
ACTIVITIES R 162,221 (1385,937)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeEReiER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4
NOTE HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received B F B 59,026 58,901
Placement of pledged bank deposits TFABEBIRITER (6,086,180) (242,337)
Placement of fixed deposits with maturity FEINHABRA=M@AZ
date more than three months TEHATE 3K (25,729) -
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REEEBETER 5,843,543 515,048
Withdrawal of fixed deposits with maturity EREHBEBB=EAZ
date more than three months TEHATE 3K - 169,204
Repayment from a related party —HREEALTENR 7,559 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B EW ¥ - BE M&E (65,666) (106,456)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HE W% - BE M&E
equipment ZIECE S 7,385 38,054
Cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBARIRE
Pipfes 33 - (239)

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING EEE (FTR) TEAE

ACTIVITIES ReFH (260,062) 432,175
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB
Interest paid EATFE (52,036) (37,405)
New bank and other borrowings raised FTIBIRIT R E M AR 430,113 591,075
Advance from a related party —HREBEALTBR 1,095 -
Capital injection by a non-controlling interest ~ — &1 B /8 /2 &) FE#5 A%

of a subsidiary EmEE 3,457 -
Government grants received B U AT 47 B 24,960 21,466
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EEBITREMER (351,067) (760,860)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEAEAR (5,779) (4,551)
Repayment of corporate bond BEAGGESH = (2,000)

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING BB EEPTEA (FTA)
ACTIVITIES REFH 50,743 (192,275)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE INCASHAND & RE&ZEEY (ORL)

CASH EQUIVALENTS HHH R (47,098) 103,963
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REJRNRERFS

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR EEY 357,208 257,912
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXSFHHTE (6,591) (4,667)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RERNRERIEE
END OF THE YEAR, represented by bank ZLEY - BIERIT
balances and cash HE MR 303,519 357,208
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

GENERAL

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands on 16 August 2013 and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 18 November 2014. Its parent
and ultimate parent is Rexell Technology Company Limited
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). Its ultimate controlling
party is Ms. Luk Fong.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Offshore
Incorporations (Cayman) Limited, Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and the address of the principal place of business of the
Company is 6th Floor, Liven House, 63 King Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) while
that of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are Renminbi
(“RMB”). For the purpose of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HK$
as its presentation currency.

The English names of all the companies established in the PRC
presented in these consolidated financial statements represent
the best efforts made by the directors of the Company for the
translation of the Chinese names of these companies to English
names as they do not have official English names.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Application of amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) which are effective
for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to Hong Kong  Classification of Liabilities as
Accounting Standards Current or Non-current and
(‘HKAS”) 1 the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on
the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current
and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related Amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the
“2020 Amendments”); and HKAS 1 - Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

Upon adoption of the amendments, the Group has reassessed
the terms and conditions of its loan arrangements. The
application of the amendments has no material impact on the
classification of the Group’s liabilities.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of supplier finance
arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

As a result of implementing the amendments, the Group has

provided additional disclosures about its supplier finance
arrangements in note 25.

102

EHEBWBHRSER(TFR
B ¥R 5 22 HI 1) S5 A (4R)

EREBTERF1 5 (55T

) #EESELTEHIETE

REHBZIEES % (2020 fE) 89

FEEFIEAT ([2020 FE1E5TE)) ; B
EBEEBE1 M #ER
FEREI B (& ([2022 F15ETF))

&

2020 BT AR BB BES AR K
ERBHOBRE  DETEREEENSSE -
BA % HE SR T 8 A BT SR BRI AE o
BENDEITEBITELTESHERE
ATREME M2 - BT MBS BE
AIAAEAGMERTESNE  URR
AEAERaERNEREBRASE
BESTEAEN 8ENERSTE
S H S o 2022 FIEETAE— BB -
EERRHELNBERZNT REE
BRBEBRR A NERTHRNS S
CEAESEARDAERD WAE
BB A SR HAS + — B B PO B B T A
RIBLIERB B E EEITEINEE -

REMZFERT AL AEBEEHF
HEERZHNGER RGNS - BRZE
ERIAHARENREDBLEBEATE -

BREBETERFTEREE
B ER &R 7 55 (155T ) t#
BEMERHYHE
AEEABEBHERRE LRS-
WERBEZERFETRIMNEE - ZE
RIARFRREEREHE BB BFE|KAME
AETHRHERRELZHHERARE
ReRnEMRBDUERRNZE

HRERZFERIAN  ARECREH
FERI R & LM 5t 25 R IR RRIMIEE -

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | 25 RER A 5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKAS 21
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®
Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards -
Volume 112

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and the

financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements and will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash
Flows” and HKAS 383 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted.

The application of HKFRS 18 is not expected to have material
impact on the financial position of the Group but is expected
to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and statement of cash flows and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group will
continue to assess the impact of HKFRS 18 on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income and derivative
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in
existing subsidiary

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiary
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

e  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
e  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

e  The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,
excludes discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

The Group recognised revenue from the sales of goods including
(i) Light-Emitting Diode (“LED”) backlight; (i) LED lighting; and (iii)
semiconductor memory chips.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered to location specified by the customers and accepted
by the customers, which is recognised at a point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the products.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those
goods to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an
agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good before
that good is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good by another party. In this
case, the Group does not control the specified good provided
by another party before that good is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods to be
provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs.

Except for the right-of-use assets classified as investment
property and measured under fair value model, right-of-use
assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. They are depreciated over
the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property is
presented within “investment property”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-
use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect
to its investment property. Leases for which the Group is a
lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct cost incurred in negotiating and arranging on operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

2024 Annual Report | F 3§

EXEBREN ()

S

B’\ZE%”XTI)DJU E BRI BmEAR
AZ BB EE LN B (IMNE) &
ﬂE’JX%T X 5 A HAE A E 2 LA R RE I
EEK(ANERBEEMETELERS
E’]f“ﬁg))\,ﬁﬁ RIREHR - UINEEHE
WEMIER NRZARITERSHHE
RINER S KA EHIEEBIER BT
TEEF]E -

EEEREANENHREEKIAR ﬁﬁ?
ERERZENEEEHRARSER

=]

MEINGAVBREME - AEEEIN
EBNEERABRSREMRBAE
FRBEAREENEH S (BB -
WARAYBERFRFEHERHRE
FEEABE 5 25 (A) RE M2 E U
BRW R EES FEEE TR -

R EBFINER (Bl H EAKEREI
EBN gD AHESRKRE—H
BRIBINETEHI M B A AR HI ) 1%
MARBHEB AREZEXZFONERE
RENMBELZEENOBERS -

=L

Wig Bl rEREREE(AIRER
By 8 77 A A BB E A s Al i th B Y
BE)EERENEBIRANAZEFTE
EHNRAR BEEERBLEAARE
BRERGHAHHERSLLE -

HABtE R A N B E L B I8 fERR

111




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to stage-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
property that is measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amount of such property is presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. The directors of the Company reviewed the
Group’s investment property and concluded that the Group’s
investment property is not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in investment property over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, the directors of the Company have determined
that the “sale” presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS
12 is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised
any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment
property as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the
fair value changes of the investment property on disposal.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recongnises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or for administrative purposes
other than construction in progress as described below are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest
in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings (continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management, including cost of testing whether
the related assets are functioning properly and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at its fair value.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property is included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value of inventories represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financiali liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses (“ECL”), through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (continuead)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “Other income” line item.

Equity instrument designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investment in equity instrument as at FVTOCI. Designation at
FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for
trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination.

Investment in equity instrument at FVTOCI is initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investment, instead, it will be transferred to retained
profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FV/TPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
Specifically:

e Investments in equity instruments are classified as
at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business combination as at
FVTOCI on initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In
addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at
FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates
or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on
different bases. The Group has not designated any debt
instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss is included in the “other losses, net”
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it
in the near term; or

e on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument).

This category contains investment in a life insurance policy. The
Group accounts for the financial assets at FVTPL.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised costs. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if () the debt instrument has
a low risk of default, (ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there are no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the debtor;

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

126

EXEBREN ()

@ T A (&)

EMEE (H)

BRI EZE (&)

Pat R EADH NEBRE - & E
BEBHBEHBOOR  ABHERNEMN
BRIASEABHARRRNENTE
ERABNAEREER - AFERR -

1= B E2 @& E
ERLHSREENBIRKRERE
ETNEZEN TR HFHZE - %
CREENHREERE 2REEH
EEERENEBREEATEHNAER
EHUE

o EITASEBAHLBERUBMEE

R&# - Pl B REMF

et

o  ERAMERALREERAMB
RERENLBEXSHNRE - M

ERABRTERARETEE RN
BE:

o ERAUREESETEMMSEE
43k

e RUBRESZESRMEERES
B e

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | 25 RER A 5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition
in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The
entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in
its entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are
not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated
as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the date of grant is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share based compensation
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share based
compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generation units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of
cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, net realisable
value of inventories and value in use of assets for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 —  Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occurs between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgement, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in packing and testing services and sourcing
business of semiconductor memory chip. The Group assessed
whether the Group should recognise revenue on gross basis
based on the requirements in HKFRS 15. The Group concluded
that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as
it controls the specified good before it is transferred to the
customer after taking into consideration indicators such as that
the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the goods. The Group has inventory risk and discretion
in establishing selling prices of the goods. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group recognised revenue in respect
of such business was approximately HK$288,077,000 (2023:
HK$208,967,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets arising from investment property that is measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s investment property and concluded that
the Group’s investment property is held under a business model
whose objective is to consume through sale, rather than to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on such investment property, the
directors of the Company have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property measured
using the fair value model is recovered entirely through sale
not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties
as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the fair value
changes of the investment property on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit or taxable
temporary difference will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised. Significant management estimation is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits or taxable temporary difference together
with future tax planning strategies. In cases where the actual
future taxable profits generated are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision
of future taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Valuation of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price for
inventories, less the estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. The management reviews the
inventory ageing listing on a periodic basis for those aged
inventories. This involves comparison of carrying amount of the
aged inventory items with the respective net realisable value.
The purpose is to ascertain whether allowance is required to be
made in the consolidated financial statements for any obsolete
and slow moving items. The Group has carried periodic review
on the net realisable value of inventory. However, the actual
realisable value of inventory is not known until the sale was
concluded. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
inventories of the Group was approximately HK$254,828,000
(2023: HK$265,803,000). Provision of inventories impairment of
approximately HK$17,200,000 was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$15,795,000).

Valuation of trade receivables

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables are based on
assumptions about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that an individual
receivable is past due as well as the Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimations
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it may
be necessary to make additional allowance for impairment to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As at 31 December
2024, the carrying amounts of trade receivables of the Group
was approximately HK$980,962,000 (2023: HK$880,858,000)
(net of allowance for impairment losses of approximately
HK$38,829,000 (2023: HK$9,323,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use-assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying amount
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets were approximately
HK$292,557,000 and HK$57,795,000 respectively (2023:
HK$331,093,000 and HK$27,435,000 respectively). No
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets were recognised during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The directors of the Company use their judgement in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not
quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. For derivative financial
instruments, assumptions are made based on quoted market
rates adjusted for specific features of the instrument. The
estimation of fair value of unlisted equity instruments includes
some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The carrying amounts of the derivative financial
assets and derivative financial liability as at 31 December
2024 are approximately HK$21,166,000 and HK$14,255,000,
respectively. The directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of financial instruments.

Fair value of financial assets measured at FVTPL
and FVTOCI

The management of the Group uses their judgements in
selecting appropriate valuation techniques for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. The estimation of fair
value of unlisted equity instrument includes some assumptions
not supported by observable market prices or rates. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amount of the investments in
a life insurance policy classified as financial assets at FVTPL
was approximately HK$7,983,000 (2023: HK$7,809,000). As
at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the unlisted
equity instrument classified as financial asset at FVTOCI was
approximately HK$13,626,000 (2023: HK$17,319,000). The
directors of the Company believe that the chosen valuation
techniques and assumptions are appropriate in determining the
fair value of financial instruments.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, (which
includes lease liabilities, bank and other borrowings, net of
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new shares issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

6. EMTH

Categories of financial instruments EMIBENER
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiET FAT
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HREEK AT ECERMEE 2,047,123 1,684,599
Financial assets measured at FVTPL BEASERABRTE
2EmMEE 7,983 7,809
Financial asset at FVTOCI BASEFAEMEERE
LERMBEE 13,626 17,319
Derivative financial assets TEEMEE 21,166 -
2,089,898 1,709,727
Financial liabilities eEMaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RHEEKNAFEZeRMEBE 1,788,872 1,614,793
Derivative financial liability TESRAE 14,255 -
1,803,127 1,514,793
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVTPL and FVTOCI, trade receivables, bills receivables,
amount due from a related party, derivative financial assets,
deposits and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade payables, bills payables, other
payables and accruals, amount due to a related party, derivative
financial liability, and bank and other borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales
and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign currency
risk. Approximately 34% (2023: 33%) of the Group’s sales is
denominated in United States dollars (‘US$”) other than the
functional currency of the group entities making the sale, while
approximate 37% (2023: 29%) of costs is denominated in US$
which are different from the functional currencies of the entities
carrying out the transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Also, trade, bills and other receivables, bank balances and cash,
trade, bills and other payables and bank and other borrowings
are denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$ which are currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

RMB AREE
uss$ ETT
HK$ BT

6.

Assets

EE

2024
2024 5
HK$°000
T8

4,466
256,111
171

&R TH (%)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

5 b (4)
B (&)
BESN - R BR R - MR SR R N H A R UK

B BITEBEES  ENERRE
NEBEREMENRBAREITREM
ERUBEEBE RIS IAING A
R ETRBLAE - AEERKE
HARMINBAENEEEEREKAE
FEREELT ¢

Liabilities

af&

2023 2024 2023
20234 2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T8 FET

3,005 129,477 -
312,030 153,883 255,387
74 = 4

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to RMB and HK$.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for US$ as the financial
assets and liabilities denominated in US$ are mainly held by the
subsidiaries with HK$ as the functional currency and HK$ is
pegged to USS.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2023: 5%) increase or decrease in HK$ against the relevant
foreign currencies other than US$. 5% (2023: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of each reporting period for a
5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign
operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan
is in a currency other than the functional currency of the lender
or the borrower. A negative number below indicates a decrease
in post-tax profit where the respective functional currencies
strengthen by 5% (2023: 5%) against the relevant currency.
For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of HK$ against the relevant
foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit and other equity and the balances below would be

£MIA (&)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

mi5 BB (48)

E¥E s (&)

BRRE DT ()
TRFAVNAEB BB T L ETAID
FERAINE £ FH ek T 5% (2023 4F : 5%)
R RRE © 5% (20234F : 5%) AR EB[A
FTEEE A BHREHNER B FTE A5
B R RREEEYINEERLIEA
BEE B R - MERE D ITE B IEAIN
EAENREESEEER  THERSE
HEHARMBEERHINEEREE5%
(20234 : 5%) FHE - ARE DT EIE
HNERE BUA Ko [A) AN 2 [ RO B S S TS 1R
HHEZ HBERAERASERA
RITHRE E W LASN EHEETE T AT ol
MABBERWNS BEEE LEEINEG
FHE 5% (2023 FF : 5%) B & B 14 F I8
o i T H AR INE BZ 1B 5% (2023 4 -
5%) BEFBREMESEXESES
HEWHARTE  MUTESEABE -

negative.
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT
Impact on profit for the year HERNF BN E
RVB AR () (5,219) (125)
HKS ST 0) (7) (3)
Notes: M5 -

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure to bank and other
borrowings denominated in RMB at the end of the reporting period.

(i) This is mainly attributable to exposure to bank balances and cash,

trade and bills receivables and trade and bills payables denominated in
HK$ at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate pledged fixed deposits and fixed deposits with banks
(note 24) and fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (note 27).
The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions
when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank
balances (note 24) and variable-rate bank and other borrowings
(note 27). It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at
floating rate of interest so as to minimise the fair value interest
rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)/
London Interbank Borrowing Rate (“LIBOR”) arising from
the Group’s Hong Kong dollars denominated bank and other
borrowings and the fluctuation of Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”)
arising from the Group’s RMB denominated bank and other
borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amounts of financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 100
basis point (2023: 100 basis point) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2024 would increase/decrease by approximately HK$4,261,000
(20283: post-tax profit decrease/increase by approximately
HK$4,045,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on its variable-rate bank
and other borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into
account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from bank balances,
pledged bank deposits, trade receivables, bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables and amount due from a related
party. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets. The carrying amounts of these balances
represent our Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL collectively by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For bills receivables, deposits and other receivables and amount
due from a related party, the Group has assessed whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group considers that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance as at 31
December 2024, approximately HK$138,182,000 (2023:
HK$162,314,000), which representing 14% (2023: 18%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer. As at 31 December 2024, approximately 56% (2023:
54%) of the total trade receivables were due from the Group’s
five largest customers. There are no other customers who
represent more than 5% of the total trade receivables balance
as at the end of the reporting periods. The concentration of
credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and
unrelated.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in PRC, which accounted for 73% (2023:
78%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the

following categories:

TR

&R TH (%)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

=E/EE (&)

A& 2 15 B /AR
AEBEEAMZEERRFRIERBIEN

Basis for recognising

Category Description ECL
ERENREESE
%5l ikt P=%
Performing For financial assets where there has been low risk of default or 12-month ECL
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit-impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
B4 RENERBEINNEERARGEERRT EREL ML 128 BHEESE
TREREERENEREE BEE—BR)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase Lifetime ECL —
in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit- not credit-impaired
impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
T &t MRV ERAREERRBEEMEYBEREEREN FERRBEESS
TREE(BE_RR) — W EHRIEERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when one or Lifetime ECL —
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated credit-impaired
future cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as
Stage 3)
E4X) BRLGHZEAEMAARARERREEXN T EN - GENRBEEESSE
ZREN AeREESHRTITR/LREERE (FBE=HKR) —HREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
s EEBRTEBSARABRENMBREEAEETRRBR MWHEHERE
AT A IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €I A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEEERBE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EE R (4)
The Group's exposure to credit risk (continued) KEFE G IZRER (&
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial TRFMZEERBIHRE D 2 AEEH
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk CHEEZEEERURAEERABR Y
by credit risk rating grades. BAEERR -
2024 2023
NA4% N03%
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carnying Loss carmying
Notes  credit rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount allowance amount
12BRAFES
Bz ABEEIR RHEEESE FESE BRBE  REFE LT R
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T Tién Tign TEL AL ThT
Tradle receivables 2 (Note Lifetime ECL (simplfied 1,019,791 (38829) 980,962 890,181 0323 880858
approach)
ERES (B3) FEERAEERR
(&(rE)
Bils receivables 22 Performing 12-month ECL 170,361 = 170,361 110,769 - 110,769
2R B 1PEAREEEER
Deposits and other 23 Performing 12-month ECL 62,204 (12,128) 50,076 56,181 (11,740) 44 441
receivables
& RABENGR ) 1DEAREEESE
Amount due fromarelated 39 Performing 12-month ECL = = = 7,614 - 7,614
party
El-2BEATHE B 12EARSEESE
Pledged bank deposits 24 Performing 12-month ECL 516,846 = 516,846 283,709 - 283,709
BEARAER ) 12EARBEEER
Bank balancesand cash 24 Performing 12-month ECL 328,878 - 328,878 357,208 = 357,208
RigBRRS B 12EARSEESR
(50,957) (21,083)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's exposure to crediit risk (continued)

Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
under HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been assessed individually
for customers with significant balances or credit-impaired, or assessed
collectively using a provision matrix for trade receivables based on
historical credit loss experience and the past due status of the debtors
and adjusted for forward-looking information as appropriate to reflect
current conditions and estimates of future conditions.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank and other
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
available unutilised trade financing and bank loan facilities of
approximately HK$1,620,034,000 (2023: HK$658,064,000),
details of which are set out in note 27.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest
time band regardless of the probability of the banks or financial
institution choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivatives financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. R T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and M EERE B FERIBER (8)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REELERE (FF)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To TEREEFBERASCHESRE - WF &
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted MAZENFE - BIRENIR € AR E H
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting REOFIEFE -
period.

As at 31 December 2024
12024 12F 31 H
More than More than

On demand 1 year but 2 years but Total
or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying

1 year 2 years 5years 5years cash flows amount
EER BB1F Bil#2fF RER

F1FER BomeE BAR5E BBSE  REN4H REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tign TR Ti#n Ti#n Tign Tign

Trade payables JEfTERSR 570,854 - - - 570,854 570,854
Bills payables ERRE 796,634 - - - 796,634 796,634
Other payables and EhEATER
accruals BRER 72,700 - - - 72,700 72,700
Amount due to a e —BEEAT
related party B 1,080 = = = 1,080 1,080
Bank and other borrowings #8717 R E £
(Note) (FisE) 347,604 - - - 347,604 347,604
1,788,872 - - - 1,788,872 1,788,872
Lease liabilties HEARE 8,170 5124 15,359 12,794 41,447 37,812
Derivative financial iabilty TS B E & 14,255 = = = 14,255 14,255

2024 Annual Report | 3k 1 49



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

R T A (&)

Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

REELEAE ()

As at 31 December 2023
R2023%F12 A31 B

More than More than
On demand 1 year but 2 years but Total
or within less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
B2 iR E B2 ABE
FAFR BIR2F BIREEF Benes FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TET TET
Trade payables FEfT RSN 539,744 - - 539,744 539,744
Bills payables APES: 637,557 - - 637,557 637,557
Other payables and HAb B 308 R
accruals BRER 66,092 - - 66,092 66,092
Bank and other borrowings BT REMER
(Note) Cipa) 271,400 - - 271,400 271,400
1,514,793 - - 1,514,793 1,514,793
Lease liabilties HERE 4,730 2,988 - 7,718 7,340
Note: Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are MiaE - SRAEEREE GBI REAMERR

included in the “on demand or within 1 year time band in the above
maturity analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the
banks and financial institution will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe
that these bank and other borrowings will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate principal and interest
cash outflows within one year will be amounting to approximately
HK$350,695,000 (2023: HK$261,908,000) and within one to two years
will be Nil (2023: HK$59,078,000).

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

&R TH (%)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

EMT AR EE

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

TREHNEREHPRBALETEN
SRTASH  URBAEE S EE
ERDREABRZBEEIERAF — =
=M

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the degree to
which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s

accounting policy.

Level 1 Total
F—1 E=H @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TExT TET TExT
Financial assets at FVTPL BOLBEHABSzEREE
Investments in a life insurance policy ~ ASRREHRE - 7,983 - 7,983
Financial asset at FVTOCI BOLEFARMZEKES
ZERMEE
Unlisted equity investment FLriE=RE - - 13,626 13,626
Derivative financial assets fTEeREE
Foreign exchange swaps HMEL B = = 8,365 8,365
Foreign exchange options HNEE E R - - 12,801 12,801
- - 21,166 21,166
Total B - 7,983 34,792 42,775
Derivative financial liabilities fTERaE
Foreign exchange forwards HhE i 5 = = 14,255 14,255
2023
2023 %
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—8 E-R F=M LS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEL TEL
Financial assets at FVTPL BAABHARRSZEREE
Investments in a life insurance policy ~ AS/Rk ERE - 7,809 = 7,809
Financial asset at FVTOCI BARERAEMZEREZ
SREE
Unlisted equity investment FEMERKTE - - 17,319 17,319
Total @Er - 7,809 17,319 25,128
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£MIA (&)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

EMT AR A EE (F)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis
are set out below:

ST AR

REFEMERNGET

&
ﬁ&im?\%ﬂﬁ (?E%‘E‘*%*’I‘i% ) HHIT

Valuation Significant Relationship of key inputs
Fair value techniques and unobservable and significant unobservable
Financial instruments hierarchy Fair value as at key inputs inputs inputs to fair values
{EERER EXRT IZMANBREATTRR
$RIE RMEER M TEHANE LELIN BAHBALAENER
RAPIPZS 311202023
NUE PR
12A318 1273817
HK$'000 HK5 000
Tin THET
Investmentsin  Ife Level 2 7,809 Quoted price by the N/A NA
insurance pohcy 220 insurance company 1 MNER
NERBERE READRE
Unlisted equity investment Level 3 13,626 17319 Market approach Mean Enterprise Value-to-sales ratio The mean of EV/Sis positive\y correlated to the
FITERKE F i (EVIS) mulpes of 1.83 2023: 089 fai value measLrement of the uniisted equity

152

PEEEEEENX([EVS)) EZ
BE1 83 (0% ossf )

Mean Price-to-book ratio (*P/B") mufiples of
1.58(2023:1.11 ) R
EAEAELE(HHR) &

BB 5B (10B% : 1.115)

Mean Enterprise Value-to-Eaming Before Interest
and Taxes ratio (‘EV/EBIT’) mulfiples was
not adopted as at 31 December 2024 (2023
17.16) which was due to the unlisted equity
investment was in loss makmiposw ion

Ro4% 12318 AR T TEGRE
HRER  HEERARXERARAH
S (EV/EBHT ) 2 8m iz (o003
F:1716%)

Mean Price-to-Eaming ratio (‘P/E') multiples was
not adopted as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
18.5) which was dug to the unlisted equity
investment was in loss mking pos |on)

R4E10A3 A ARELTER
BEE @I#%%mﬁﬁﬁﬂ%IL
(THRE|) E80mi® (2035 : 135%)

Marke tabilty discount rate of 20% (2023: 20%)
MHTRTEE20% (20235 : 20%)

investment
EVSFF LB 1T m&ﬁﬁ’]
DAETESEEE

The mean of P/B s positively correlated to the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investment

RERLALE LTRERRN

INREREERR

The mean of EV/EBIT is posiively correlated to
the fair value measurement of the unlisted
equity investment

EV/EB\T%%&EE#M%M&%

METESTEE

The mean of P/E s postively correlated to the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investment b5

PRENUGES FEEREN
PN EREEEN

The discount rate is negatively correlated to the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investment

%%ﬁﬁiﬁm%ﬁxéﬁﬁ
LrEE2ERE
Mean Price-to-Sales rafio (‘P/S') multiples was  The mean of P/Sis positively correlated to the
not adopted as at 31 December 2024 (2023:  fair value measurement of the nlisted equity
085)wh|chwasdue 0 the unlisted equity investment
was inloss making positon il G eI e
RO 2R3N E ARk ETESHEE  ALEAS2IRE

B HuERamERnEY % (| Hie))
{EZm{2 (2023 : 085(%)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

£MIA (&)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

EMT AR EEE (4F)

(continued)
Valuation Significant Relationship of key inputs
Fair value techniques and unobservable and significant unobservable
Financial instruments higrarchy Fair value as at key inputs inputs inputs to fair values
{EERER EXRT IZHANBREATTER
$RIE DAEES M TEHANE LELIN BAHBALAENER
3112/2024  ERTAVIPIA]
NUE 2003%
12A31A 12318
HK§'000 HK5 000
Tin TETL
Derivative financial assets - Level 3 - Market-to-market Risk-free rate of 4.162% to 4.285% is adopted  The risk-free rate is posttively correlated to the
Forelgn exchange swaps =5 Approach and RIERRIEL162%24.285% fair value of th forelgn exchange swap
TEeHEE-ERD discounted cash fow ERRFRENERENA L EZ TS
method under income
approach
mELRREET 283
RemEt
Derivative financial assets - Level 3 12,801 - Market-to-markst Risk-fre rate of 1.088% t0 4.268%is adopted  The risk-fres rate is positively correlated to the
Foreign exchange £=h Approach and PRV E 7% 1.088% £4.268% far value of the foreign exchange options
options discounted cash fiow BEBRHEENERRNAABRIER
fTEeBAE-NESDE method under income
approach
mELRRRET 288
REMERE
Derivative financial fability - Level 3 14,205 - Market-to-market Risk-free rate of 4.162% t0.4.286% Is adopted ~ The risk-free rate is negatively correlated to the
Foreign exchange =5 Approach and FiERRAE4162%24.285% fair value of the forelgn exchange forwards
forwards discounted cash fiow BRRAZENERENAAEZEEE
fTEeBBE-NERY method under income
approach
MRz N R
REMERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(continued)

During the reporting periods, there was no transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy.

For recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy, if the marketability discount rate to
the valuation model were 5% higher/lower while all the other
variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the unlisted
equity investment would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$1,149,000 (2023: HK$1,299,000).

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial
assets on recurring basis:

(i) Financial asset at FVTOCI — Unlisted equity

£MIA (&)
Bt 35 L B 3 B R R BUR (4R)

EMT AR EEE (4F)

R|EPIR AREBR2 SREYL
mHY

TEERANBEERE=-HNEEER
REFEME  WEEEXOTERR
WERLEH, THE5%  MATA H &
EHAFETE BFELTESEENER
B3 h1#91,149,0007 7T (2023
£ : 1,299,000 7T) °

BEREEENSRAEE S RANE
B

() HASEGARMEE K e

investment TREE - LTEDIRE

Unlisted equity

investment

FEmHERRE

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 January 2023 M2023%F1A1H 11,692
Changes in fair value through other FFAEMEEKE T ANEED

comprehensive income 5,627

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7R 2023% 12 431 H %2024 1 A 1H 17,319
Changes in fair value through other FPAHMEERE s ANEES

comprehensive income (3,693)

At 31 December 2024 7R2024% 12 431 H 13,626
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. £F T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEEERBE (&)
policies (continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments ERT AR AEE (48)
(continued)
(i) Derivative financial assets — Foreign exchange swaps (i) TTHEZHEE I NEFEE

HK$’000
TAT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 7R2023F1 41H 202812 H31H
1 January 2024 20241818 -
Gain from changes in fair value NAEEH W= 8,365
At 31 December 2024 7R2024%F12 A31 H 8,365
(ii)  Derivative financial assets — Foreign exchange options (i) PTHEZFEE —SMNERIE

HK$’000
THBT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and #2023F1 A1H - 2023F 12 A31H
1 January 2024 & 2024%F1H1H -
Gain from changes in fair value AABEEB W 12,801
At 31 December 2024 7R 2024412 A31 H 12,801
(iv) Derivative financial liability — Foreign exchange (v) ITEZHE E—IMNEEF
forwards

HK$’000
THBT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and M2023F1 81H 2023912 A31H

1 January 2024 20241 A1H -
Loss from changes in fair value RABEEEE 14,255
At 31 December 2024 R 2024412 A 31 H 14,255
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. £RIT A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BERREEEERBE (&)
policies (continued)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments EMTHYRAEEE (FF)
(continued)
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying ARNBEERE e MBMEINEH
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded RAANENENERmEENERBED
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements FREEEEQAAERES -

approximate their fair values.

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WESREMITA
Revenue represented revenue arising on sales of goods WREFANEEEmEEN KR T8
excludes discounts and sales related taxes for the year. An ENELREESREHE ASEFARN
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: DT -

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fx TAET

Revenue from contracts with customers EHEBEHEEBIE 15555

within the scope of HKFRS 15 ARBEFHNIKRES
Disaggregated by major products lines BEXEEMRRESHAEA
Sales of goods HEH M
LED backlight LED &3 1,958,443 1,656,359
LED lighting LED f@ 88 125,757 120,442
Semiconductor memory chips FEBIFHROA 288,077 208,967

2,372,277 1,985,768

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T T

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts ZIERSHE I KBEEFAH
with customers by timing of recognition  BJURZS B4
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 e 5 B ]
At a point in time 7 3 (2] 5 ) 2,372,277 1,985,768
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s other income for the year is as
follows:

7. WKk HEMURA ()
REBERNNEMBBEAITOT -

Other income

Bank interest income
Government grants (Note i)
Sales of scrapped materials
Rental income (Note ii)

Hitg A
RITHBUA

HE BER

BT B (K RED

e U A 5T

Penalty income from supplier REHERHESBA
Sundry income MEBA

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi SRLTE
43,967 29,162
24,960 37,913
2,214 2,035
1,007 1,179
3,350 -
1,725 2,254
77,313 72,543

Notes:

0

(i

During the year ended 31 December 2024, government grants of
approximately HK$16,888,000 (2023: HK$21,466,000) were received
from PRC government in respect of the extra deduction from the value-
added tax (“VAT”) and certain research project and salaries subsidies
and were recognised as other income. The aforesaid government
grants were unconditional and therefore recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the current year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, government grants of
approximately HK$8,072,000 (2023: Nil) were received from PRC
government to create more value to the industry in which the Group
operates and were recongised as other income immediately. The
aforesaid government grants were unconditional and therefore
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the current
year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, government grants of
HK$16,447,000 (2024: Nil) in respect of certain assets were recognised
under other income as there are no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.

(i

HE2024E 128318 ILEE - C o (E
Tt ([HEERD Mt A RE THRE
B & T &8 8 BT U ER BT 8 B 49
16,888,000 7© (2023 4 : 21,466,000 78
T0) - WHERAEAMRA - EMEREHEA
BT AERAFELGABERBER -

B E2024F12A31AIEFE - BEAH
B8 Uk B B R 476 B 49 8,072,000 7t (2023
FE) RAKBKEMETEAEES
BE WARERAEMUA - Fl BT
HWEAEGKY BUERAFEREERE
PR -

HZE2023F12 A1 B IEFE AR IKE
% 55 17 B I 4 AT A R AR AR 1 R Ho A s R
HIH RS TEEREMBAEBETER
BT 8 B/ 16,447,000 7 7T (2024 4F : 4&) o

Gross rental income from investment property

Less: Direct operating expenses B HEEERR

REME 2B WAL

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
Ti#&x FHET
1,007 1,179
(386) 372)

711 807
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company being the chief operating decision marker (the
“CODM”) for the purposes of resource allocation and

7P E

MARRTRAR BEBEEBREA
(EEEEREAD) 2WOAH 3
BRARRIESBRAMS - FER

RIS EmTER - LS BLEDE X K
LEDMRBB R B AR HARB L+ E87F

assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
delivered. In addition, for both LED backlight and LED lighting
operations and packaging and testing services and sourcing RO RBEBRRAFTZEERRAZR
business of semiconductor memory chips, the information MER E—PBERD BTR] E%‘J&
reported to the CODM is further categorised into different types FERFE - RERTE $'§ A 2, F
of products and application of products. No operating segments B *E%?ﬁiiéi BEERKEAD E%z?j‘J 0
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the EEDHE o

reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments BEmE - *ETJ%?/% B s 3 s 42

under HKFRS 8 are as follows: RIZE89REl E’\JT EMEEHMOT -

1. LED backlight - Manufacture and trading of LED 1.LEDE¥ — HEREHETEKAN
backlight products in different sizes T A LED & ¢ E
and applications an

2. LED lighting - Manufacture and trading of LED 2.LEDMR - HERKEERELA
lighting products for public and KA AZRLED R
commercial use BAE m

3. Semiconductor -  Provision of packaging and testing 3.¥EErE - REHAKRBRESE

g&
ot
3F

memory chips services and related products EmRBES

sourcing business
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. ZEPEMN (&)
Segment revenues and results DEBUR RSN FE LR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AEEZRAZHREEDBEDHEE R
by reportable and operating segments: EESTWT
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F 12531 HIEFE
LED LED Semiconductor
backlight lighting memory chips Total
$EE
LED & % LED f2 B8 FREH agt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTi#n T FiEx FiEx
REVENUE ¢y
External sales ONERGHE 1,958,443 125,757 288,077 2,372,277
Segment profit (loss) A EFE (F1B) 122,897 9,727 (38,279) 94,345
Unallocated income AOBWA 53,975
Unallocated expenses APEEAZ (42,148)
Unallocated finance costs ROBEH R AR (51,638)
Profit before tax BREE AR 54,534
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

8. ZHEHN ()
BB ERESR (]

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & F2023FE 12531 HILFE

LED LED  Semiconductor
backlight lighting ~ memory chips Total
FEe
LED & ¢ LEDFRHA FRSA Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEL FET FET FET
REVENUE 2§

External sales HVERSHE 1,656,359 120,442 208,967 1,985,768
Segment profit o2 H) 67,212 2,301 465 69,978
Unallocated income FOERA 37,068
Unallocated expenses ROBERX (30,722)
Unallocated finance costs ROTBEH A (37,429)
Profit before tax BRER A0 38,895
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. FWMEH (&)
Segment revenues and results (continued) DEBUR S R LS (1)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same =) L DEEEEBUOR AN E ST AN S
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment EEBE R DEFE IS D E R
profit represents the profit earned by each segment without HX WFE TEERRITHER ZF
allocation of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments, e - BFEMYBA - BFTHERE
certain other income, certain finance costs and certain other FETEMKEREENDER - thTH
gains and losses. This is the measure reported to the CODM FELERARAMBEERERSE R
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance %iﬁuﬂéﬁﬁﬁ HEVFEBE o
assessment.
Segment assets and liabilities STHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AEBEIZEREESDHLEIWMEER
by reportable and operating segments: BESNOT :
Segment assets THEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TiExT FHET
LED backlight LED % 3¢ 1,622,910 1,204,504
LED lighting LED §& 5 69,774 238,423
Semiconductor memory chips FEBEFROA 129,071 134,945
Total segment assets DEPEEHEE 1,821,755 1,577,872
Unallocated assets AOBEE 934,736 820,851
Consolidated total assets EEAERE 2,756,491 2,398,723
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. DEEH (L&)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) DEEEREE (1E)
Segment liabilities PEEE

2024 2023
2024 £F 2023 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FAETT
LED backlight LED % 3¢ 1,406,310 1,037,850
LED lighting LED H2 89 68,929 175,897
Semiconductor memory chips FEEEFHOA 3,961 58,039
Total segment liabilities SEEERE 1,479,200 1,271,786
Unallocated liabilities KOBEEE 380,730 258,733
Consolidated total liabilities e BEESE 1,859,930 1,530,519

MERDMRALDEDHEERME

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

162

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
deferred tax assets, financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI,
derivative financial assets, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, certain property, plant and equipment,
investment property and certain other receivables. Assets
used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the
basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable
segments; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than income tax payables, bank and other borrowings,
derivative financial liability, deferred tax liabilities and certain
other payables and accruals. Liabilities for which reportable
segments are jointly liable are allocated on the basis of the
revenues earned by individual reportable segments.

EEESKREZZENH  RER
BHEE BAREABaRRA
AEFAEMEENEZ SREE
TEeREE SHEMRITHFN
RITERRBES ETOE -BE
K& REWERETHMORER
IR A 2] D B HRE S
M EEZE R A 28| D &S K
o R

FERESIEREZEENH BN
BH - RITEREMER  TET R
BE BRERERENRE THME
NRBARTERE AN - BT 2
By R HRAEN R BERER T2
By B SRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. FWMEH (&)
Other segment information HinnHER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HF2024 12531 HILFE

LED LED Semiconductor

backlight lighting memory chips Unallocated Total
8§

LEDE % LED R B8 ERER ROE =k
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TEx TEx Tign

Amounts included in the HASBFBG S HEE
measure of segment profitor  tEHEE:

segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets*  FEEREEE! 98,622 2,676 40 162 101,500
Depreciation of property, plantand %1% - BE R&kENE

equipment 47,434 2,243 26 2,121 51,824
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREZENE 3,941 247 500 - 4,688
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BERXEER

plant and equipment 4,341 429 - - 4,770
Property, plant and equipment %1%+ B Rk

written off 24,270 - - - 24,270
Net impairment losses ontrade  [EEF B E o el z0E

receivables and other receivables  i{EEEFE 8,960 497 17,458 10,698 37,613
(Reversal of provision of) provision 7 & (E (AERE) /&

of inventories impairment (5,651) (72) 22,923 - 17,200
Finance costs BB A 347 13 38 51,638 52,036
Amounts regularly providedto THRIEZERRA

the CODM but notincluded in BT A2

the measure of segment profit FEHFBEE

or segment assets: HENSE:
Bank interest income HIELON - = = (43,967) (43,967)

# Non-current assets excluded deferred taxation assets and financial L OERBEETBIEREEREEENREAR
assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI. Bt AB&m RIEQAA BT AEMEEEZEZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. SEPEN (&)
Other segment information (continued) Hit &R (48)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & F2023FE 12531 HILFE
LED LED  Semiconductor
backlight lighting memory chips  Unallocated Total
TEE
LEDE % LEDRRHA RS RO L

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THET TAT TAT THET

Amounts included in the AR BHRESBEE
measure of segment profitor  fEHE%E:

segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets’  AEFRIEE’ 88,894 22,995 9% 26 112,010
Depreciation of property, plantand 9% - BiE Rk &I E

equipment 35,753 7,773 1,033 4,871 49,430
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FBEZENE 3,977 741 - - 4,718
Loss on disposal of property, LENE  BRRXE

plant and equipment BB 1,200 - - - 1,200
Property, plant and equipment ~ 91%  BE LR B

written off 424 - - - 424
Net impairment losses ontrade ~ FEMUERF + EtBIFE

receivables, other receivables and  REMFUEAEFE

prepayment wE 22,299 (471) (853) - 20,975
Provision of inventories impairment 7 & B 11,949 4,026 = = 15,975
Finance costs BB 419 - - 37,429 37,848
Amounts regularly providedto EHEATEEERRA

the CODM but notincluded in BT A2

the measure of segment profit FlEH4HEE

or segment assets: HENESE:
Bank interest income FITHMERA - - - (29,162) (29,162)

# Non-current assets excluded deferred taxation assets and financial i FERNBEETBIBELEHBEENURIERA
assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI. REFFABRZEREA RSB AEMEEK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. FEEHR (18)
Revenue from major products KEFEEEMBIRES
Analysis by type of products ZEmBEFIEI 5 595 5
2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FAETT
LED backlight LED &%
— Small dimension —/NRF 178,287 192,504
- Medium dimension —F R 1,690,559 1,413,067
— Large dimension — KR 89,597 50,788
Sub-total NEE 1,958,443 1,656,359
LED lighting LED A& #H
— Indoor lighting — =R RA 123,699 118,616
— Qutdoor lighting —ZEHMNREA 2,058 1,826
Sub-total Net 125,757 120,442
Semiconductor memory chips FEEE/REOA 288,077 208,967
Total a5t 2,372,277 1,085,768

2024 Annual Report | 1 65



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. SEEMN (&)
Revenue from major products (continued) KEEXEEmBIURES (8)
Analysis by application of products HZEmEFFEI 5 595 5

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FET
LED backlight LED &
— Automobile displays —HHBETREE 1,827,836 1,491,407
- Equipment displays — BB RS 102,577 140,193
— Televisions —ER 28,030 24,759
Sub-total INET 1,958,443 1,656,359
LED lighting LED A2 A7
— Commercial lighting — P A RRAA 100,242 118,616
— Public lighting — AR 25,515 1,826
Sub-total /NEt 125,757 120,442
Semiconductor memory chips FBREFHED 288,077 208,967
Total = 2,372,277 1,985,768
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The Group’s customers are mainly located in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Taiwan.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of customers as below:

2EBEH ()
g E R

AREBENLEXHBURBTBRTE K
SENEFPIBUNER HTEKEE -

AEEREFREME D RBEINBER
MR EDHTIT

The PRC -
Hong Kong BB
Taiwan =
Others Efh

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT
1,932,927 1,546,526
260,908 111,709
78,549 206,157
99,893 121,376
2,372,277 1,985,768

The Group’s information about its non-current assets is
presented based on geographical location of the assets as
below:

AEEEEENBUEHSNERDE
EERIT :

The PRC =8
Hong Kong BB

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T8 FAT
345,877 281,747
24,475 100,481
370,352 382,228

Non-current assets excluded deferred taxation assets and
financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing
over 10% of total revenue of the Group are as follows:

FRBEETBEELCHAEEN R
AREFABEMRAREFAREME
ElsE s EREE -

FEEFEH

HEFEEPWSAEANEE AW 10%
A ERERIAT

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fx TET

Customer A' EEA

667,766 545,033

! Revenue from LED backlight segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

9. OTHER LOSSES, NET

9. HitiER R

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#&x FHET
Provision of inventories impairment GFERERE (17,200) (15,975)
Net impairment losses on trade receivables,  FEURBRER - EAih e UL
other receivables and prepayment B R IER FIERE
B85 (37,613) (20,975)
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain HNEE (518 Was ) F 58 (1,674) 4,297
Loss on fair value changes of investment WEYME NN BEREEE
property (3,700) (1,000)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEIB AR EE - (199)
Changes in fair value of financial assets BEARBEFABR EHEE
at FVTPL ZRREE 174 176
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME - BEREEZ
equipment, net E518F 58 (4,770) -
Unrealised gain on derivative financial MEeRIACRERKE
instruments 7,012 -
Others Efh (243) -
(58,014) (33,676)
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B BE R AR
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti#&x FHET
Interest on: AT S IEAFE. -
- Bank and other borrowings —RIT R H AL EFK 20,095 25,156
— Corporate bond —REIES = 123
— Lease liabilities —-HEaE 398 419
— Bills payables — B EE 31,543 12,150
52,036 37,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax: EHRE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEFE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RIS
Deferred taxation R IR
Income tax expense FrBHiAx

1. Fr8HMX

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 &

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

253 347

6,335 4,545

6,588 4,892

989 (2,728)

7,577 2,164

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying
corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of
the Group is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong
Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be
taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.
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RERSEHENEBEZES ((HERE
TEBDORAER  AEBEHAR
MHSRE LRB RIS IRMEH -

BESBHNEHRMAFESHEERSE -
A BB ENFEE 2,000,000 T8
8.25% Y Tt AL - i 8 48 2,000,000 /8
TCH R 12 16.5% L R - H 2
2024 K 2023F 12 A1 B ILFE &
SEMNAGEREREBNTEFNGSHIRE
MABABFERHEFNETE - TRHEM
BREGEREFHENETEEMAREE
B2 1) ) B H5 48 4E 2 16.5% HY B — B R A
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. IS HAX (&)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Group’s subsidiaries, Wai Chi Opto Technology (Shenzhen)
Limited* ({2 & Y & (& JI1) B IR 2 7)) and Huizhou Wai Chi
Electronics Company Limited* (B /M{ZEE T B R A R]), were
accredited as high-tech enterprises which will be expired in
2027 and 2026 respectively. They are entitled to the preferential
tax rate of 15% for both years.

Pursuant to circular issued by Ministry of Finance and
National Tax Bureau on 17 January 2019 and 2 August 2023
respectively, the small-scaled minimal profit enterprise with an
annual taxable income below RMB1,000,000 (RMB1,000,000
included) is entitled to a preferential tax treatment of 75%
exemption of taxable income and application of income tax
rate as 20% from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2023 and
further extended from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2027,
respectively. Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group were
qualified during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 1. RS HFAX (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the FEMSHRATHEGERRIRERE
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss RIAEE BRI T -
as follows:

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TExT FHT

Profit before tax B A5 A R 54,534 38,895

Notional tax on profit before tax, calculated LEBREERERAR

at the rates applicable to profit/loss in the wA BRI R E

relevant jurisdictions BRI AT BRI 4,878 8,437
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax N A] FFL 5 X T 75 52 28

purposes 8,023 3,890
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARBWANBBZE

purposes (4,367) (2,883)
Additional tax deduction for research and 2 F S B INRE B

development expenses (8,191) (8,182)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTEEBEBENT B E 5,950 1,955
Utilisation of tax losses previously not A LRI AR R IAEE

recognised - (781)
Tax effect of temporary differences not REREREZBORG

recognised TE 5,896 282
Utilisation of temporary differences previously — 2h i@ R fERE) E b5 |4 =58

not recognised (4,829) (422)
Others HAh 217 (132)
Income tax expense S X 7,577 2,164

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 28. EREERIBENFEH NN :E28 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

12. FEFIRE

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FEFMBEROBRTISEE
charging: ERC
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments EZER T BT AEEE
(note 13(a)) (FF5E13(0) 4,639 9,158
Salaries and allowances (excluding Directors & &L (B IEA R A
and Chief Executive of the Company) BEENTETHRAER) 343,616 282,258
Retirement benefits schemes contributions IRIREFET SR
(excluding Directors and Chief Executive of (TBEIERARFREZEER
the Company) FETHBAE) 29,228 28,986
Share-based payment expenses (excluding LA AT RIBR X
Directors and Chief Executive of the (TEEXARAESER
Company) FEITHAR) 115 1,346
Total staff costs BIRAERE 377,598 321,748
Auditor’s remuneration % 85 5 1,200 1,200
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R AR X BI1F S/ A&
(included in cost of sales) (Gt ASHEK ) 1,645,664 1,628,366
Research and development costs recognised — #E=2 /A F Sz B9 1 2 A A
as expenses (Note) (FF5E) 85,546 77172
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - = LR HITE 51,824 49,430
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME  BEREEEIE
equipment (included in other losses, net) (Gt AHE M EEF5E) 4,770 424
Property, plant and equipment written off VI - B R R RS
(included in administrative expenses) GFATTERAX) 24,270 1,200
Note: Research and development costs recognised as expense included Mzt BMRARIMMEXABIEE TRAL
staff costs of approximately HK$37,720,000 (2023: HK$29,938,000). 37,720,000 7T (2023 4 : 29,938,000
The amounts were also included in the respective amount disclosed JT) °
above.

172

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | {52 RER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments

1&§$~I¥ﬁﬁkéﬁﬁém

() EERFETHAEME

FADBENKENARR]EN\A
(2028F : NB)EBEEREBETHA

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2023:
nine) directors and chief executive of the Company during

the year are as follows: BEHMEwT :
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HF2024 12531 HILFEE

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
yfEs BuunEs
Mr. Chen
Chung Po Ms. Yiu Ms. Yong
(Chairman Kwan Yu Mr. Chen Jian Hui
and Chief (Sales and Wei Wu (Deputy
Executive marketing (Financial general Mr. Au
Officerof ~ managerof controllerof ~ manager of Ms. Luk Yeung Mr. Ho Mr.Yu
the Company) ~ asubsidiary)  asubsidiary)  asubsidiary) Fong Ting Wah Chi Wai ZhenYu
hamgt
(-EKE  REEE:  EEEnt
Rdt:  ATNEE  (-BRE (PR
(KATER ks DERBE i bl 7%
ATRER)  BRER) B%)  peEE) Erft RE @EERE  RETRE
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
Tin T Tén Tin Tén Tén T T
(Note a)
(Hita)
Emolmentspaid orreceivaben  BAAEAEE
respect ofaparson'ssenices (R ARFE,
as adrector, whether of the EWBRANES)
Companyand s sbsidares ~ RERBMR
undertakings: FElfES -
Fees 3 - - 150 149 150 49
Emolments pac orreceiveble  AEBAAFRE
I espect of iector's other WERANER
senices i connection with RELNHEZRE
the managementof the [BGELLE
affas of the Company and e
its Subsifaries undertakings:
Sdlares and alowance SRR 1,204 11 48 475 1040 - - 407
Retfement beneffsschemes IRz &1L
contributions 18 18 3% Pl 18 - - 17
Totd emoluments Hetg 1312 [l 53 503 1,058 150 149 150 4639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 13.EE - TETBABRESM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) £ (48)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s (a) EBRIFEITHAEHE (8)
emoluments (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 EHF20235F 12H31 HILFE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
B BUFinEs
Mr. Chen
Chung Po s Yiu s. Yong

(Chairman Kwan Yu M. Chen JanHu
and Chief (Sales and Wei Wy (Deputy

Brecutie marketing Financial generdl M. Au
Offogr of managerof  controlerof  manager of Ms, Luk Yeung M. Ho W Yu Mr. Chen
theCompany)  asubsiiany)  asubsiolay)  asubsidiany) Fong Ting Weh ChiWal ThenYu Kok Wang Told
fkEBat

(-HKE  RERRE  BRERL
REgit  NAMEE  (EME (-FHE
(R27ZE kG DRHEE D BRRZ
Rmes)  REEE) g2 ggER) Erft £E MEMRE  AERRE  REREE gt
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
Tién Thn ThL Tén Tin Thn TEn Tén Tin Thn
(Note g (Note b)
(Hitel i3

Emoluments paid orreceatle 5 @)\1’£ﬁ‘«§$
inrespect of a person's nWE \":
senioes as a directo, EE)
whether of the Company and Mﬁ EMi GE]
s subsidaries undertakings:  FEMEN NS ¢
Fees e - - - - - i 14 117 120 5%

Emoluments peid orreceivable $LEEAARRE
i espectof drecors other - HERFHER
sences i comectonwith  REEHES R
temanagementothe  MENERA
afarsof he Companyand 8% :

s subsidiares undertakings:

Salaies and alowance EoRal 1200 0 306 163 1120 - - - - 3509
Share-bsed peyment expenses b33 1 5UARR 2705 798 30 1083 - - - - - 198
Refirement benefts schemes £ /KA J?Jﬁi\
contrioutions 18 18 R 28 18 - - - - 116
Totl emoluments jiERet ] 3923 1,636 739 1224 1138 A7 144 " 120 9,168
Notes: B &E -
@  Mr. YuZhen Yu was appointed on 3 April 2023. @ FHIRFEENR2023F 4 A3AERT -
(o)  Mr. Chen Kwok Wang was resigned on 31 October 2023. (b) BREIREAR2023F 10 A 31 HEHE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments paid by the Group during both
years.

Mr. Chen Chung Po is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and the emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive
of the Company.

There were no performance related incentive payments to
the directors and Chief Executive of the Company during
both years.

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2023: three) were directors and Chief
Executive of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024. The emoluments of these directors are included in
the disclosures in note 13(a) above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2023: two) highest paid individuals for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

13. B - FETHABRESH

4=
bl

(a) EERFETHRASME ()

RMEFE  BEARREFRE
KFATREEMHE -

REEEEENBARAERITHA
8 EXHENMEBREBBRE
EARRBEETHABFAEHERS
H B o

RAEFE UEAOARBRESER
TEITHABXERBHBH L
ﬁo

(b) EEEE

REE2024F12 831 B IEFE -
rEBTEESMEATH =5
(2023 : =) BRARAIEERE
ZITHAB -ZEESEHWEER
ECHIEE13(a) #E B o IR EL = 2024
FR20283F 12 A31 B IEFE » #
TR%E (20234 : MB) mable A
TEBEmT

Salaries and allowances Fre KOER

Retirement benefits schemes contributions 38 /K42 F| 51 21

2024 Annual Report | £ #

2024 2023

2024 £F 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

T FHT

1,795 1,763

36 36

1,831 1,799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 13. 2% - FETHAEBRESM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) £ (&
(b) Employees’ emoluments (continued) (b) EEM< (&)
Their emoluments were within the following bands: ZEATHMEe N F T EE -
2024 2023
2024 20234
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHE EE#E
Not more than HK$1,000,000 % 741,000,000 % 7T 2
There were no performance related incentive payments RRBEEE @ WET A ERIE RS
during both years. K3 E o
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five RWEFE  AEBETERAL R
highest paid individuals and any of the directors and Chief BFALTUAERARARERNESKE
Executive of the Company as an incentive payment to join ZTHRABINME  EAIMAR
or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of & B ol hn A R & B 5 Y 42 B ok B B
office during both years. i -
14. DIVIDENDS 14. [ 2
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of REE2024F 12 A31B L FEHER
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024, nor AAREBRRIRNSKEZIRATRE -
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting EREHARENTERZRZRENEMRNRKRE
period (2023: Nil). (20234 : &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BIREF

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted {5t B &I EA K #58

earnings per share BNAENRR 46,679 36,417
2024 2023
2024 20234
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  {EstE SR EABF AR
for the purpose of basic earnings per share TR NAE T8 219,672,397 216,871,575
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEHSTBERMNTE
Share awards % 1 22 &h 52,603 2,805,479
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ezt EERESER T AR L
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share & 38 I AN 3 159 1 219,725,000 219,677,054
Basic earnings per share (HK$ per share) BREREN (BERAET) 0.212 0.168
Diluted earnings per share (HK$ per share) SREEEN (BRAET) 0.212 0.166
The weighted average number of ordinary shares shown above EXFTR 2 BB N RE T O BR
has been arrived at after deducting shares held by share award Bt sES2 TS AR 1D SR EDFT B sTATE B 2
scheme trust as set out in note 32. 1% EH -
The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume AESREERANEY/ERTERRD
the exercise of the Company’s option because the exercise price AR AR #E - A B AL E 2024 F 2023 F
of those options was higher than the average market price of 12A31BILEFEZEEREZTFEES
shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. RGO FHEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W% - MENR

Plant and Motor Office  Leasehold Construction
machinery vehicles  equipment improvements Buildings in progress Total

BRER#EE RE  BOERR HENRERE gr  HRIR &

HKB000  HKSOOD  HK§O000  HKS00O  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKS(000
TR T TR TR TR TiET TR

cosT AR
A1 January 2023 R2023F 1818 433886 7768 23451 61,039 181,541 16,228 728913
Addtions TE 102,852 841 7899 - - 418 112,010
Transfer gz 1158 - - - - (1,158) -
Disposals/write-off & /i (04,659) (20) (3,625) - - - (98,300)
Exchange reaignment B aE (18,361) (199) (347) (889) 2,589) 226) (22,604)
At 31 December 2023 Ro023F 125318 429880 839 27378 60,150 178,953 15,262 720019
Additions TE 45508 836 6171 10,118 - 3038 65,686
Transfer gz 2,007 - - - - (2,397) -
Disposals/urie-off &/ (50,750) (087) (759 - - - (52,495)
Exchange realignment A% (19,700 (283) (1,899) (1,051) (4,914 336) (28,139
At 31 December 2024 o024 125318 407,330 7962 30,036 69,217 174,039 15,567 705,051
DEPRECIATION AND FERHE

IMPAIRMENT
A1 January 2023 R2023%1 A 1R 325,179 5,588 16,850 25,983 31,050 15,261 419,911
Provided for the year Rz 39,509 464 5,065 235 4157 = 49430
Elminated on disposals/write-off ~ HEREE /H# (55,501) (20) (3,101) - - = (58,622)
Exchange realignment A% (20,257) (159) (243) (390) (626) 218 (21,793
At 31 December 2023 Ro0235E 12 B318 288930 5873 18,571 25,828 34,681 15,043 388926
Provided for the year Rz 37,832 629 4409 5,348 3,606 = 51,824
Elminated on disposals/write-offt ~ HEREE /H# (14,649 (621) (600) - - - (16,070)
Exchange realignment 5 R (6,820) (181) (899) (1,715) 2.250) (322) (12,186)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F 125318 305,203 5,500 21,482 29,461 36,037 14,721 412,494
CARRYING AMOUNTS REE
At 31 December 2024 20245125318 102,037 2,462 9,454 39,756 138,002 846 292,557
At 31 December 2023 2023 12B318 140950 2523 8807 34,322 144,072 219 331,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:
Plant and machinery 10%—-25%

Motor vehicles 10%-33%

Office equipment 10%—-20%

Leasehold improvements 5%-50%

Buildings Over the shorter of term of the

lease or 2.5%

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

(i) Right-of-use assets

16. Y13 - WER & E ()

Lt

WE - WFEREREBEEB ABERE

BTIFERFE -

5 K 2s 10%—25%

Land T
Buildings BF
Plant and machinery 5 B i 25

TE 10%-33%
PNE R 10%-20%
THEMEEE  5%-50%
Bx A 2.5%
(ABEEA%E)
17. FHEESERHEESE
(i) EHEEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FETT
16,130 16,980
37,178 5,023
4,487 5,432
57,795 27,435

Right-of-use assets of HK$16,130,000 (2023:
HK$16,980,000) represent land use rights located in the
PRC.

The Group has lease arrangements for buildings used for
factory premises and offices and plant and machinery. The
lease terms are generally ranged from 2 to 8 years (2023: 2
to 6 years).

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended

31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$35,834,000 (2023: Nil), due to new lease of a building.
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{5 FA 4 & 7 16,130,0007% 7T, (2023
£ 1 16,980,000/ 7T) 5417 B Ay
T b {E AR o

NREBBRAEANIBYERRAE
FIEF A KRR RS E = -
HEHBHR —MN TF2=84F (2023
F2EBRHE) o

REE2024F12 A31 B IEFE -
{5 A 4 & 7= 1% 1 49 35,834,000 7 7T
(20235 : &) ' THREFHHA
S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. EAEEEREEAE(E)
LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) Right-of-use assets (continued) (i) EHESE(E)
The above items of right-of-use assets are depreciated on LR EERE DUERER
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: THFRFE :
Land Over the term of the lease $i 1% 78 B
Buildings Over the term of the lease gF =i
Plant and machinery Over the term of the lease MR REE  1RIEH
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Non-current FERED 30,665 3,175
Current it 7,147 4,165
37,812 7,340
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Amounts payable under lease liabilites RIEIHE & EENFIE TET FHET
Within one year —F R 7,147 4,165
After one year but within two years —FREMEA 4,387 3,175
After two years but within five years MERBRFR 13,888 -
After 5 years HF% 12,390 -
37,812 7,340
Less: Amount due for settlement A 1248 A R E A
within 12 months (shown under HEEHZE(RRE
current liabilities) BEETIIR) (7,147) (4,165)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 7 1218 B & R s E 1Y
RIB 30,665 3,175
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. FHEEERHEHESE (8)

LIABILITIES (continued)

(ii) Lease liabilities (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into a new lease agreement in respect of renting a
factory building and dormitory premises, and recognised
lease liabilities of approximately HK$35,834,000 (2023: Nil).

The leases for office or dormitory premises and factories
have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1
to 8 years. All leases held by the Group comprises fixed
payment over the lease term.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

(i) HESE(H)
REBE2024F 12 A31HIEFE -
AEEREEIREFTRBESE]
UHHERH THRAESEED
35,834,000 7T (20234 : ) o

WMAESEERIHEE 2 TR
AIREEEEN F1 285 - REEF
BZBERELERRERAXM
BEEZEM e

HERIRF 2324
BRHEARAHEEEEFRE AR
@i HEBRETESERROEK
K HEBETSRAEERER -

(iii) PR HERE A FNIA

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TExT FAT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets — Land FREEENE T 529 855
Depreciation of right-of-use assets — FREEENE—EF

Buildings 3,102 2,806

Depreciation of right-of-use assets — CREEENE-

Plant and machineries iR 5 B i 23 1,057 1,057

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAEMNERXZ 398 419

Expense relating to short-term leases RAEERS 3,345 2,301

(iv) Others

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total
cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately
HK$9,522,000 (2023: HK$6,852,000).
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(iv) 4t

REE2024F 12 A31 B ILEE -
FEMBR S RHEEL 59,522,000
76 7T (2023 4F : 6,852,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

18. IREME

HK$'000
TET

FAIR VALUE DR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1H 24,700
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIERERB R ER D (1,000)
At 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 23,700
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBZERH A ABERD (3,700)
At 31 December 2024 7202412 31 H 20,000

The Group’s property interest held under operating lease to
earn rentals and for capital appreciation purposes is measured
using the fair value model and is classified and accounted for as
investment property.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31
December 2023 and 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group. Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited are members of the Institute of Valuers. The valuation
was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the similar locations and conditions
and is categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. There
has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior
year. In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and
best use of the property is their current use.

Investment property with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$23,700,000) was pledged as
security for bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2024.
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AEBEARREASREREREEMR
BREHERANDERARLEERL
AEYRERARISREDE -

AEB L E Y R 2023F K 2024 F 12
A31 BB AR E TRk B AR S E I &R
EN—EZBUAERBEEAEMRET
E AR A B F 2024 4 [ 20234 12 A 31
BETHHESH - 52T HEERAA
BEEMHERE - HEDZEHEMU
R EUYE IR G ER ZTIEE
BEMES YO BEAEARBEBRE_H -
BEFERMBNGERMITEES - B
HEYMEZAAEE PEZESRE
ERRAEBRAR -

M2024%F 12831 B  EEELDN A
20,000,000 7T (2023 4F : 23,700,000
) ZIREMEEETIERRIT R EAM
BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 18. IRE W% (18)
Details of the valuation techniques and assumptions are HEFTEMBEERZFBIREOT -
discussed below.
An analysis of the Group’s investment property that is measured AEBMN R ERRR A EFENK
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into fair BEMENDNT  BIBAABETER A
value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the ENABREEREEAAAEE A2
inputs to fair value measurements is observable is as follows: A& A

Fair value
as at
Level 1 Level 3 31/12/2024

2024 &

12A31BM

F—R B4R B=8 D RE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiBxT FHT FHBxT T8t

Investment property "EEE - 20,000 - 20,000
Fair value

as at

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  31/12/2023

2023 F

1283188

F—/ F-R F=H NRE

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FET FABT FABT FAET

Investment property wEYE - 23,700 - 23,700

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy

H 22024 F % 2023F 12 A31 A ILF
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. N

NREBRZEZEE -
8

gk
=
B

The following table gives information about how the fair value of T2k 1 it A& Y 40 0] BE TE 2024 FF ) 2023
the investment property as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are F12AIBREMELIARBEHNER (L
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs HEFANBETERBAZSRE)
used):
Relationship of key
Fair value as at inputs and significant
Fair value 31 December Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs
hierarchy 2024 and key inputs unobservable inputs Range to fair value
IEBRABER
EXFUEE
#2024 HEFER EXTHHE WmARRE
12ANENDAE TEGARE BARE gE DAEMEE
Level 2 HK$20,000,000 Market Comparison approach - by N/A N/A N/A
£ 20,000,000 7T reference to recent sales price N fH A NEA
(2023: HKS of comparable properties on a
HK$23,700,000) price per square feet basis using
(20234 : market data which is publicly
23,700,000 ) available

MHELRE-E2ERETHR
ROEBHENATELENE
ZEHER  FRAAMHEH
ZTRHBRERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 10. BAREFABSZEMEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET

Investments in a life insurance policy

ASRBEKRE

7,983 7,809

In September 2021, the Group’s subsidiary, Wai Chi Opto
Technology Limited (“Wai Chi Opto”), entered into a life
insurance policy with an insurance company to insure Mr. Chen
Chung Po, a director of the Company. Under the policy, the
beneficiary and the policy holder is Wai Chi Opto and the total
insured sum was approximately US$1,750,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,650,000). The Company was required to
pay a one-off premium payment of approximately US$602,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,696,000). The Company can
terminate the policy at any time and receive cash back based
on the cash value of the policy at the date of withdrawal (“Cash
Value”), which is determined by the premium payment plus
accumulated interest earned minus the accumulated insurance
charges and a specified amount of surrender charge if the
withdrawal is made before the specified policy year.

In February 2020, Wai Chi Opto entered into a life insurance
policy with an insurance company to insure Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, a
director of the Company. Under the policy, the beneficiary and
the policy holder was Wai Chi Opto and the total insured sum
was approximately US$3,492,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$27,238,000). The Group was required to pay a one-off
premium payment of approximately US$600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$4,680,000). The Group can terminate the
policy at any time and receive cash back based on the cash
value of the policy at the date of withdrawal (“Cash Value”),
which is determined by the premium payment plus accumulated
interest earned minus the accumulated insurance charges and a
specified amount of surrender charge if the withdrawal is made
before the specified policy year.

184

MR2021F 98  REEBEMH B R RE
EHEERAR ([BEXE) #H—
RBAREIZLASRKRE  LAKXAF
BEEMELEERFR - BERE 5
ARREFSBEABESHE MER
REE A %)1,750,000E T (HER L
13,650,000 L) c R A B AXZF— K
MR B 4602,0003 T (HER A
4,696,000 7T) ° AN A &) A] AT A B (R
RILRE TERERBBRENES
EE(HRLEE) KDRe FHEES
BEDZRENMZTN RN EZAFE -
BREFREEEMETSBORRKRTF
BE(MABETREFEMNRR)ET -

M2020F2H - EEAXAEFEH -—HRREA
AR ABRBE  UWABRARES K
EBMRZITHRR -BERE ZZARR
BREEANBEEIE MERRLEL
#98,492,000 3 7T (18 % 1 #27,238,000
BL) cAEBASN—AHERBNR
#9600,0002 7T (18 55 72 494,680,000 7%
TL) o ANEE R A EHERILRE - I
ARERRARENE2EE(R2E
EHWERE EERSEENERE
3R EFTBRER R F E - R RER
BREAKBSESHEARRFEE (MR
HEREFEAER)ERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 20. B SEFARMEEIZEZ
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE tREE
INCOME
2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti&xT FHET
Unlisted equity investment ELmERNE 13,626 17,319
The unlisted equity investment is issued by a private entity FLmiERIEERT S ETMA T 25
incorporated in Taiwan. NS
The investment in equity instrument is not held for trading. ZERTAREBEUIEFBIEFEERE -8
Instead, it is held for medium to long-term strategic purpose. o BT R R REEEE B A M #ETT Y
Accordingly, the directors of the Company elected to designate w"E AW ARREFEEHZER
the investment in equity instrument as at FVTOCI as they believe TAREBETARAAEBENAEMEZE
that recognising short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair Wawm AAERERE RNERERZE
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s B2 ARBEEBESUTTERNEER
strategy of holding this investment for long-term purpose and EZEERPARTNRERRENESR
realising their performance potential in the long run. RE N 2 B -
21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
2024 2023
2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Raw materials R # 18,717 20,979
Work-in-progress R 96,962 86,105
Finished goods BUPK 139,149 158,719
254,828 265,803
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22 BRI R EiR

Trade receivables JE UG BR 3k
Less: Allowance for impairment losses

Bills receivables FEUT 4R

Total trade and bills receivables

GARENI=Y sk

FEM R AN RIR MR

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
1,019,791 890,181
(38,829) (9,323)
980,962 880,858
170,361 110,769
1,151,323 991,627

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted to
approximately HK$1,019,791,000 (2023: HK$890,181,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the gross amount of bills
receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted to
approximately HK$170,361,000 (2023: HK$110,769,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group allows an
average credit period of 15 to 180 days (2023: 15 to 180 days)
to its trade customers.

Certain trade receivables with carrying amount of approximately
HK$55,159,000 (2023: HK$49,675,000) was pledged for bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for impairment of trade receivables) presented based
on the invoice date, which approximates the respective revenue
recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period.

MR2024F12A31H KEARBFAHHN
JE UG BR FX 42 %E 49 45 1,019,791,000 7 7T
(20234F : 890,181,000 7T) °

N2024F 12 A31HB - RKREEFAY
B FE U 2295 48 BE 49 5 170,361,000 7% 7T
(20234F : 110,769,000 7T) ©

HE2024F12A31BILFEE  K"EER
MEZSEFLPET15F 180K (20234 :
152180 K) M FEHEZEH -

MN2024F 12 A31 8 REEH
55,159,000 7T (2023 4 : 49,675,000
TL) 2B TREWERRE IR AR T
ME AR -

ATARBESHRIZEZAE (A
Yok #ERR B HIAEEE) 25169 B I BR 3K (F
BR R U BR SR B R A8) RO BR IR D AT ©

0 to 90 days 0ZE 90K
91 to 180 days 91 £180K
181 to 365 days 181 £365 K

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 &
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 T T
875,005 810,416
83,002 18,825
22,955 51,617
980,962 880,858
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Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | {52 RER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

All the bills receivables are aged within 180 days (2023: 180
days).

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

The following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed collectively
based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). Trade receivables without credit-impaired with
gross carrying amount of approximately HK$68,441,000 were
assessed individually as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The following table provides information which are assessed
based on individual assessment.

As at 31 December 2024

72024512831 H

22 EURERM R iR (1)

Fr 7 & U = 3% B9 BR #7159 5 180K (2023
F£:180K) A °

AEBRBAERNFENBRREEBEN
TEERYRFNEBERE - BRI
RBEREEEHRERBEEBRE G -
WREBHANBEEDCEMEBTA
BATE AR 2T - REBEN T E B
BEHEARENRE BEBHASERET
FE ) — AR BEARIA K B 7T R IERIA R
AR FHEE L R -

TEREEBERGEREHREZEE
B(IEEERE) A2 BEEBLRE
TG ZERERIERZEERRE
FloR2024F12A31H BREEED
/68,441,000 7T 2 1= B 6k (8 18 U BR 51
ToF LA RIFEE (2023 4F « £&)

TRIBERIEE R EET G 2B o
Gross

carrying
amount Allowance

IREAE 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
TiEgn FTiEgn

Individually assessed (EGIERE
0 to 90 days 0ZE 90K
91 to 180 days 91 180K

181 to 365 days 181 £365K

65,178 11,425
21,851 7,163
87,029 18,588
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22 EUWBRFA R ZE18 (48)
(continued)
The following table provides information which are assessed TRIBEEEBEEEMTHHER -

based on provision matrix.

Weighted
average Gross
expected loss carrying
rate amount Allowance
In#ESE35
FEHIES B X IREAE BiE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
As at 31 December 2024 12024512831 H T#ExT FiEx
Collectively assessed SRR
0 to 90 days 0E90K 0.16% 876,391 1,386
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 0.25% 29,321 72
181 to 365 days 181 2365 X 0.93% 8,345 78
Over 365 days 365 KA £ 100% 18,705 18,705
932,762 20,241
Weighted
average Gross
expected loss carrying
rate amount Allowance
It
TEHAE R = FREAE 5
% HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 December 2023 2023412 A31H FHET TAET
Collectively assessed CS B
0 to 90 days 0Z90KX 0.14% 811,588 1,172
91 to 180 days 91 180K 0.98% 19,011 186
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 0.92% 52,094 477
Over 365 days 365 KA £ 100% 7,488 7,488
890,181 9,323
Generally, trade receivables are written-off when there is —MRms BERBREBAEREE
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial B 75 R B R SR B RR U [B] AT Ak - R 8H RE
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. The WHRR - NE BN ERsA E A ERRE
Group does not hold any collateral as security. AR o
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e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22. FEWBRFI R I (48)

(continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment losses of trade
receivables is set out below:

FEYERR R B ER IR B EESHEIIMT

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ti&xT FHEIT

At 1 January W1A1H 9,323 25,217
Impairment losses recognised EERBEEE 37,576 8,308
Impairment losses reversed BB EEE (537) (19,997)
Written off i (7,210) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR - (3,907)
Exchange realignment b 5 S (323) (298)
At 31 December W12 4318 38,829 9,323

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FE{TFIE - mE R H B

RECEIVABLES - |
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Deposits and other receivables (Note a) R R H M pEMFIE (izka) 62,204 56,181
Less: Allowance for impairment losses B OREE RS (12,128) (11,740)
50,076 44,441
VAT receivables FEHOE AT 24,320 18,175
Prepayments (Note b) FERT RIE (FiFEDb) 4,922 9,169
79,318 71,785
Notes: Mt 5E
(@  As at 31 December 2024, included in deposits and other receivables (8) 2024512831 H st AlR® RH A fE

mainly comprise of interest receivables amounting to approximately

Wk IE 2 B IR B %) 21,287,000 78
H$21,287,000 (2023: HK$13,118,000).

7T (2023 4F : 13,118,000/ 7T) °

(b)  As at 31 December 2024, included in prepayments mainly comprise of (b)
prepayment for purchase of equipment of approximately HK$ 1,898,000
(20283: Nil) and trade deposits to suppliers of approximately
HK$1,460,000 (2023: HK$8,458,000) respectively.

K2024F12A31H st ABNREEXZE
B 15 % B8 7% 8 B0 T8 15 5K 18 491,898,000 7%
TL (20234« B) R EENE HRESL
1,460,000 7 (2023 £ : 8,458,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
are set out in note 6.

The movement in the allowance for impairment of other
receivables under Stage 1 is set out below:

23. FE{ITFIE - e R H MM EWER
15 (48
BHEE Z2024F & 2023F12 531 H It
FEMNES K E A E W FRIBR EFTE
FEIBEA MG -

AR BT By B Al R R B B R
BHEINMT

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHIT

At 1 January W1A18 11,740 10,295
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE 574 9,827
Impairment losses reversed ERBEREERE - (695)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HERBAA - (8,226)
Exchange realignment ME 5 B (186) (91)
At 31 December ®12H318 12,128 11,740

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

(a) Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
Deposits amounting to approximately HK$516,846,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$283,709,000) have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings and bills payables
due within one year and are therefore classified as current
assets. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon
settlement of relevant bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2024, the pledged fixed deposits carry
interest rates ranging from 0.1% to 3.0% (2023: 2.0%
to 8.3%) per annum. The pledged bank deposits will be
released upon the end of facilities.

190

RABERRE - B TDESHAERNE
RBRR I BB LR -

24, BEMRMITER MITEHRR
ke

(a) EEFRITER

ERIFRITERIEE G FRITIE
AR TAEERITHENERNT
Ko R2024F 12 A31H - 2 & ##
T 5 #1516,846,00078 7t (2023 4F :
283,709,000/ L) ' tEA—F N E|
HMIRITERRENZEROER -
Ao AR EE - BEFR
T ROE A B BB IR1T 18 K1 iR
|§/§§ °

R2024F12A31H ' EE B EH
TFRIZNT-0.1% = 3.0% (2023 4 :
2.0% % 3.3%) MEFEFE - B
HERTTTE SR R B E 45 R ARRR o
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e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 24, BIRIFERITER RITERK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued) W& (48)

(b) RITEBRRIES

(b) Bank balances and cash

2024 2023
2024 FF 2023 F
HK$000 HK$000
TET T T

Cash and cash equivalents (represented by R4 KIRE EEW (EE1T
cash at banks and on hand) RekFEES) 303,519 357,208

Fixed deposits with maturity date over FEBB=@A

three months JEHITE R 25,359 -
328,878 357,208

Bank balances and time deposits carry interest at market

RITEHRRERFRZTIHFEN X

rates ranging as follows per annum: mr
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Bank balances RITHESR 0.0001% 0.20%
to 3.25% t0 0.44%
0.0001% 0.20%
£3.25% %£0.44%
Fixed deposits FEHFR 3.2% =

The carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed deposits and
bank balances and cash denominated in currencies other
than functional currencies of the relevant group entities at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

RBEEHR AEEUEEEEE
BUREEE AN 2 EEFEZED
FREBITESRERE ZREENR

T

2024 2023
2024 £F 2023 G
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT TAT
RMB AR#E 324,939 323,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

MR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. B ERR - BN RRR HMtE

AND ACCRUALS FTRIEURFERER
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade payables (Note a) FES RS (i3t a) 570,854 539,744
Bills payables (Note b) FEREE (FiiEb) 796,634 637,557
1,367,488 1,177,301
Interest payable FERFIE 69 55
Other payables B R 37,181 36,032
Accrued expenses B X 38,547 31,128
75,797 67,215
Total trade and other payables FE A BR 5k Se Ho A FE A<
KIB4REE 1,443,285 1,244,516
Notes: Ff &t

(@  The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on

192

the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(@) MB|EHR HEEBHM2IIOEAERRX
HBRER DTN T

0 to 90 days 0ZE 90X

91 to 180 days 91E 180K
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K
Over 365 days 365 KA E

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT
437,121 450,958
115,076 71,885
6,721 7,991
11,936 8,910
570,854 539,744

The average credit period on purchase of goods is from 30 days to
90 days (2023: 30 days to 90 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled
within the credit timeframe.

KEERNTEHEEHA0REIKR
(20234 : 30KZEWNK) - AEBEE &l E
ISR T IR K - AR A B ERR
HREE R RS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

=h ==
25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. BN - BN EBRNREME
= =h B =
AND ACCRUALS (continued) SFREURTERER (8
Notes: (continued) MisE : (88)
(b) Al the bills payables are aged within 180 days (2023: 180 days). (b) FTARENERNEKRY R180KA (2023
F:180K) ©
The amounts relate to trade payables in which the Group has issued ZECHHEEMNEREAR  ~EEEHK
bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement trade payables. The REEENERMEAEENELRE -
Group continues to recognise these trade payables as the relevant AEBBERAZSEMSERER  TARE
banks are obliged to make payments only on due dates of the bills, BARITEREARE R BB REEMAE
under the same conditions as agreed with the suppliers without further P E 2 BRMGRER R  iEAE— T
extension. In the consolidated statement of cash flows, settlement of Ho-RZEREREBERT REEEZE
these bills are included within operating cash flows based on the nature HRBLTHNOMEF ALERSREA °

of the arrangements.

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET
Financial liabilities that are subject to supplier IHEFRELTHVEZSRAR
finance arrangements presented as bills payable 2 RENERE
— Of which suppliers have already received —H B U EISRITA
payments from the banks 796,634 637,557
Range of payment due dates (after invoice date) NHFEHAEHE (EEAHE) Days Days
H A
— Bills payables that are part of supplier finance —BRHERRERE B2
arrangements JERT IR 180 180
26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. A E
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T8 T T
Advances received to deliver goods BN E U ER ) 2SR 1,639 993
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to R2023F1A1H  aHBEBELHNAE
approximately HK$10,766,000. 10,766,000/8 7T °
In general, the Group receives certain percentage of the contract —RME  AEBREZBHESORMH
sum as advance payment from the customers upon signing of EFUBR—FEES NGNS EERTE
the sales contracts. RFRIE -
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024 R2023F 12 AT HMW AN A ERIEE
that was included in the contract liabilities as at 31 December Z2024F 12 A31 H I FE R M =
2023 was approximately HK$993,000 (2023: HK$10,766,000). #7993,0007% 7T (2023 £ : 10,766,000 /&
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related TL) cBIER AN FERRBREBEFTER
to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year. BB ERN UL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. RIT R H B FK

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
TiExT FHET
Secured: A :
Trust receipts loans (Note a) BB E R (Hita) 38,060 106,362
Other bank loans (Note b) HaiR1TER (M3Eb) 116,771 21,792
Other loans (Note c) HMER(Mtc) 31,532 993
186,363 129,147
Unsecured: IR
Other bank loans (Note b) HuiR1TER (M3Eb) 161,241 142,253
347,604 271,400
Carrying amount repayable (based on JEEZREE (IRIFBRE A
scheduled repayment dates set out in B TEEENHE)
loan agreements):
Within one year R—FR 347,604 237,304
More than one year but not exceeding BB —FETBAMRE
two years = 34,096
347,604 271,400
Maturity profile of the above bank and L ERR TR EMER
other borrowings which are on demand:  Z/8#%T :
Carrying amount of bank and other borrowings FER ¥ &5 B R 2 — G (RE 8
that are not repayable within one year from BEERERKERBERL
the end of the reporting period but containa  $R17 R E & R ERmEE
repayment on demand clause (shown under (A REIBEE NHIIR)
current liabilities) = 34,096
Carrying amount repayable within one year and R —F REE R B SEEK
contain a repayment on demand clause BEEREFNEEE 347,604 237,304
Amount shown under current liabilities KRB B FEIR T3 RHFRIE 347,604 271,400
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e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(@

As at 31 December 2024, trust receipts loans with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$38,060,000 (2023: HK$106,362,000) carry floating
rate of interest of 1-month HIBOR/LIBOR plus 2.5% (2023: 1-month
HIBOR/LIBOR plus 2.5%) per annum and was due within 3 months
(2023: within 3 months).

As at 31 December 2024, other bank loans of approximately
HK$33,368,000 (2023: HK$89,837,000) and HK$244,644,000
(2023: HK$74,208,000) carry interest at fixed rates and floating rates
respectively. The range of effective interest rates per annum on the
Group’s other bank loans are as follows:

Fixed rates other bank loans* EFEREAMRITER

Floating rates other bank loans ¥ B/ #l| & H b $R1T & 3%

BREZEERFEFH0.45% F

27. RITREMER (&

fia -

(@

(b)

2024

2024

3.00%-4.45%
HIBOR/LIBOR plus
0.25%-0.70%

BRETEERERE

72024 F 12 A31 B » BRFIE 438,060,000
7 7T (2023 4 : 106,362,00078 JT) HI 15 5F
KEBEFIZ—EAAEARITRERSF
KR BERTT R E /R B FI R I12.5% (2023
F:—EAABBRITREREFNE BH
SR 1T B E I B F X n2.5%) K % 8 £ FI| R
sHE - YR SEAREH (20234F : ={@A
A e

H2024F 12831 H  HETERL
33,368,000 7T (20234 : 89,837,000
7 70) & 244,644,000 7T (2023 4F -
74,208,000 78 7T) 7 Bl LA & & F & & )F ) F|
KB AEBEHMBRITEROEERFF
REEMT

2023
2023 FF

3.20-4.50%
HIBOR/LIBOR plus
0.15%-0.97%
FRRITRZER SN ES

RBERITRIERE WBERITRIER B
FI£EHn0.25% £ 0.70% FIZEHN0.15% Z0.97%

LPR minus 0.45% to

LPR plus 0.15% to 1.90 %

LPR plus 1.90% REEERFE

$N0.15% = 1.90%

REBEEMFIEN1.90%

* The interest rate is reference to a current HIBOR/LIBOR plus
certain fixed percentage.

As at 31 December 2023, the other loans of approximately
HK$993,000 carried floating interest at 6.25%. In 2019, Huizhou Wai
Chi Electronics Company Limited (“Huizhou Wai Chi”), a subsidiary
of the Group, entered into a sales and leaseback agreement for
financing with an amount of approximately HK$24,560,000. Pursuant
to which, Huizhou Wai Chi sold certain plant and machineries to a
financial institution (the “lessor”), which shall then be leased back for
use by Huizhou Wai Chi, with the lease period of 2 years from the date
of inception. Upon expiry of the lease term, Huizhou Wai Chi has the
right to repurchase the leased assets in accordance with the agreed
terms and with a consideration of a nominal amount of RMB1,000.
The loan has been further extended for 2 years to 9 February 2023.
The aforesaid other loans have been settled during the year ended 31
December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the other loans of approximately
HK$25,809,000 carried fixed interest rate of LPR minus 0.45% and
LPR minus -0.1% and the other loan of approximately HK$5,723,000
carried floating interest rate of LPR minus 0.25%.
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© BRMEDNSEENEBRTALR
BRI /SR 1T % 55 2 R
EFEALLBY -

20234 12 A31 A + E b E 3 47993,000
P TTIZ 6.25% R ZENFIEEHE < 20194
REBEHBAREMNEEETERAR ([E
MEEDTVHEERBARSE  BESH
#) /24,560,00078 7T © I It - BN EEH
ETHERMBHE T —MemEE (TH
BAD  EfBEHEDEEMNESER -
A EMG R 2F - REHER®%
BMNEEEERHERTIAGEREAR
100 THEHAELE - EREE—F
EHA2FE2023F 2 A9H - LMl EMERR
EREE20245 12 A31 B IEFELAE ©

M2024F 128318 HiWE R
25,809,000/ L& E & F X HEHE R F
KR 0.45% K 5% 18 B B 3K F 5 -0.1% &
B MmEME 45,723,000 7T Bl 1% F 8
FEHZEEERFER0.25% 5T B °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

As at 31 December 2024, secured bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$186,363,000 (2023: HK$129,147,000) were
secured by investment property, certain trade receivables and bank
deposits and repayable within 1 year..

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has undrawn available trade
financing and bank loan facilities of approximately HK$1,620,034,000
(2023: HK$658,064,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$186,363,000 (2023: HK$129,147,000) were
secured by the Group’s investment properties of approximately
HK$20,000,000 (2023:HK$23,700,000), trade receivables of
approximately HK$55,159,000 (2023:49,675,000) and pledged bank
deposits of approximately HK$516,846,000 (2023:HK$283,709,000).

Loan covenants

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with carrying amount of approximately
HK$53,129,000 (2023: HK$33,105,000) are subject to the
fulfilments of covenants. If the Group were to breach the
covenants, the related borrowings would become payable on
demand. Details about these covenants are as follows:

27. RITR HMERR ()

st : ()

@) 2024 12A31H AR FERITRE
o 18 3% 49 186,363,000 7T (2023 4 -
129,147,000 70) AR E W% -« & T rEK

BRR MERITEREIRE - WER —FNEE -

€ M2024%12A831H AEBAKRIEREZ
SEE RIR1TE FEVE £1,620,034,000 7
7T (2023 4F : 658,064,000/ 7T) °

f)  M20244%12 A31H - A& H %9186,363,000
7 7T (20234 : 129,147,00038 7T) 2 R
TREMERTTURNER ZEEDMEY
20,000,000 7T (2023 £ : 23,700,000 %
JT) ~ FE YR BR 3% 4955,159,000 % 7T (2023
F 1 49,675,0008 70) R EIKIFIRITFN
516,846,000 7T (2023 4 : 283,709,000
ETT) R -

BEMEHE

R2024F 12 A31H  AEBREED
/53,129,000 7T (2023 4 : 33,105,000
;‘%fc)ZﬁEﬁ&EM%?xz\Lﬁﬁ o fig
AEBERZER%E  NEBEREA
REREE 2SR zuﬂ o

Timing to complying

Borrowings Carrying amounts Details of covenants with the covenants
EEN IREE BLRETETE BFRENRR
2024 2023
20245 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ExT FHET
Loan A — Amounts under 31,532 — Debt to equity shallbe  Throughout the
current liabilities less than 70% borrowing period
ERA-RBABHEAT IS BT B AR AR b K B 5 SR EA
1EH70%
Loan B — Amounts under 21,597 33,105 Debt to equity shallbe  Throughout the
current liabilities less than 60% borrowing period
EXB-mBHEBEETZ&# & 75 B2 JIRC 7 B 22 g T 15 FREA R
K7 60%
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these AREBEHEREEBTZELLZIBN
covenants. Further details of the Group’s management of AEBARHESCRARERE ZE—FF |i
liquidity risk are set out in note 6. E NIRRT
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION 28. IRHEFR IE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for AT RIEM B @mE B 6 2 mIE T I8 45 68
financial reporting purposes. DT

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 F

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#BxT THTT

Deferred tax assets EEFRIBEEE 10,701 11,927
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIEAE (390) (390)
10,311 11,537

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereof during the current and prior

years:

REEMBEFEMERNTERLTH
HEEREBE) REZFHNT

Difference
between
depreciation

allowance
and related
depreciation

Impairment
and
allowances

mERER
HEE
H=8
HK$’000
THETT

mEREE
HK$'000
FTAT

A

(="
HK$’000
THBT

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H (368) 9,254 8,886
(Charged) credited to profit or loss  (¥1f& B) 5t A1825 (22) 2,750 2,728
Exchange realignment PE 5 & - 77) (77)
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F 12 A31 B X

1 January 2024 202441 A1H (390) 11,927 11,537
Credited (charged) to profit or loss 5T A (¥1k: &) 1835 185 (1,174) (989)
Exchange realignment b X (20) (217) (237)
At 31 December 2024 2024412 A 31 H (225) 10,536 10,311
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As the end of the reporting period, certain subsidiaries of the
Group had aggregate unused tax losses of approximately
HK$111,113,000 (2023: HK$72,402,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of these unused tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit stream of these subsidiaries. As at 31 December
2024, tax losses of approximately HK$42,575,000 (2023:
HK$14,142,000) will be expired within 5 years from 2019. With
effective from 1 January 2018, the tax losses incurred by “High
and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”) of approximately
HK$68,538,000 (2023: HK$65,129,000) will expired in ten years
from the year in which the loss originated in 2015. Other losses

may be carried forward indefinitely.

As the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$156,519,000
(2023: HK$130,679,000). A deferred tax asset of approximately
HK$70,984,000 (2023: HK$77,577,000) has been recognised
for such temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised on the remaining temporary differences of
approximately HK$85,535,000 (2023: HK$53,102,000) as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against which

the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

28. JEEHLIE (45)

RBERR - AEEETHBAR
MK AR B RE AR IBEBEE
B4 A111,113,0008 7T (2023 4
72,402,0007%8 7T) ° M A 2 LA TE ORI 3%
LB A A 8RR FE R - A
ZERDARESBRERELEREE
E - M2024F 128310 HEEEYD
42 575,000 7T (20234 : 14,142,000 78
J0) # B 2019 F F5F N E|H - 52018
F1ATHR [zl (S
i %) 2= 4 2 T IA E5 18 4968,538,000
7 7T (20234 : 65,129,000 7T) #% & &
BEAFE201FER+FRER - Hitb
EiE Al PR HAAE o

RBEER NEEBTNRYREZE
%8 49 /5 156,519,0007% 7T (2023 4F :
130,679,000/8 L) - E B2 F & i 1%
7 R FE SRR RE B 18 & B 70,984,000 78
7t (2023 % : 77,577,000 7T) » @ A
JE ER A ) B H5 AT R VE K B AT OB B
MEFENAREETA R ERGB T E
BF |4 2 %A #9 85,535,000 78 7T (2023 & -
53,102,000 7 7T) MERIEIETRIH E & o

29. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 20. TSR T A
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F

Nominal Nominal
value Assets  Liabilities value Assets Liabilities
HE BE & HE BE =0
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FEx Tign FHET THET T
Foreign exchange swaps HME = B 262,114 8,365 = = = =
Foreign exchange forwards N & 5 731,936 = (14,255) = = =
Foreign exchange options SMNE S 466,440 12,801 - - - -
1,460,490 21,166 (14,255) - - -
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29. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

Major terms of the derivative financial instruments are as follows:

20. fTE M T A (4)

TESMTAZEEHERMT

Contract rate (USD CNY)/
Maturity Exercise Rates (USD/CNY) Position of the Group
AHER(ERT AR/
FEAR THEER(ExT/ARE) AEERKRER
Foreign exchange swaps 30 May 2025 to 6.9130 to 7.0541 Long USD
15 December 2025
HINE 42 HA 20255 A30HZE 6.9130 = 7.0541 =
202512 A15H
Foreign exchange forwards 30 May 2025 to 6.9610 to 7.1441 Long CNY
15 December 2025
SN 3= HA 20255 H30RE 6.9610 £ 7.1441 HE AR
202512 A15H
Foreign exchange options 30 May 2025 to Long call at 7.0100 to N/A
17 July 2025 Long call at 7.0288
SN R 4 20255 A30H=E BAHE7.01002 i A
20257 A17H B AHIHE7.0288
Short pull at 7.0095 to
Short put 7.0288
& Hi#E7.0005 =
= I HiiE 7.0288
30. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 30. BT Bh

HK$'000
TAT

At 1 January 2023
Utilised during the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2024

R2023%F 1 H1H 17,200
FARNEA (16,447)
bE 5 B (245)
2023412 A31H 508
P& 5 S (11)
2024412 A 31 H 497

As at 31 December 2024, the government grants of
approximately HK$497,000 (2023: HK$508,000) which were
designated for certain research projects, export incentives,
technical innovation, localisation incentives and fiscal refund
were granted by the PRC municipal government. As at
31 December 2024, government grants of approximately
HK$497,000 (2023: HK$508,000) is stated as non-current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that certain
conditions in respect of these grants will not be fulfilled within
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
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MN2024512 A31H - IEERARNSE T
FRIER - HOSBE - FITAIF - a8
B K B R 3R IR T 48 B 49 497,000 78
7t (20234 : 508,000 JT) Jb /B A @
BFHET - R2024FE12 A31H - ;AR
AAREEREB TSRS REL KL
R A2E B R XS MBI E T -
R B T 7 B 49 497,0005% 7T (2023 4F
508,00078 7T ) IR & M IS AR R K 51 BR &
ERBEE -
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. g &
The share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and RN B R20245F K 2023F 12 A31 B A
2023 is as follows: fEAIN TR

2023 2024 2023
20235 2024 2023 F
HK$’000 HK$'000

TR THEL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BRO0ETHEER
Authorised ET
At 1 January and 31 December ®W1A1BR12A318  1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid BETRER
At 1 January ®1A1H 219,725,000 216,825,000 2,197 2,168
Share allotted (Note) BEERR (M) - 2,900,000 - 29
31 December 12A31H 219,725,000 219,725,000 2,197 2197
Note: On 4 January and 14 February 2023, the Company has allotted MiEE . R2023F1 4B KR2A148  ARAR
2,900,000 shares to the share pool maintained by the trustee under the B EEENEREBRSZ AL
Share Award Scheme at nil consideration. Details of the Share Award #9 A% 19 3t Fid 3% 2,900,000 f% i 1 © B BE A
Scheme are set out in note 32. 7R B MR IE SR M EES2
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company:

2014 Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “2014 Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 October
2014 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contributions of eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”)
to the Group by granting options to them as incentives and
rewards. Eligible Participants include any executive, employee,
director (including non-executive director and independent
nonexecutive director), consultant, adviser and/or agent of any
member of the Group (or person(s) proposed to be appointed as
such) and other individuals as may be proposed by the Board of
Directors of the Company. The 2014 Scheme will expire on 25
October 2024. Under the 2014 Scheme, the Board of Directors
of the Company may grant options to Eligible Participants to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 28 June 2022, 4,710,000 share options were granted by the
Company to a number of Eligible Participants (the “Grantees”)
under the 2014 Scheme. The share options will entitle the
Grantees to subscribe for 4,710,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each of the Company. The vesting period of the share options
under the 2014 Scheme is 12 months from the date of grant of
the share options. The details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 June 2022.

2014 Scheme was terminated pursuant to a resolution
passed on 19 December 2022 due to the expiration of the
2014 Scheme on 25 October 2024. The management of the
Company proposes to take the opportunity to adopt a new
share option scheme to replace the 2014 Scheme. The share
options granted prior to such termination shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules of the 2014
Scheme. The details were set out in the Company’s dated
announcement 29 November 2022 and the Company’s circular
dated 1 December 2022.
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ARRUESLEE 2 BIRER S

2014 F BB 1Es 2
AAERIEIRERTE ([2014F 518 R
BR2014F10 A27T BBBZ RFHFET
LR - B ABBAREER2E8E ([&
Big2HEE ) XLEREELA KRB XD
HUEFERABEEREAEEBEL 2
ER - AERSEEREAEETAK
BARIMEMITIRAS BB - £= (8
HIENTEETNBIIENTES) &
A BERESARE (R RESTET
ZEBBEHAL) RARREE S A B
B EM AL o 2014 F 521572 2024
F10H258E M c RIE2014F 51 &) -
ARAREFTEAREGERSHEERTE
AR - AR QBRI o

R2022%F6 A28 H * AR AIRIE20144F
rElmMZREERSHEE ([READE
tH 4,710,000 77 88 B 4 o B IR e S M0 42
AR 4,710,000 & EE0.0175
TTZARRERE - 2014 FHEIBET 2
BERECEBEHAABRERT AL
FT121@ A - FIFE N A F H B A 2022
FBH28HZAE

2014 F 51 81742024 F10 A 25 8 f&
W B 2014 F 5 &I B BB 20225 12 B
19OHBBZRERRKIL - AQRIEEE
FRFE M e B AN — TET Y B AR A AT B A
AR 2014F 58 - REBKRIERIFHZ
BB EEEW  WRE2014F5TE
ZHREATITE - FFIBEHNRARRBE
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
2014 Scheme was 4,370,000 (31 December 2023: 4,710,000),
representing 2.0% (31 December 2023: 2.2%) of the shares
of the Company in issue at that date. The total number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
2014 Scheme must not exceed aggregate 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue as at the listing date unless further
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant to the rules
of the 2014 Scheme. The total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon an exercise of the options granted and to
be granted under the 2014 Scheme and any other schemes of
the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each Eligible Participant in any period of 12 consecutive
months up to and including the date of grant of the options shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant
of the options. The proposed grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or any independent non-executive director of the
Company or their respective associates which will result in the
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
canceled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant, (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (i) having an
aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million (based on the closing
price of the Shares at the date of such grant), will be subject
to the issue of a circular by the Company together with the
notice of the relevant general meeting and the approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting at which all connected persons
of the Company shall abstain from voting in favor of the relevant
resolutions at such general meeting, except that any connected
person may vote against the relevant resolution at the general
meeting provided that his intention to vote against the proposed
grant has been stated in the Shareholders’ circular; and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time
to time.
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ARRUERERE 2 BIRESE :
(48)

2014 F R &1 2] (4B)

R2024%F 12 A31H » BE2014 F &t
BEREEDRITEZBREN SR
9 818 /4,370,000 % (20234 12 A 31
H :4,710,000%) " (A RAERZBE
BT D 22.0% (2023412 A31H :
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BRRREE— S E - BTAIRE2014F
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A (BEZBA)WEmEET @A
B ETERIBE0O4EE R AEH
FEREMET S TR S ER 2 B
(BREETERARITENEBRE M2
BORBTERITHNROEE  T5HA
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Options may be exercised by an Eligible Participant, in whole or
in part, at any time during the period commencing from the date
of grant and ending on such date as the Board of Directors of
the Company may determine in granting the option, but in any
event not exceeding ten years from the date of grant, except
that no option may be exercised until the expiry of 12 months
after the date of grant of the options. The subscription price of a
Share payable on the exercise of any option granted under the
2014 Scheme shall be such price as determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company, save that such price shall at least be
the highest of: (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business
day (that is, a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for
the business of dealing in securities); and (iii) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer; or (where applicable) such price as
from time to time adjusted pursuant to the 2014 Scheme.
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ARRUERERE 2 BIRESE :
(48)

2014 F R &1 2] (4B)

AERSBAFANREHBHEEEAAF
BEEERREEREREETHAE
IHEARBERS 2 Sk B D T BB AR AE - 1
EIMABR TS BAERERL A
BEr+F - I EEIRENERER D
BEgRB AT+ 1@ A B BT ] AT - 77
FEAR YK 2014 F 5 213 HH 2 T o B8 N& 4
ANHBRNARBEERARRESTEHR
FMETEBEAANTEZSE  ()RHY
HE: (\EHBEHBIMEARERM
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 2. IR ZARE2RS (48)

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the AT AR EE 2 BIRERTE
Company: (continued) (#&)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) 2014 FEEIR1ER1 2 (48)
The following tables disclose movements of the Company’s TR EAR QG EHE2024F Rk 2023F
share options under 2014 Scheme during the years ended 31 12A31BIEFE2014FFEET 2B
December 2024 and 2023: IREZ BB N -
Number of option shares
BRERGHE
Outstanding Outstanding
at Granted ~ Exercised Lapsed at
Exercise Vesting  Exercisable 1 January during during during 31 December
Category Date of grant price period period 2024 the year the year the year 204
RouE ouE
1B1R 12R31R
L] RHRS iR BRE TEE  HATE ERRE  ER EREKN  HAGR
HiKS
A
Directors of the Company
KLAES
M. Chen Chung Po 28 June 2022 149 1year Note 800,000 - - - 800,000
REdit A0F6ARA 1% liFd
Ms. YuuKwan Yu 28 June 2022 149 1year Note 400,000 - - - 400,000
fkEmRt A2E6R %A 1£ ik
Ms. Yong Jian Hui 28 June 2022 149 1year Note 400,000 - - - 400,000
ERENL ANE6ARA 1£ ik
M. Chen Wei Wu 28 June 2022 149 1year Not 200,000 - - - 200,000
Rt A0E6ARA 1% Mt
Employee of the Company 28une 2022 149 e Note 2910000 - - (00000 2570000
KLARR A2E6RBA 1£ liFd
4710000 - - (0000 4370000
Exercisable at the end of the year 4,370,000
RERTAR
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 149 - - 149 149
METHTRE(ET)
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 2. IRBZARIE2R S (88)

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the AT AESEE 2 ERERE -
Company: (continued) (#8)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) 2014 FEEIR1ER1 2 (48)
The following tables disclose movements of the Company’s TERFEEARD G E E2024F k2023 F
share options under 2014 Scheme during the years ended 31 12A31BIEFE014F 58 BT 2B
December 2024 and 2023: (Continued) REZEER : (B)
Number of option shares
BRERNEE
Qutstanding Qutstanding
a Granted Bxercised Lapsed a
Brercise Vestng ~ Bxercisable 1 January during (uring during 31 December
Category Date of grant price period perod 028 the year the year the year 2028
o RSk
1R1A 124318
£l fHng kB 284 kg RAAR  ERRE  EARR  ERRR HAGR
HeS
BT
Directors of the Company
NS
Mr. Chen Chung Po 28 June 2022 149 1year Note 800,000 - - - 800,000
Rttt RS 1£ Mt
s. Yiu Kivan Yu 28 June 2022 149 1year Note 400,000 - - - 400,000
Rt ANE6ARA 1£ ik
Ms. Yong Jian Hui 28 June 2022 149 1year Note 400000 = = = 400000
FRENL ANE6ARA 1£ liFd
Mr. Chen Wei Wu 28June 202 149 1 year Note 200,000 - - - 200,000
Rt AE6ARE 1£ it
Employee of the Company 28June 2022 149 1year Note 2910,000 = = = 2910,000
KhARR AE6F 28R 1£ ik
4710000 - - - 4710000
Exercisable at the end of the year 4710000
REXRAFE
Weighted average exercise price (HKS) 149 - - - 149
METHRE(RT)
Note: The options may be exercised, in whole or in part, at any time during MieE: BRETREHAMEESARGRESE
the period commencing from the date of grant and ending on such E&é\ﬁégﬁ%%ﬁ% /E{?; F‘E%’JE?}}%%E
; N 505 2 AB sk af 2 171 CIE=DN
date Ias the Bolard of D!rectors of the Compapy may determine in S R B IS RIS B B RS L - )
granting the options, but in any event not exceeding ten years from the A5F Ju 2 G A B BB AESE L B ERAE S+ —
date of grant, except that no option may be exercised until the expiry of 8 B (BN202346 B 28H 203246 A
12 months after the date of grant of the options (i.e. 28 June 2023 up 27 B (B35 B)) 2| HA Al Al 1T o

to and inclusive of 27 June 2032).
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)
2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The estimated fair value of the option granted on that date is
approximately HK$3,816,000.

The fair value was calculated using The Black-Scholes pricing
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

32. IRMAZ A MIEZXR 5 ()

ARBL\EREHE 2 BT -
(#8)

2014 EB IR 1EL12) (48)
EREERERZBBENGEATAARELY
/53,816,000 7T

2 5018 T5 bR 1 52 — 47 B 7 2 R R
o ZERAZ BABBMT

2022

2022 &

Weighted average share price ke R(E HK$1.3178 7T
Exercise price 1IEE HK$1.4978 7T
Expected volatility TE R 0@ 60.83%
Expected life T8 HAF HA 10 years
Risk-free rate £ 3 b ) 2 3.08%
Expected dividend vield TEERRR B e X 0%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 10
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised share option expense of approximately
HK$1,861,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2024: Nil)
in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The Group has transferred approximately HK$275,000 from
share based compensation reserve to retained earnings in
relation to the lapse of share options during the year ended 31
December 2024.

TR TS G P AR RS (AR
104 2 3B (R BB 2 » 5L IR 2 A 28
FHERERELAEEIRTTHR
AT RAT A 0 B E T R
B -

AEERARBREZERERRES
2023F 12 A31BIEFE 2 BREMRAS
#741,861,000/8 7 (2024 4 : #) °

HE2024F12A31BIEFE  AEH
T it B A e 25 Ak Eh DA IR AD 18 o 1 o 3
#9275,000 B TTEREBAF ©
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

2022 Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a Shareholders’ resolution passed
on 19 December 2022 for the purposes and objectives of
recognising and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to the Group by granting share options to them as
incentives or rewards thereto in orders to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group. The eligible
participants include any executive, employee, director (including
non-executive director and independent non-executive director)
of the Company or any subsidiaries. The 2022 Scheme will
expire on 17 December 2032. Under the 2022 Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible
participants to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29
December 2022 and the Company'’s circular dated 1 December
2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there are no share
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
2022 Scheme. The vesting period of 2022 Scheme is 12 months
from the date of grant of the share option.

On 11 July 20283, 90,000 share options were granted by
the Company to three eligible employees of the Group (the
“Grantees of 2022 Scheme”) under the 2022 Scheme. The
share options entitle the Grantees to subscribe for a total of
90,000 new shares with a nominal value of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company. The vesting period of 2022
Scheme is 12 months from the date of grant of share option.
The details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated
11 July 2023.
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32. LR XA RMIEZR 5 (1)

ARRUERERE 2 BIRESE :
(48)

2022 FFERfE A2

RR R E MRS ([20225F 51 8])) 1R
BR2022F 12 A19H BB 2 IR R
ETYURP ENNEREEBRAEE
B2 EERHBREERER I ER -
N hRABEANEEEL 2 E
Bl MBBESEAEAEE  BEEE
FBERBH SERL2EEBRBEARAT
SEMMB AR ZEMITHRAS - EE
EEZ(PEIFNTEZRBILIFENTE
%) 02022 F 5T & 1A 2032F 12 517
BIEm o RIE2022F 518 - ARAFIESE
ENRAEERSHEERDERE R
BARARRG - FHBEHREARGAHA
2022F 12 H29 R 2 A& AR Al A B
2022 F 12 A1 B 28K °

HE2022F12A31HIEFE  WER
2022 FETEIE BRI B A ARITE 2 B
2020 FETE| 2 RBHIABRER T
BEIEET 1218 A -

R2023%F7 A11H » KR RRIE20224F
FrEIMASB =246 &% ES ([20224F
sHEIER AL 5 1 90,00010 BB % # - BB
AR #E{F 2022 F T E|E IR A B RBE AR
AIME A R A $£90,000 A% & X BB 0.01 75
TCRIET (D » 2022 F st ISR EE A B
FHEBRER MR 12EA - FEER
RABIBEA2023F7 A11 BHRRE -
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

2022 Share Option Scheme (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
2022 Scheme was 30,000 (2023: 90,000), representing 0.04%
(20283: 0.04%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date. The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options and awards to be granted under the 2022
Scheme, the Share Award Scheme and any other schemes of
the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of the 2022 Scheme, unless
further shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant to
the rules of the 2022 Scheme. Where any grant of options to an
individual eligible participant would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and awards granted
to such eligible participant (excluding any options and awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2022 Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme, respectively) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the relevant class of Shares in issue,
such grant must be separately approved by Shareholders in
general meeting with such eligible participant and his/her close
associates (or associates if the eligible participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. Where any grant of options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director or any of their respective associates would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options
and awards granted (excluding any options and awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the 2022 Scheme and the
Share Award Scheme) to such person in the period of twelve
(12) consecutive months up to and including the date of grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue, such
further grant of options must be approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. In
such circumstances, the Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders in accordance with the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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32. LR XA RMIEZR 5 (1)

ARRUERERE 2 BIRESE :
(48)

2022 F R fERT 2 (4B)
7R2024F12 A31 8 » R iE 2022 F =t &l
EREEDARITE 2 BRER R M E
B /530,000 % (20234 : 90,000 %) + #H
ERAQRIRZ BB BTG 2 0.04%
(20234 : 0.04%) ° EFT{HE 1R 1K 2022 F
FTEl - IR0 ERENET 8 R AN B E R EH A
FTEIE TR B WP A AR AE K 82 Eh i A]
FETHRMDES  &ETESHBAIE
2022 FF T EIE AE BITIRHA10% @ B
FEMRIBE 2022 F 5T &I 2 A EAUS IR —
FHOE  WAERE ERSHEER A
EREeEENEE=aERE BB (2
FZAB) IE12@ABERN tmZzad
BER2HEER T A BIEREE (T
BLIEIR 15 2022 F 71 8 & B (5 22 Eh 51 B Y
& 3R D Bl 5 R B T ) BB IR A I 22 ) T
EETRETRINRMNDE HBRADE
TN 1% - BIE R E AL
REABREAE ESTHE  MZEE
BER2HEERNHEBTHEA (KHEE
WamEABEALT  BIABEA) AR
BEZ - MEEERELBILIERNITE
ERHESENETABHEAREETME
IR SRR EBEREAH(BEZA)
WFEET-(12BAAN HRABEAL
BEMFAEEREREZED (TRERE
2022 F 5T &) & J& 10 B2 B FT B 5 R K A
o] B8 AR 4 % 22 ) h 2 31T Roi§ T %
THRMDE EXBBEEHTRHA0.1% -
AIEBE — PR EBRERRE ETH
Bl RN IR RS EHE - REZIB R
T ARREREBELEMRAUZEBRTE
MR R 2T B3 K o
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

2022 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Options may be exercised by an eligible participant (or in the
case of his/her death, his/her personal representative(s)), in
whole or in part, at any time during the option period except that
no option may be exercised until the expiry of 12 months vesting
period after the date of grant. The price per Share payable
on the exercise of an option as determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company shall at least be the highest of: (i) the
nominal value of the Shares; (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of offer, which shall be a Business Day; and (jii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the date of offer; or (where applicable) such price as
from time to time adjusted pursuant to the 2022 Scheme.

The following tables disclose movements of the Company’s
share options under 2022 Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023:

32. RS XN RE2ZX Z (1)

ADTFUESEHE 2 B8
(%

2022 fF B IR fELT 2 (48)
GEK2HE (HWEER  AIEEENR
BA)AIRBERERBEABRTHEEE
NE R EERESGRELB
B 12ME A B EEmATIT(E - 17758
BENBRAAREESSET ZENER
BHEREZLAETISENRSE ()
EHEEE: RO RELHBH(EAE
X¥H)EBIAEBEERERABRZKT
B RijfxmREZEEL B Ha A EE
XA ARERAR FHK
miE s (AEA) B 152022 F 5+ 8|
AR EEER -

TR EARRD G E £2024 F K 2023 F
12A31 B IEFE2022F 8T 288
PR EE BN -

Number of option shares

BRERGEHE
Qutstanding Outstanding
at Granted Exercised Lapsed at
Exercise Vesting  Exercisable 1 January during during during 31 December
Category Date of grant price period period 2024 the year the year the year 2024
oo HoouE
1R18 128318
EHl RHRS iR f HATE  FARE  EAf EREN  HEAE
HKS
#n
Employees ofthe Company 11 duly 2023 149 Tyear Note 90,000 = = (60,000) 30,000
FR7EE A3ETANA 1£ liFd
Exercisable at the end of the year 30,000
REXTAE

Weighted average exercise price (HKS)

nErshEE(En)
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 2. IR ZARE2RS (48)

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme of the AT AR EE 2 BIRERTE
Company: (continued) (#&)
2022 Share Option Scheme (continued) 2022 FIE IR fE A1 2 (48)
Number of option shares
ERERNSA
Qutstanding Qutstanding
at Granted Bxercised Lapsed a
Exercise Vesting 1 January during during dufng 31 December
Category Date of grant rice period - Exercisable period 2023 the year the year he year 2023
o Ro3E
1518 PERIE
1l fHng fikE £E4 ffkg  RAAR  ERRE EFAAR  ERRR HAGR
HKS
1
Employees of the Company 11uly 208 149 1year Note - 90,000 - - 90,000
FARR ANETAIE 1£ liFd
Exercisable at the end of the year -
REXAAE
Weighted average exercise prcs (HKS) - 149 - - 149

METRE (L)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 10
years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised share option expense of approximately
HK$39,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$36,000) in relation to share options granted by the
Company.

The Group has transferred HK$50,000 from share based
compensation reserve to retained earnings in relation to the
lapse of share options during the year.

Note: Options may be exercised by an eligible participant (or in the case of
his/her death, his/her personal representative(s)), in whole or in part,
at any time during the option period except that no option may be
exercised until the expiry of 12 months vesting period after the date of
grant.
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TRERETIERARRA TR ERRBE
10F 2 BERBEE - EA KB ZEY
FHEREEE ZRERI T EER
M ITERS RITANERRERMEL

AEERARBREZERERRES
2024 F 12 A31 B It FE 2 BRER X
#97%39,0007 7T (2023 £F : 36,0004 7T) ©

FA - AN E T LR B R R A B
EFHER 50,0008 TERERH -

MisE: aEKR2EE (WA FH AEEER
BA)ARBEREREARBRITERE K
BB RERAE - ERBRET SN R L B
128 A =B EmATTE -
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

2022 Share Option Scheme (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, options were
granted on 11 July 2023. The estimated fair value of the option
granted on that date is approximately HK$75,000.

The fair value was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

32. IRMAZ A MIEZXR 5 ()

AREUESERE 2 BIREL S :
(IIE)

2022 fF B IR fELT 2 (48)
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE - B0
2023 F 7 AL BB - ERHER
ERZ B BN EET AR EL A75,0008
ﬁ o

AR ETIAR N BT E EENAG
B ZBAZBABEBNT

2023
20234

Weighted average share price INHEF I RAE
Exercise price THE
Expected volatility TEERR I8
Expected life TE HAF H3
Risk-free rate o [ g ) 2=
Expected dividend yield TEEARR B e

HK$1.42 %8 7T
HK$1.4978 7T
61.92%

10 years F
3.87%

0%

Share Award Scheme

The Company’s Share Award Scheme was adopted pursuant
to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 19 December 2022
for the purposes and objectives of recognising the contribution
and/or future contributions of the Selected Employees to the
growth and development of the Group and giving incentives
thereto in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group, and attracting suitable personnel for
the future development of the Group. The Share Award Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from the Adoption Date. Under the Share Award Scheme, the
Board may, from time to time at their absolute discretion, select
any Selected Employee as a Selected Employee, determine the
number of Awarded Shares to be awarded and inform in writing
the trustee and the Selected Employee(s) of such number of
Awarded Shares and the vesting period and conditions (if any)
accordingly; and such Awarded Shares can be satisfied by (i)
new Shares to be allotted and issued to the trustee upon its
application for the same without exceeding the scheme limit
specified in the Share Award Scheme; or (i) Shares purchased
by the trustee in the open market at its reasonable discretion
and in good faith.
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R 1722 B2
ARAH R B ET EI R R 7L 2022 F 12
A19RBBZRERFER TN - B
MEEEAEHEETREREB AN K
E&ﬁ$%lmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁr
ETHRE UMBEBRERNEE 2
E%@&%@aﬁ WRBIEEAE L
—TSHBAEEZBER - RHOEEF
%Qﬁ%a%@%mimﬁ@&iﬁo
BERGORBTE EFSr T R2E
HiEE AR EREEACETES
#m%%ﬁ@Zﬁ@k@%Eu&ui
AAZTARCETREZEKRNDZ
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

On 23 December 2022, the Board resolved to award
conditionally an aggregate of 2,900,000 new shares of the
company (the “2022 Shares Awards”) to twelve grantees.
For 1,700,000 awarded shares (“Lot 1”) granted to certain
directors and employees of the Group, the vesting date is the
first anniversary date of the date of grant. For the remaining
1,200,000 awarded shares (“Lot 2”), the vesting date is the
first anniversary date of the date on which the independent
shareholders’ approval at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company was obtained. Details were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 December 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 17 January 2023. At an
extraordinary general meeting of the company held on 9
February 2023, the conditional of grant of Lot 2 awarded
shares was approved, The fair value of the awarded shares was
calculated based on the market price of the company’s shares
at the respective grant date. As such, the estimated fair value of
the shares granted are HK$4,460,000.

The Company has allotted 2,900,000 shares to the share pool
maintained by the trustee under the Share Award scheme at nil
consideration.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, shares based

payment of approximately HK$76,000 (2023: HK$4,384,000)
was recognised in the profit or loss respectively.
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32. LR XA RMIEZR 5 (1)

ARRUERERE 2 BIRESE :
(48)

BR17 2B 512 (48)

MN2022% 12 A23H - EE & R=% M
+ =B AR A B GRS EE4 2,900,000
f& A~ a5 ([ 2022 F Bg 4 38
B BEFAEEETESEREEN
1,700,000 2 BB AR ([ M5 -
EEOHARTLESHZEMASTH -5
# T 1,200,000 i% 22 B A% 10 ([EE24L])) M
T REAHARARARBRERERS
FESBYREMERBEMEAFA -
BN AR E BB AE2022F12 A23
Az RAERKXRARIBHA20283F1 417
B2 R2023F2 A9 RITHA
RAGEEHRERS L BHRGEREHE?2
HEEE A (0 B &L E - BEIR OB AR
BENREAATRMN SR LEEA™T
B EEH- - Al ERHBROHOGE
NI {E A 4,460,000 7T °

ARNFEEERTTARERD R
2% 12 /A% {7 5t B 2% 2,900,000 A% A% 15 ©

HE2024F 12831 BIEFE UK
7 X B 49 76,0005 7T (2023 4 ¢
4,384,000 B7T) E N BIR B R ©
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company: (continued)

Share Award Scheme (continued)

The movement of the grant of share awards during the year is as
follows:

32. RS XN RE2ZX Z (1)

ARRUERERE 2 BIRESE :
(48)

RBPZERE (1)
FRARHRODZHESOT

Number of shares award

Outstanding as at 1 January
Granted during the year
Vested during the year

FARH
FREB

Outstanding as at 31 December

M1 A1 B ®RITE

A2 A31 B R1TE -

R30S 4=|
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
1,200,000 1,700,000
- 1,200,000
(1,200,000) (1,700,000)
1,200,000

Details of the terms and conditions of the grant of share awards
under the Award Scheme are as follows:

RS IR 15 SR &1 )2 0 R 19 5D 2 13
RAGIFRBMT :

Number of Aggregate Vesting
shares Per share amount conditions
8B =70 M BERY
HK$ HK$’000
BT F#ET
The Award Scheme f& 1 S2 B &t &1
- Lot 1 —£ 14t 1,700,000 1.60 2,720 Note (i) Bt 7E (i)
—Lot2 —FH2Ht 1,200,000 1.45 1,740 Note (ii) B 5% (i)
Total share awards granted B 5 i 3% 15 2ZE) 42 28 2,900,000
Notes: BIaE -

(i) The awarded share granted have been vested in twelve months after
the grant date (i.e. 23 December 2022).

(i)  The awarded share granted have been vested in twelve months after

date of the independent shareholders’ approval at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 9 February 2023.
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33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of Sanxia Wai Chi Opto Technology
(Yichang) Limited (“Sanxia Wai Chi”)
CTIREBEFEXRE(EE)FRQA)

On 22 December 2023, the Group disposed of the entire equity
interests of Sanxia Wai Chi, at a consideration of approximately
HK$7,664,000 (equivalent to RMB6,900,000) to Shaohua
BuFu, which is directly wholly owned by Ms. Luk Fong, who
is the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder and also an
executive director of the Company. The net assets of Sanxia Wai

3. HE—RIMEAT

HEZIKESKXE(EE)ARL
BA((=ZkEE]D

M2023F 12 5228 REE UK B L
7,664,000% 7T (A8 & 7 A R # 6,900,000
L) AMETEREZREL 22K
o RETEAARRRRKIERRER
WTEEEALLTEERER2EHEE - =
FEENEEBBRs2EEFENT ¢

Chi at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$'000
FET
Consideration receivable R AE 7,664
Analysis of assets over which control was lost: $fkERF#E 2 EE DT :
HK$’000
T
Right-of-use assets CREEE 13,666
Trade receivables FE MR K =
Prepayment and other receivables TR FRIE & H Ath R U SR TB 1,208
Bank balance IR1THE R 239
Trade payables FETER K (170)
Other payables H b~ 308 (2,260)
Amount due to group companies BT EE A RFRIA (7,112)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFE 5,571
Loss on disposal of Sanxia Wai Chi HEZREERZER
Consideration receivable (Note a) FEYAAE (B aEa) 7,664
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFRE (5,571)
Amount due from Sanxia Wai Chi (Note b) FE U = e {2 A5k IE (B ek b) (7,112)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal B B BRBR OB R 4,820
Loss on disposal HE 2 EE (199)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of HEZRELEEAZESNEFE
Sanxia Wai Chi
Bank balance disposed of BHERITER (239)
(239)
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DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

Disposal of Sanxia Wai Chi Opto Technology
(Yichang) Limited (“Sanxia Wai Chi”)
(ZIREEXENXE(ES)ER2QE]) (continued)

Notes:

(@  The consideration receivable was fully settled in cash by Shaohua BuFu
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

(b)  The amount due from Sanxia Wai Chi of approximately HK$7,112,000
was waived by the Company in 2023 upon completion of the disposal.

CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN A
SUBSIDAIRY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had the
following change in its ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, upon addition capital
contribution of RMB3,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
of HK3,457,000) being made by an independent investor, the
Group’s equity interest in 2 /1| 24 {5 was diluted from 100% to
60%. The transaction was accounted for as partial disposal of
a subsidiary without loss of control. This resulted in an increase
in non-controlling interests of approximately HK$1,067,000
and a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the parent
of approximately HK$2,390,000. A schedule of the effect of
disposal of interest is in a subsidiary without loss of control is as
follow:

33.

34.

H&— R E 2T ()

HEZIKESKXE(EE)ARL
= ([=ikEE]D (&)

BEE

@@ FEE2024F12A31HILFE  BRKE
CHBETENRSEBEHLS -

() ARAN2023FREETKEREER=
e {2 3R IE 497,112,000 78 7T °

7 — R I 43 ] 2 B
28

HE2024F12A31BIEFE AEH
R—EMEAR AT AEEZHIBUT
BEEh o ML E B T o

HE2024F12A831BILFE — 2B
Y IREEEE ARE3,200,0007T (8
LR #3,457,000/87C) 14 - AEBRE
M £E 4= 7 BZHE 1 100% 58 = 60% °
FERTHLENB R ARMILE
KAEVESIHE o UL S| B AR A 25 12 N 4V
1,067,000 87T X & AR HEH A BIGEE
B #2,390,0008 7T - HE—HEHTEAQ
AR R N Rk KRS 2 R E M R
T

HK$’000

T3

Carrying amount of the interest disposed of LE#ERCREE (1,067)
Consideration received from non-controlling interest B FEIE AR R 2 B 2 (KB 3,457
Difference recognised in capital reserve within equity REZNEAFHEPERZE5E 2,390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING BG.AMETHELEZ2EGZHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TR AEEREZTHEE L AEE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B aEReRIFReEH HRBE2
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for REREMELTY METDHELECZA
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified BREKXBENEAGEHERER
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from HIREMEFAKRERRE °

financing activities.

Finance Government Foreign
Financing costs  New leases grants exchange
111/2024  cash flows incurred  arrangement  recognised  movements  31/12/2024

0245 HERE BE4 B N5

1A1H ik § BHAx  FEEZH BFr#5 HELH  12A31B
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR

Interest payable (included in EfHEGARL

other payables) JEFZE) 55 (51,638) 51,638 - - 14 69
Bank and other borrowings BARAMER 211,400 79,046 - - - (2,842) 347,604
Government grants HIFEH 508 24,960 - - (24,960) (1) 497
Lease liabilties HERE 7,340 (6,177) 398 35,834 - M7 37,812
Amount due to a related party E-2EEALHE - 1,09 - - - (19) 1,080

279,303 47,286 52,036 35,834 (24,960) (2437) 387,062

Finance Government Foreign

Financing costs  New leases grants exchange
1/1/2023  cash flows incured  arrangement  recognised  movements  31/12/2023
008F  @ERT EES E#R X0%

1A1E RE  WBRA HEERH  BAEY  HER 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TiEn TR TR T

Interest payable (included in RIS Gr AL A

other payables) FEfi3E) 56 (37,308) 37,306 - - (1) 55
Bank and other borrowings RITREMIER 444,408 (169,785) - - - (3,229) 271,400
Corporate bond AAlfER 1976 (2,009) 123 - - - -
Government grants B 17,200 21,466 - - (37,913) (245) 508
Lease liabiities HE8E 11,362 (4,551) 419 - - 110 7,340

475,002 (192,275) 37,848 - (37,913) (3359 279,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 36. TEHFRERS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered REE2024F12 A3 BIEFE A&
into a lease agreement in respect of renting a factory building EpHA IREFRBEEIL—BHE
and dormitory premises. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities ZH BRI EMBRERERAEEE
of approximately HK$35,834,000 were recognised at the M EEEX) 35,834,000/ T °

commencement of the leases.

37. OPERATING LEASES 37. 8&EHE
(a) As lessor (a) (EAHBEA
The Group leases out its investment properties under AEBREBELEHELHEHHEREE
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for B KHEHOFSBABRN T —
remaining terms ranging from 1 to 3 years. The lessees do B o A AN EEEENTE
not have an option to purchase the properties at the expiry EREEEREDE -

of the lease periods.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, maturity analysis of R 2024 F K 2023F 12 A31H + &
operating lease payments are as the following: EHENROEHBE>TET
2023
2023 F
HK$000
FHET
Within one year —FR 175 188
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEERF
(BIEEEMS) 39 95
214 283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 38. BIREFITE

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees. The contributions from
each of the employer and employees are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary established in
the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefits
schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits schemes is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

The Group made contributions to the retirement benefits
schemes of approximately HK$29,345,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$29,102,000).

Long service Payment Liabilities

Obligation to long service payments (“LSP”) under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group
has the obligation to pay LSP to employees in Hong Kong
under certain circumstances, subject to a minimum of 5 years
employment period, based on this formula: Last monthly wages
(before termination of employment) X 2/3 X Years shall not
exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to
an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

218

AEERBEEMECEREEZERE
Tt & (MRS ) -FENEER
EREAEGSNESS  BAKENEE
DA o AERBERMERK A 5% [
BEL R W AEBERRE HXK -
BEREESANHKERSEA 1,500
BT

AARERERIHN BT NIEE B
el o B T 4 0 L 3R 5 B SR AR A
BHRE - REAMBARASTENE
FEDLARKEFFBES  AAE
FREES - ARBEHRKEFHED
I — B AERAR BT B A MO o

NEE2024F12A31HIEFE - K
SERRMEREBIFEEENERLY B
29,345,000 7T, (2023 4F : 29,102,000 7
JL) °

REBRBAREE

EB(ERBIKGI)EBET ZREBEL
(IRERHEL]) EML
RIBFES7TE(RFBERD)  ANEBEBEE
EETEATHEEREZNRBRY
© MEXREHERLASTF HEANA:
& —EAMNIE (KILERBAT) x2/3x
FR - RSB 390,000 T ° 25
FERBERERERMGEIALK -

b 4N - 1995 4F i@ i ) CG& il 1 R 1 & &
EHEBPID) R A AL BB B ALEE 20T
SHF L REEMIE B ER(H
BEERIKHEE])  NWKEEMNES
2 RHERGS ([1K$HZEHE]) -
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39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
(continued)

Long service Payment Liabilities (continued)

Obligation to long service payments (“LSP”) under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (continued)

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which will
eventually abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment
Ordinance will come into effect prospectively from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance,
the Eligible Offset Amount after the Transition Date can only be
applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no
longer eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transition Date
will be grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date.

The Group’s LSP obligation, taking into consideration the
Offsetting Arrangement, is considered to be insignificant and no
additional provision has been recognised as 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered
into the following significant transactions with related parties
during the year.

(@) Compensation of key management
personnel

Other than the remuneration paid to the directors and
employees of the Group as set out in note 13, who are
considered as the key management personnel of the
Group, the Group did not have any other significant
compensations to key management personnel.

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and key
management personnel of the Group is determined by the
board of directors of the Company having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE 2024512 A31H It FE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 39. FEALTRZ KRR (E)
BALANCES (continued)
(b) Banking facilities and bank and other (b) SRITAE AN SRIT R EH At
borrowings EEN
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain banking MR 20244 K 2023%F 12 A31H ' H
facilities and bank and other borrowings of the Group were BEERARARNRIESTET 2L
guaranteed by Ms. Luk Fong, the ultimate controlling party BROTEEE TRITHE A KR
and the director of the Company, to the following extent: TREMERAT :
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T8 T
Ms. Luk Fong b7 2+ 134,659 461,980
(c) Other related parties transactions and (c) HMEAEA LR Z RER
balance
The following was other related party transaction for the AT B E = 2024 F 20239 12 A
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: STHEFEZHMBEALRS ¢
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
Name of company Relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$’000
YNGR A £2E RXEME T#xT TFAT
Shenzhen City Shaohua BuFu A company wholly ~ Consideration receivable for
Technology Company Limited ~ owned by disposal of 100% equity
(“Shaohua BuFu”) Ms. Luk Fong interest in a subsidiary
RYNTRBETBRBERRAG BEAXLTE2EHAE  (hote 33)
([BBEFE]) /NG HE—RRBARZ
100% % #E < FE YR AB
(M43E33) - 7,664
Note: Shaohua BuFu is wholly owned by Luk Fong, the ultimate Mz : BEIEBASKERRREREAAR
controlling shareholder and executive director of the Company. WITEREARTEZEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 2202451231 HItFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(c) Other related parties transactions and
balance (continued)

The following balances with related parties were
outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

(a) Amount due from a related party

39. HEALR B K& ()

(c) EftEAZEALRE K& ()

BEREEK BEALREBE
mF -

(a) BR—EHEALE

pui

BY
i
Hit

A

\

2

Shaohua BuFu

Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year 2024 2023
FR&E=
KEELEH 2024 £ 2023
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET TEx FHET
7,614 - 7,614

(b) Amount due to a related party

(b) Eff—ZBHEALFE

2024 2023
2024 FF 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FAT
Dongguan Mailao Hardware REMBZASEE
Technology Co., Ltd BRAA 1,080 -

On 22 December 2023, the Company has entered into
the equity interest transfer agreement with Shaohua
BuFu, which is directly wholly owned by the Company’s
ultimate controlling shareholder and executive director,
pursuant to which the Company transferred 100% of
its equity interests in Sanxia Wai Chi Opto Technology
(Yichang) Limited to Shaohua BuFu at the consideration of
approximately RMB6,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,664,000) that shall be payable in cash within 90 days
from the date of the equity interest transfer agreement.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount
due from the aforesaid related party has been fully settled.

Dongguan Mailao Hardware Technology Co., Ltd is the
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group.
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R2023F 12 A228 » A A &
BETE (AADARRIERKE
RWTEETEE2ERA) YR
EEERE B AQRMAA
ETEEEEN=-—REENLE (B
E) AR AFZ100%K#E KRB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. B DR 215
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: KATRIMBARIMEFEAT :
Place of Issued and fully Percentage of equity
incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/ interest/voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment ~ operation registered capital  Form of legal entity attributable to the Company Principal activities
it/ BRTRARRE/
KEATEE RUIE gEILY ifEx  EARERA ADFRIRE RREAAM IERE
Direct Indirect
Ef i
2024 2023 2024 2023
N24% WPk 2045 WKL
Winarider Technology Company The BV Hong Kong Ordnary shares ~ Company with imted ~~ 100% ~ 100% - - Investment holding
Limied ERAEE AR USSI00  liabilty REER
HEkoEr  ARAT
Techwide Management Company ~ The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with mited - - 100%  100%  Investment holding
Limied iERLEE AR US$100 by REER
EpRioET  BRAR
Wai Chi Electronic Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong Qrdinery shares  Company with mited - - 100%  100%  Investment holding
Menagement Company Limted &% B HK$100,000 liblty RERR
BEETHRERARLA ERRI0000ET  BRAH
Ecosquare Energy Company Limited ~ The BV Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Gompany with fmited - - 100%  100%  Investment holding
ZERAEE AR USS100  liabty REER
ERR0ET  ARAT
Wai Chi Energy Senvices Company ~ The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with lmited 3 - 100%  100%  Investment holding
Limied iERAEE AR HKS100000  libilty REER
EFmeREERAR £@kioo00ET  ARAAE
Alled Solution Company Limited The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares ~ Gompany with fmited 3 - 100%  100%  Investment holding
ABRaBE AR USS00 by RERR
EAR0ET  BRAR
Wai Chi Group (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Gompany with mited - - 100%  100% Investment holding
EEEEERAT 30 Bk HK§135,100,000 Tty REER
BBk ARAA
135,100,000/ 70
Wai Chi Opto Technology Limfted ~Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares - Company with limited = - 100%  100% Tradingof LED
EEXEARAT B 36 HK$62,380,000 liablty backight and
3k ARAA lihting products
62,380,000 %70 and semiconductor
memory chips
BELEDA R RAE
nRHERRED
il
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. B D B 2515 (48)

(continued)
Place of Issued and fully Percentage of equity
incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/ interest/voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment ~ operation registered capital  Form of legal entity attributable to the Company Principal activities
i/ BRTRYERE/
HEARAH RuMH gEY itfEs  EARERA ADTRIRE RREAAM TERE
Dirgct Indirect
B 3
2024 EEVVRE 2024 A
A% WSES 04T WK
EFLE(F)ERLA Noteg  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imted - - 100%  100%  Menufacture and sde of
(Rt&a) hE G RMBY7,128,000 liablty LED backight and
iftar  BRAA lighting products
ARH97,1280007C and sourcing
business
SERHELD
BErREREDR
REXK
FITESRESRAN Noteb)  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imted - - 100%  100%  Menufacture and sale
(Hi3kD) hE il RMB5000000  leblliy of LED ihting
HER BRAT products
ARE5,0000007 SERHELD
RRER
ZMETETERAA Notet)  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imted - - 100%  100%  Menufacture and sale of
GiED) hE hE RVB144,113,349 liblty LED backlght and
HEx  BRAA lihting products
NRE 1441334070 HERHELEDER.
RERER
EERZREEB(EMERAT  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Inactie
(Note o) Fi5tb) I i USS3720000 bl gEex
ifi&x  ARAA
3720000%T
ENEEEERLERAF The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imted - 60%  100%  Manufactureand sde
(EMHEE Notesband)  #E HE RMBL, 838,290 liblty of LED backight
([EMEE (HiEbRo) iher  ARAA products
AR 4,838,207 RERHELED
ALER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 E Z2024F12 A31H IFFE

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

40. MY B 2 B 2 5% 17 (4])

(continued)
Place of Issued and fully Percentage of equity
incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/ interest/voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment ~ operation registered capital  Form of legal entity attributable to the Company Principal activities
it/ BRTRYERE/
HEARAH RUBE gEY itfEs  EARERA ADFRIRE RREAAM TERK
Dirgct Indirect
3
2024 2023 2024 2023
A% WSES 04T WK
IMESHEEARDE Noteb)  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imted - - % 7% Manuactuing
(Rzb) hE i RVIB5,000,000 liablty and trading of
iftax  BRAA semiconductor
ARE5,000,0007 memary chips
LEREETEE
RELR
Maxtone Electronics Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Company with mited - 100%  100%  Property holding
EERETARLA B B HKH100  labiiy UEZ
Rk ARAA
1007
MTESRENERHARLE  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company vith Imited ~~ 100% N/A - NA  Investment holding
(Note b) (FifzE D) hE g RVIB5,000,000 Tiabity TR TER  REER
AMERARE  ARAT
5,000,0007C
REHETHERRDA Noleb)  ThePRC The PRC Registered capil ~ Company withimted ~~ 51% N/A - NA  Investment holding
(Rzo) e hE RMB1,660,000 liabilty NER TER  REER
iMERARE  ARLA
1,660,000

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during

BENBARRZEFERTEMNES

the years. B e

Notes: B EE

(@)  The entity is wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC. @ ZEBANPBIKZIMIINGEERZE-

(o)  These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC. b) ZEEBARTBKIMNEGRAT -

() On 31 May 2024, an independent third party injected capital of ) M2024F5A31H ' —ZBIULFE=HTE

AR 3,200,000 7T (F8& R 47 3,457,000 7
TC) AR R BN 245 2 40% RR 4 -

RMB3,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,457,000) to acquire
40% equity interest in Z /N £415 .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 531 H IFF[E

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

41, AT B IR &R

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$’000
B &E FExT FETT
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REHBERARZ®’E 135,000 135,000
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENFIE - Ze Kk
receivables H i pE W IE 1,592 1,592
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE W B B8 A R SRIE @) 190,000 190,023
Bank balances and cash RITEHRMES 1,348 1,351
192,940 192,966
Current liability nEaE
Other payables and accruals Hi N RIENTEIRE A 681 666
Net current assets RENBEFE 192,259 192,300
Total assets less current liabilities & EiR A& E 327,259 327,300
Net assets BERE 327,259 327,300
Capital and reserves BARR#E
Share capital A& s 2,197 2,197
Reserves s (b) 325,062 325,103
Total equity RS 327,259 327,300
Notes: B aE

(@  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F12 431 H I FfE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(®)

226

Movements in reserves

As at 1 January 2023

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

Issue shares to share awards
scheme

Vested shares for share options
(note 32)

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments
(note 32)

As at 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Vested shares for share award
(note 32)

Forfeiture of share options
(note 32)

Equity settled share-based
transactions (note 32)

As at 31 December 2024

20231 A1H
FEBEBREZERATAE

FE R a8 TR

REREREZRG
(BFzE32)

RN EE AR T
308 (£ 32)

M2023F 12 A31B
2024%1H1H
FEFBRZEANELE

SRR D BN R 2 Bk 1D
(BtE32)
S8 W A A (B 5 32)

JARE 25 5 B AR 19 S A+
R 5 (ME32)

R2024%F12 431 H

M. A DT BHARRR (F)

faE ()

b HER

Shares held
Share based for the share
compensation EVEIGE Share Accumulated
reserve reserve premium losses
AR
LARG 4% REEE
fHERE "EZRG K&3iEE RBR At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#n T T FTi&n TR
1,955 - 331,977 (8,383) 325,549
- - - (6,698) (6,698)
- (29) - - (29
(2,720) 17 2,703 - -
6,281 - - - 6,281
5,516 (12) 334,680 (15,081) 325,103
- - - 169 169
(12) 12 - - -
(325) - - - (325)
115 - - - 115
5,294 - 334,680 (14,912) 325,062
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

MR E

Percentage
interest of
Property the Group Floor Area Usage as at 31 December 2024
AEBEILFES
/ES 2B & R2024F12A31B 2R
(sq.ft)
(FHR)
An Industrial complex located in Sanxu 100% 1,807,709  Occupied by the Group for industrial
Village and Meihua Village, Luoyang use
Town, Boluo County, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
— (AR BER & BN TIEEFRERS R REBEREIERR
=N RIBEN 2 TEE
An industrial premises located at Unit A, 100% 8,500  Occupied by the Group for use of
6/F., Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, warehouse and office
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
—(EGIRE R N BEEBIE A7 61-63 5% AEBEREREERPAE
Tl KECIEAZTN T EEAT
An industrial premises located at Unit B & C, 100% 6,299 Leased to an independent third party
6/F., Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, for use as warehouse
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
— (AR E R BB EET61-635% BTE=ZAERIERE
FEARE6EBRCENTEEM
An industrial premises located at Factory 100% 5,340 Leased to an independent third party

Unit C on 2/F., King Yip Factory Building,
No. 59 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

— A A BN BB ER SR A AT 59 5%
METEABE2ECERN T XK

for use as warehouse

BYFE=hHERERE
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFMBEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 F 2022 2021 2020 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FEx FET AT FET
Revenue EEE 2,372,277 1,985,768 2,216,352 1,922,595 1,395,888
Cost of sales HERA (2,026,171) (1,717,167) (1,953,661) (1,640,398) (1,197,471)
Gross profit ES | 346,106 268,601 262,691 282,197 198,417
Operating expenses &R (292,572) (229,706) (203,518) (230,324) (167,716)
Profit before tax ER TR 54,534 38,895 59,173 51,873 30,701
Income tax (expenses) credit TR (A K% (7,577) (2,164) (377) 69 329
Profit for the year FEFE 46,957 36,731 58,796 51,942 31,030
Earnings per share BRE7
Basic (HK$) B (AT 0.212 0.168 0.276 0.237 0.143
Diluted (HK$) ®E(ET) 0.212 0.166 0.276 0.237 0.143
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Non-current assets EREEE 402,662 419,283 581,981 647,695 557,002
Current assets HHEE 2,353,829 1,979,440 2,140,806 1,783,944 1,475,013
Current liabilities mEEE (1,828,378) (1,526,446) (1,871,803) (1,580,287) (1,244,054)
Total assets less current BEERTBAE
liabilities 928,113 872,277 850,984 851,352 787,961
Non-current liabilities FnBEE (31,552) (4,079 (24,583) (31,302) (36,094)
Net assets BEEE 896,561 868,204 826,401 820,050 751,867
Capital and reserves BARMGE
Share capital fie 2,197 2,197 2,168 2,168 2,168
Reserves [ 891,174 864,320 823,119 816,313 747,687
Equity attributable to owners of AR T)HH AEIEER
the Company 893,371 866,519 825,287 818,481 749,855
Non-controlling interests JErE Rt R 3,190 1,685 1,114 1,569 2,012
Total equity Mg 896,561 868,204 826,401 820,050 751,867
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